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“ IN THIS CHANGING WORLD, 
THE AGE OF AN INSTITUTION 
IS SOMETHING TO BOAST OF.  
GREAT AGE IS IN ITSELF 
EVIDENCE OF CERTAIN VIRTUES. 
FOR AN INSTITUTION TO LIVE LONG 
IT MUST OF NECESSITY 
SERVE SOME USEFUL PURPOSE.”

 WRITTEN BY H.O. HIRT ON APRIL 20, 1930,  
THE COMPANY’S FIFTH ANNIVERSARY.
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS
Throughout my life and career, I’ve been fortunate to have the guidance of a few key people I 
consider mentors. People like my uncle, who worked as an accountant and was a father figure 
to me and my siblings after my father passed. His advice about finding my passion shaped my 
career and led me to where I am today.

Another mentor was a close family friend who was also 
a father figure to me. He taught me many valuable life 
lessons—whether he realized it or not—over pots of 
sauce and meatballs at our annual parish festival. Their 
advice, and example, helped me through some of the 
hardest decisions I’ve had to make, and their words are 
in the back of my mind every day.

Sadly, I lost both of these amazing men in 2024. But the 
wisdom they imparted in word and deed has taken on 
even greater meaning and importance. I now strive to 
carry on their legacies.

In a similar way, all of us at ERIE share another great 
mentor: our co-founder, H.O. Hirt. As we celebrate our 
100th year in business, it’s worth reflecting on the legacy 
that has underscored our perseverance and success.

H.O.’s values, like mine, were learned at the family 
table. They have guided us through some of the 
company’s hardest times and helped us achieve our 
greatest strides. His words have shaped ERIE into the 
company it became a century ago and they continue 
to shape us today. Never lose the human touch. Insist 
upon thinking. Strive to be above all in service. Those 
teachings and others continue to guide our philosophy 
on business and how we set ourselves apart.

We celebrate our 100th anniversary facing a very 
different and dynamic world than it was in 1925. We feel 
a sense of urgency to respond to the many challenges 
and changes in front of us. And we recognize the 
importance of keeping the values, lessons and wisdom 
imparted to us a century ago.

Now, it’s up to us to carry on the legacy.

TIM NECASTRO 
PRESIDENT AND CEO
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FINDING A 
BALANCE
The past year was punctuated by significant economic 
pressures and challenges. These complexities require 
us to take very strategic and deliberate actions in how 
we’re running our business.

Your company, Erie Indemnity, continued to experience 
strong operating performance driven by growth for 
Erie Insurance Exchange.

The hard market of the past few years has led to 
substantial growth in premium and policies in force. 
The nearly one million new business policies written 
in 2024 and continued strong customer retention of 
90.4 percent at year-end helped us reach a significant 
milestone of seven million policies in force.

This was achieved even with significant rate increases 
taken to counter both the continued pressures of 
inflation and increased weather activity. It is no doubt 
a testament to the unique value proposition we offer 
and the Agents and Employees who bring our service 
commitment to life.

Of course, with that growth comes the need to balance 
our risks and exposures. Environmental and economic 
pressures have continued to affect the Exchange’s 
combined ratio, which stood at 110.4 percent at year-
end. This is an improvement over 2023, when we ended 
the year at 119.1 percent, but we still remain focused on 
bringing it down to a more profitable level.

Several measures are being taken to improve 
profitability, including expense reductions, tightened 
underwriting, and targeted slowdowns in growth. The 
impacts the rate increases will have on profitability of 
the Exchange are also still being realized, because we 
write policies almost exclusively with annual terms.

Despite the challenges, we remain confident in the 
strength of our financial position, thanks to our unique 
value proposition and steady business philosophy. This 
balanced approach to how we do business has been 
standard practice for us since our company’s founding. 
It’s worked for us for a century, and I’m confident it will 
continue to serve us well as we navigate the market 
challenges of today.

1925
Erie Insurance Exchange begins operations 
in Erie, Pennsylvania, on April 20. H.O. Hirt 
is Secretary and General Manager. O.G. 
Crawford is Vice President. H.O.’s 1920 
Dodge is insured on the new company’s 
11th policy, effective on ERIE’s first day of 
business. The annual auto premium is $34.

1928
   A one-person office opens in 
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania.

1931
   The first issue of The Bulletin publishes. This 
weekly communication with Agents has appeared 
continually since and is one of longest-running 
company publications in the country.

1934
   ERIE develops the “Super Standard Auto Policy,” 
offering many extra coverages at no additional cost. 
Some of the “Xtra features,” such as “Drive Other Car” 
coverage, later become standard in auto policies.

1940
   Fire insurance is introduced, helping independent 
Agents to rely more fully on Erie Insurance 
products for their customers’ needs.

1941
   A profit-sharing bonus is given to Employees 
for the first time. Although not guaranteed, 
the bonus has been approved by the 
Board of Directors each year since.

1943
   Comprehensive Personal Liability coverage 
is added to the product line.

1946
   One million dollars in annual premium is 
collected. It takes only two more years to 
reach $2 million in annual premium.

H.O. Hirt O.G. Crawford
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FORGING 
OUR FUTURE
The complexities we’re facing, however, aren’t just 
economic. Technology continues to evolve, become 
more sophisticated, and demand more of our 
resources and attention.

The modernization of our technology platforms and 
processes has been a key initiative for the past two 
years. It’s critical to our ability to offer robust services 
and competitive products and to better leverage our 
data. In addition, it’s a key part of future geographic 
expansion.

This work is also tied directly to another critical 
priority—expense management. It eliminates many 
of the inefficiencies and delays created by the older 
technology systems.

I’m pleased to share that at the end of 2024, we had 
successfully migrated a significant number of our 
legacy technology to modern platforms. We still have 
a lot of work ahead to continue these migrations and 
sunset legacy platforms, but we’re pleased with our 
progress to date.

We’ve also been making continued enhancements to 
our products, services and related digital capabilities. A 
few highlights include:

  Business Auto 2.0, ERIE’s newly refreshed business 
auto product. It offers an enhanced quoting 
and processing experience and the ability to 
have vehicles from multiple states on one policy. 
After being successfully piloted in Indiana, and 
incorporating recommended improvements from 
stakeholders, a full rollout is continuing in the first half 
of 2025.

  The expansion of Workers’ Compensation 
coverage to adjacent states. Commercial Customers 
domiciled in states within ERIE’s footprint can now 
include employees who work primarily in Delaware 
and Vermont on their ERIE Workers’ Comp policy. 
Additional states are expected to be added soon. 
This follows a successful refresh of the Workers’ 
Compensation platform in 2023.

  Ongoing enhancements to Online Account. This 
platform gives Customers the ability to access 
account information, pay bills and track claims. As a 
result, call center staff and Agents can spend time on 
more complex and meaningful interactions. Recent 
updates include a photo appraisal tool and list of 
established Direct Repair Program shops within 
Online Account. This helps Agents and Customers 
determine the appropriate method of inspection 
during their auto claim and takes days out of the 
process. Another new capability can automatically 
enroll Customers in our Online Account platform  
at the point of sale, boosting adoption of this 
important tool.

2024
   In honor of our centennial in 2025, a television commercial 
was produced by ERIE’s in-house Media Services team. The 
spot, titled “A Century of Progress,” highlights how ERIE has 
been there for our Policyholders over 10 decades of change.
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1953
   ERIE expands outside of Pennsylvania, offering 
coverage in Maryland and the District of Columbia.

1955
   ERIE experiences a tremendous leap in net 
premium, from just over $750,000 in 1945 to $7.7 
million in 1955. That figure would double to $14.5 
million by 1960.

 1962
   The company’s first computer is 
purchased at a cost of $70,000.

1967
   The first Erie Family Life Insurance Company policy 
is issued on September 1. At year’s end, ERIE has 
written nearly $5 million in life insurance.

1968
   Maryland law prompts ERIE’s first written 
agency contracts. Prior to this, Agents 
agreed to sell policies with a handshake.

1975
The 50th anniversary ends with more 
than $108 million in net premium and $10 
million in dividends for just over 800,000 
Policyholders. H.O.’s 50th “Sellabration” 
extended the usual one-week sales 
contest to two weeks. More than $7,000 
in prizes and bonuses were awarded to 
Agents for hitting sales goals.

1976
   H.O. Hirt retires as President and Chief Executive 
Officer, passing the torch to his son F.W. “Bill” 
Hirt. H.O.’s retirement note would become a 
guidepost for the company, imploring Employees 
and Agents to “Never Lose the Human Touch.” 
He passed away in 1982 at the age of 95.

1982
   Erie Family Life, now 15 years old, reaches 
the $1 billion policies in force mark.

Keeping up with the demands of today’s changing 
technologies and markets is a massive undertaking. 
To manage this, we have a strategic structure in place, 
managed by our Enterprise Office. It prioritizes projects 
and initiatives that have the highest impact, tracks 
progress, and measures outcomes.

We also continue to embrace agile ways of working as 
an organization. This transformation is helping us work 
faster, improve our speed to market and deliver the 
capabilities demanded by today’s marketplace.

As we deliver these new technologies and 
enhancements, we’re partnering closely with our 
Agent task forces to gather feedback on the Agent 
and Customer experience. This allows us to make 
iterative adjustments to further refine and improve 
their experience without delaying our delivery time. 
The collaboration with Agents is in line with our 
commitment to keeping our independent agent model 
at the center of everything we do.

EXPLORING A  
NEW FRONTIER
While we work to keep pace with new and emerging 
technologies, we’re also looking ahead to what’s next. 
Just a few years ago, artificial intelligence, or AI, was the 
next big thing around the corner. Now, it’s here—and it’s 
moving quickly.

AI has actually been around for some time, in machine 
learning and predictive analytics, but it has evolved 
significantly in the past one to two years. AI has the 
potential to change the way insurance companies 
operate in key areas of our value chain. It’s critical that 
we understand its potential impacts.

We’ve recently set up an AI Center of Excellence 
dedicated to exploring potential AI use cases across 
the enterprise. One example of a recent use case-
turned-success story solved an inefficient business 
process. Customer numbering was historically a manual 
process, but one that needs to be done quickly. ERIE’s 
unprecedented growth created a daunting backlog 
for the small customer processing team. This led to 
inconsistent Customer experiences and Employee 
burnout.
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After four years of navigating a new era of virtual 
work brought on by the pandemic, last January we 
formalized an approach to bring Employees to the 
office more often and with greater consistency. Hybrid 
Employees at ERIE, who make up about 55 percent of 
our workforce, were given a bank of 52 remote days 
to use throughout the year. On days they are not using 
a remote bank day, Employees work on-site in our 
offices.

This unconventional, and some might say innovative, 
approach to hybrid work has been working very well 
for us. It has re-established the office vibrancy and 
opportunities for relationship-building that were 
missing during the pandemic. At the same time, it gives 
Employees the flexibility to foster healthy work-life 
balance. This flexibility surfaced as a benefit most 
valued by our Employees in a continuous listening 
strategy implemented last year. Through quarterly 
pulse surveys and listening sessions, we identified 
areas for improvement while creating greater trust and 
transparency around workforce–planning decisions.

Employees value the peace of mind offered by ERIE’s 
history of no layoffs, the emphasis on learning and 
development, and knowing their work is meaningful. 
Conversely, many shared that they would like to 
see improved communication between leaders and 
Employees and to have a better understanding of how 
they contribute to ERIE’s overall strategy.

We’ll continue to monitor Employee sentiment 
in the year ahead through additional surveys and 
other feedback mechanisms, and find ways to make 
improvements to our Employee experience and keep 
our workforce engaged.

Through a partnership with Roots Automation, a 
company that uses AI to automate manual insurance 
processes, an advanced AI model was created. Within 
three months, it was able to reduce the average 
turnaround time from up to 90 days to nearly zero. This 
increase in efficiency now allows customer numbering 
team members to focus on more complex tasks.

This example is just the beginning of what’s sure 
to come in this new frontier of technology. AI gives 
us an opportunity to solve business problems and 
inefficiencies, reduce expenses and grow our Employee 
headcount more strategically. However, we’re taking 
a measured approach to ensure we’re harnessing the 
power of AI responsibly and in the best interest of ERIE 
and our stakeholders. Most importantly, we’re exploring 
how to use it in a way that enhances our ability to 
provide the human touch, rather than replacing it.

ENGAGING 
OUR PEOPLE
We’re working to find a balance between the digital 
lives we now lead and the human touch that makes 
ERIE what it is. It’s key to our success in a competitive 
marketplace. This same approach applies to our 
workforce and how we continue to attract and retain 
top talent.

2024
   Hurricane Helene devastated parts of North Carolina, Tennessee 
and Virginia in September. The storm, considered the costliest in 
U.S. history, generated nearly 12,500 ERIE claims with total incurred 
losses of close to $170 million.
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CARRYING ON 
THE LEGACY
ERIE’s 100th anniversary is a significant milestone—but 
is much more than a date reached on the calendar. It’s 
an opportunity to celebrate what’s led to the longevity 
of this institution while exploring what we need to do 
to move forward.

When I reflect on all that we’ve accomplished over the 
past year, I also think of the many ways I’ve seen H.O.’s 
legacy brought to life.

I saw Employees choosing to do the right thing by 
donating more than $30,000, matched by ERIE, to 
Hurricane Helene relief funds, and in the hundreds of 
community service projects they completed this year.

I saw leaders challenge themselves to grow and to 
develop their teams while attending our first-ever 
Intentional Leader conference in November, where they 
honed skills like communication and accountability.

I saw Agents embracing ERIE’s pioneering spirit as 
they worked with us to launch new product and service 
capabilities, while continuing to uphold our Above all in 
Service promise to our Customers.

So even as we face significant challenges, many 
beyond our control, I have confidence. That’s because 
we have something few others do: A commitment to 
values and principles, a century strong, that will guide 
us through the toughest times and help us continue to 
achieve the greatest successes.

Thank you for entrusting us to carry out that legacy in 
our last century and in the one ahead.

TIM NECASTRO 
PRESIDENT AND CEO

1985
An F4 tornado strikes Albion and 
Centerville, Pennsylvania, 25 miles from 
the Home Office. At the time, it was ERIE’s 
costliest claims event to date at $20 million.

1993
   Erie Indemnity Company stock becomes 
available to the public. Two years later, it is 
listed with NASDAQ using the symbol ERIE.

1996
   The erieinsurance.com website debuts.

2003
   ERIE debuts on the Fortune 500® list at #454.

2010
   Adding the ERIE Rate Lock℠ feature allows 
Customers to pay the same auto premium 
year after year—even if there is a claim—unless 
certain changes are made to the policy.

2015
   The Technical Learning Center, a 52,600-square-
foot training center for auto and property claims, 
opens at the Home Office.

   Erie Insurance Exchange reaches 5 million policies 
in force.

2020
   COVID-19 assistance is offered in the form 
of $200 million in Policyholder dividends, 
$200 million in rate reductions and additional 
financial support for nonprofit organizations 
providing essential health services.

2022
   The venture capital fund Erie Strategic 
Ventures is created to invest in startups in 
and adjacent to the insurance industry.

2024
   Erie Insurance Exchange reaches nearly $12 
billion in premium and surpasses 7 million 
policies in force as ERIE enters its 100th year.
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2024 HIGHLIGHTS
7.1 MILLION
policies in force.

6,800
Employees across ERIE’s 
footprint. This is compared 
to just over 6,500 in 2023.

33%
year-over-year increase in 
downloads of ERIE’s mobile 
app. Sign-ups of Online Account 
for personal lines also saw a 
significant jump of 25%.

1.3 MILLION
interactions offered by ERIE’s 
Customer Care Operations 
team. This includes more 
than 42,000 chats, a 27 
percent increase over 2023.

391,000
single-use plastic water bottles 
eliminated through ERIE’s 
bottle-filling stations. More 
than 3.2 million bottles have 
been saved since the inception 
of the program in 2017.

$1,000,000
donated to the United Way 
of Erie County to help launch 
the Community Schools 
model at Erie High School.

$900,000
awarded by ERIE to 
24 nonprofits to help 
educational programs 
through Pennsylvania’s 
Educational Improvement 
Tax Credit program.

AWARDS & RECOGNITIONS
A+ (SUPERIOR) RATING
AM Best

RANKED #376
on the Fortune 500,®  
up 38 spots from 2023

RANKED #1
in Auto Insurance, Newsweek 
America’s Best of the Best 2024

BEST AUTO INSURANCE
Kiplinger Readers’ 
Choice Awards

OUTSTANDING BUSINESS 
ENVIRONMENTAL STEWARD
Plant It Forward

NEWSWEEK 
AMERICA’S GREATEST 
WORKPLACES 2024
Workplaces for Diversity, 
Women, and Parents 
and Families

BEST-IN-STATE 
EMPLOYERS 2024
Forbes

2024 BEST AWARD
Association of Talent 
Development

2024 ELITE 50 INTERNSHIPS
Rising Insurance Star Executive

2024 DIVERSITY 
IMPACT AWARDS
Global ERG Network, 
four awards

TOP 100 EMPLOYER
for Workplace Culture 2024, 
American Opportunity Index

2024 BEST EMPLOYER
for Excellence in Health & Well-
being, Business Group on Health

TOP 50 EMPLOYER
for Workplace Health & 
Well-being, American Heart 
Association, Platinum Level
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ERIE’S RELATIONSHIP WITH  
PFEIFFER-BURLEIGH SCHOOL  
IS GOING STRONG AFTER 
ALMOST 40 YEARS.

In 2024, more than 300 ERIE Service Corps volunteers provided 
520 volunteer hours to the school. Here, Senior Marketing 
Specialist Tricia Louis hands out meal bags to students and their 
families to support unmet food needs over the year-end school 
break. Earlier in the year, ERIE Employees led an annual spring 
clean-up, planted trees on the school grounds and volunteered 
for other student enrichment activities.

FINANCIAL RESULTS
INDEMNITY

  Net income of $11.48 per diluted 
Class A share, compared to 
$8.53 in 2023

  Net income of $600 million, 
compared to $446 million in 
2023

  $238 million in dividends paid 
to Shareholders

  Regular quarterly cash dividend 
grew 7.1 percent in payout per 
share over the prior dividend 
rate

  —— From $1.275 to $1.365 
on each Class A share

  —— From $191.25 to $204.75 
on each Class B share

EXCHANGE*
  Direct written premium grew to 
$11.9 billion compared to $10.1 
billion in 2023

  New direct written premium 
of $1.7 billion

  Reported combined ratio of 
110.4 percent compared to 119.1 
percent at the end of 2023

  Policyholder surplus remains 
strong at $9.3 billion

  4.8 percent increase in total 
policies in force

  Strong policy retention at 
90.4 percent

LIFE
  Collected nearly $313 million 
in total life insurance, annuity 
and Medicare Supplement 
premium—a decrease of 8.8 
percent from 2023

* Results for the Exchange include those 
of its wholly-owned property/casualty 
subsidiaries.
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ERIE INDEMNITY COMPANY 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(Dollars in millions except per share data)

FINANCIAL OPERATING DATA 2022 2023 2024

Management fee rate 25% 25% 25%

Operating income $376 $520 $676

Investment income 0.6 29 69

Interest expense and other (income), net 0.4 (12.7) (11.6)

Net income 299 446 600

Return on equity 21.4% 28.7% 32.9%

PER SHARE DATA 2022 2023 2024

Net income per Class A share-diluted $5.71 $8.53 $11.48

Dividends declared per Class A share 4.52 4.845 5.19

Dividends declared per Class B share 678.00 726.75 778.50

FINANCIAL POSITION DATA 2022 2023 2024

Total assets $2,239 $2,472 $2,889

Total equity 1,448 1,663 1,987

Weighted average Class A common and 
equivalent B shares outstanding-diluted 52,297,990 52,299,411 52,306,266

 
RETURN ON EQUITY

2024 | 32.9% 

2023 | 28.7% 

2022 | 21.4% 

NET INCOME PER 
CLASS A SHARE-DILUTED

2024 | $11.48 

2023 | $8.53 

2022 | $5.71 

DIVIDENDS DECLARED 
PER CLASS A SHARE

2024 | $5.19 

2023 | $4.845 

2022 | $4.52 
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DIVIDENDS DECLARED 
PER CLASS A SHARE

2024 | $5.19 

2023 | $4.845 

2022 | $4.52 

ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE
Erie Indemnity Company (Indemnity) is a publicly held Pennsylvania business corporation that 
has been the managing attorney-in-fact for the subscribers (Policyholders) at the Erie Insurance 
Exchange (Exchange) since 1925. The Exchange is a Pennsylvania-domiciled reciprocal insurer 
that writes property and casualty insurance.

Indemnity’s primary function is to provide certain 
services to the Exchange relating to sales, underwriting 
and issuance of policies on behalf of the subscribers at 
the Exchange.

These services are performed in accordance with a 
subscriber’s agreement (a limited power of attorney) 
executed by each subscriber, appointing Indemnity as 
the subscriber’s attorney-in-fact to transact business 
on their behalf and manage the affairs at the Exchange.

The property and casualty and life insurance 
operations are owned by the Exchange, and Indemnity 
functions as the management company. Indemnity 
has several wholly owned subsidiaries who perform 
non-insurance functions. Indemnity, the Exchange, and 
its wholly owned subsidiaries and affiliates operate 
collectively as the “Erie Insurance Group.”

ERIE INSURANCE GROUP 
ORGANIZATIONAL CHART

ERIE INDEMNITY COMPANY ERIE INSURANCE EXCHANGE
(A Reciprocal Exchange)

ERIE INSURANCE 
COMPANY OF NEW YORK

ERIE INSURANCE 
PROPERTY & CASUALTY 

COMPANY

ERIE INSURANCE 
COMPANY

FLAGSHIP CITY 
INSURANCE COMPANY

ERIE FAMILY LIFE 
INSURANCE COMPANY
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CORPORATE DIRECTORY
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
J. RALPH BORNEMAN, JR., 
CIC, CPIA
President, Chief Executive Officer 
and Chairman of the Board, Body-
Borneman Insurance & Financial 
Services, LLC

EUGENE C. CONNELL, 
FCAS, CFA, CPCU
Independent Investor and Advisor, 
Erie, Pa.

SALVATORE CORRENTI, 
CFA, CCM, FLMI
Retired Non-executive Vice Chair 
of the Board of Directors, Conning 
Holdings Corporation

LUANN DATESH, ESQ.
Vice President, General Counsel and 
Corporate Secretary, Olympus 
Energy, LLC

JONATHAN HIRT HAGEN, J.D.
Vice Chairman of the Board, Erie 
Indemnity Company; Chairman of 
the Board, ERIE Affiliated Insurance 
Companies; and Co-Trustee, H.O. 
Hirt Trusts

THOMAS B. HAGEN
Chairman of the Board, Erie 
Indemnity Company and Chairman, 
Custom Group Industries

C. SCOTT HARTZ, CPA
Director, EMMA Health Technologies 
and Managing Director, INRange 
Investor Group, LLC

BRIAN A. HUDSON, SR., 
CPA, CGMA, CTP
Retired Executive Director and Chief 
Executive Officer, Pennsylvania 
Housing Finance Agency

GEORGE R. LUCORE, AAM, 
AIM, AIT, CIC, CPCU, LUTCF
Managing Director, PAFLA 
Properties, LLC

THOMAS W. PALMER, ESQ.
Of counsel to the law firm Marshall & 
Melhorn, LLC

ELIZABETH HIRT VORSHECK
Co-Trustee, H.O. Hirt Trusts

ERIE INDEMNITY COMPANY 
2024 STANDING COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD

NAME AUDIT CHARITABLE 
GIVING EXECUTIVE

EXECUTIVE 
COMPENSATION 
& DEVELOPMENT

INVESTMENT NOMINATING & 
GOVERNANCE RISK STRATEGY

J. Ralph Borneman, Jr.   Chair

Eugene C. Connell   Chair

Salvatore Correnti   Chair

LuAnn Datesh 

Jonathan Hirt Hagen(1)(3)    Chair

Thomas B. Hagen(2) Chair

C. Scott Hartz 

Brian A. Hudson, Sr. Chair 

George R. Lucore  

Thomas W. Palmer  Chair

Elizabeth Hirt Vorsheck Chair   

(1)  As the non-executive Vice Chairman of the Board, Jonathan Hirt Hagen performs the duties 
(including ex officio membership on committees) of the Chairman of the Board when the 
Chairman of the Board is absent or unable to act or during such time as no individual is serving as 
Chairman of the Board. The Vice Chairman of the Board also performs such other duties as from 
time to time may be assigned by the Board of Directors.

(2)  As the non-executive Chairman of the Board of Directors, Thomas B. Hagen serves as an ex officio, 
non-voting member of the Audit Committee, and a voting member of all other committees.

(3)  The Chairman of the Board has delegated his ex officio status on the Risk Committee to the Vice 
Chairman of the Board.
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EXECUTIVE LEADERSHIP
TIMOTHY G. NECASTRO, 
CPA, CIC
President and Chief 
Executive Officer

BRIAN W. BOLASH, ESQ.
Executive Vice President, 
Secretary and General Counsel

CODY W. COOK, CPCU, FCAS
Executive Vice President, Claims

SEAN D. DUGAN, CPCU, CIC
Executive Vice President, 
Human Resources and 
Corporate Services

JULIE M. PELKOWSKI, CPA
Executive Vice President and 
Chief Financial Officer

SARAH J. SHINE, CPCU, FCAS
Executive Vice President, 
Experience and Customer Service

DOUGLAS E. SMITH, 
CPCU, FCAS, MAAA
Executive Vice President, 
Sales and Products

PARTHASARATHY SRINIVASA
Executive Vice President, 
Information Technology 
and Enterprise Services

SENIOR LEADERSHIP
ANDREW J. ABRAMCZYK, 
AAM, CHDM, ITILF
Senior Vice President, Enterprise 
Infrastructure and Operations, 
Information Technology

JON P. BLOOM, FCAS, 
CPCU, CIC, CPA, CFA
Senior Vice President, 
Personal Products

JEFFREY W. BRINLING
Senior Vice President, 
Corporate Services

MARC CIPRIANI, CIC
Senior Vice President, Underwriting

ANTHONY DABREO, CPCU, CIC
Senior Vice President, Life

DAVID EDGERTON
Senior Vice President, Corporate 
Enablement Technology, 
Information Technology

C. MICHAEL FLETCHER, CIC
Senior Vice President, 
Sales and Marketing

RONALD S. HABURSKY, CFA
Senior Vice President and 
Chief Investment Officer

KEITH E. KENNEDY
Senior Vice President, 
Next Level Innovation

JAMES G. NEALON, III, ESQ.
Senior Vice President, Law

JORIE NOVACEK, CPA, CPCU
Senior Vice President and Controller

MICHAEL E. RAFTIS, CPA
Senior Vice President and 
Corporate Treasurer

DAVID S. RUSSO, 
CPCU, CIC, ARE
Senior Vice President, Commercial 
Products & Services

TIMOTHY M. SHINE
Senior Vice President, Product 
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Senior Vice President, 
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Senior Vice President 
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Leadership as of March 1, 2025.
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F.W. HIRT QUALITY AGENCY 
AWARD WINNERS 2020-2024
The F.W. Hirt Quality Agency Award is the highest honor bestowed on an ERIE agency.  
It recognizes long-term profitability and growth, thorough and responsible underwriting 
practices, and continuing commitment to education.

ALLENTOWN/BETHLEHEM BRANCH
2023 T.W. Cooper Insurance, LLC
2021 Olsommer-Clarke Insurance Group, Inc.

CANTON BRANCH
2021 Bremke Insurance Agency, LLC
2020 Walsh Insurance Group

CHARLOTTE BRANCH
2020 Mark McDuffie Insurance Agency

COLUMBUS BRANCH
2021 Dwyer Insurance Agency
2020 O’Nail-Hartman Insurance Agency

ERIE BRANCH
2022 Straub Insurance Agency
2021 Siegel Insurance, Inc.
2020 Williams Agency

HARRISBURG BRANCH
2024 Douple Agency, Inc.
2023 Fetrow Insurance Associates, LLC
2022 Everoak Insurance Group
2021 Baron Insurance Group, LLC
2020 The Hess Agency

INDIANA BRANCH
2023 Martin Insurance Group
2021 Martin & Martin Insurance Agency

NEW YORK BRANCH
2021 Petruzzi Insurance Agency, LLC
2020 Tanner Insurance Agency

PITTSBURGH BRANCH
2024 Hutton-Blews Insurance, LLC
2021 Lanyi Insurance Agency, LLC
2020 Bruner Insurance Agency

RALEIGH BRANCH
2021 Encore Insurance Advisors

ROANOKE BRANCH
2024 Insurance Center of Harrisonburg, Inc.
2023 C Group Insurance, LLC
2022 Felty Insurance Agency
2020 Willard Insurance Agency

SILVER SPRING BRANCH
2024 CNR Insurance, Inc.
2022 Bradley Atlantic, LLC
2020 Bayside Insurance Associates

TENNESSEE BRANCH
2020 Jones Insurance Service

WEST VIRGINIA BRANCH
2024 Chaney-Buskirk Agency, Inc.
2020 Assure America Corporation
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“ KNOW YOUR STUFF.  
BELIEVE YOUR STUFF. 
DO YOUR STUFF.”

H.O. HIRT’S ADVICE TO EMPLOYEES AND 
AGENTS, WRITTEN JUST A FEW YEARS 
AFTER THE COMPANY’S FOUNDING. 
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

General
Erie Indemnity Company ("Indemnity", "we", "us", "our") is a publicly held Pennsylvania business corporation that has since
its incorporation in 1925 served as the attorney-in-fact for the subscribers (policyholders) at the Erie Insurance Exchange
("Exchange"). The Exchange, which also commenced business in 1925, is a Pennsylvania-domiciled reciprocal insurer that
writes property and casualty insurance. The Exchange has wholly owned property and casualty insurance subsidiaries
including: Erie Insurance Company, Erie Insurance Company of New York, Erie Insurance Property & Casualty Company and
Flagship City Insurance Company, and a wholly owned life insurance company, Erie Family Life Insurance Company ("EFL").

Our primary function as attorney-in-fact is to perform policy issuance and renewal services on behalf of the subscribers at the
Exchange. We also act as attorney-in-fact on behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange with respect to all claims handling and
investment management services, as well as the service provider for all claims handling, life insurance, and investment
management services for the Exchange's insurance subsidiaries, collectively referred to as "administrative services". Acting as
attorney-in-fact in these two capacities is done in accordance with a subscriber's agreement (a limited power of attorney)
executed individually by each subscriber (policyholder), which appoints Indemnity as each subscriber's attorney-in-fact to
transact certain business on their behalf. In accordance with the subscriber’s agreement for acting as attorney-in-fact in these
two capacities, we retain a management fee calculated as a percentage, not to exceed 25%, of the direct and affiliated assumed
premiums written by the Exchange. The management fee rate is set at least annually by our Board of Directors. The process of
setting the management fee rate includes, but is not limited to, the evaluation of current year operating results compared to both
prior year and industry estimated results for both Indemnity and the Exchange, and consideration of several factors for both
entities including, but not limited to: their relative financial strength and capital position; projected revenue, expense and
earnings for the subsequent year; future capital needs; as well as competitive position.

Business Segments
We operate under a single reportable segment: management operations. Financial information about this segment is set forth in
and referenced to Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note 4, Segment Information, of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements” contained within this report. Further discussion of financial results for our single operating
segment is provided in and referenced to Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations” contained within this report.

Services
The policy issuance and renewal services we provide on behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange are related to the sales,
underwriting and issuance of policies. The sales related services we provide include agent compensation and certain sales and
advertising support services. Agent compensation includes scheduled commissions to agents based upon premiums written as
well as incentive compensation, which is earned by achieving targeted measures. Agent compensation comprised
approximately 69% of our 2024 policy issuance and renewal expenses. The underwriting services we provide include
underwriting and policy processing and comprised approximately 9% of our 2024 policy issuance and renewal expenses. The
remaining services we provide include customer service and administrative support. We also provide information technology
services that support all the functions listed above that comprised approximately 9% of our 2024 policy issuance and renewal
expenses. Included in these expenses are allocations of costs for departments that support these policy issuance and renewal
functions.

Consistent with its legal structure as a reciprocal insurer, the Exchange does not have any employees or officers. Therefore, it
enters into contractual relationships by and through the subscribers' attorney-in-fact. Indemnity serves as the attorney-in-fact on
behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange with respect to its administrative services as enumerated in the subscriber's agreement.
The Exchange's insurance subsidiaries also utilize Indemnity for these services in accordance with the service agreements
between each of the subsidiaries and Indemnity. Claims handling services include costs incurred in the claims process,
including the adjustment, investigation, defense, recording and payment functions. Life insurance management services include
costs incurred in the management and processing of life insurance business. Investment management services are related to
investment trading activity, accounting and all other functions attributable to the investment of funds. Included in these
expenses are allocations of costs for departments that support these administrative functions. The subscriber's agreement and
service agreements provide for reimbursement of amounts incurred for these services to Indemnity. Reimbursements are settled
at cost. State insurance regulations require that intercompany service agreements and any material amendments be approved in
advance by the state insurance department.
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Erie Insurance Exchange
As our primary purpose is to manage the affairs at the Exchange for the benefit of the subscribers (policyholders) through the
policy issuance and renewal services and administrative services, the Exchange is our sole customer. Our earnings are largely
generated from management fees based on the direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange. We have no
direct competition in providing these services to the Exchange.

The Exchange generates revenue by insuring preferred and standard risks, with personal lines comprising 71% of the 2024
direct and affiliated assumed written premiums and commercial lines comprising the remaining 29%. The principal personal
lines products are private passenger automobile and homeowners. The principal commercial lines products are commercial
multi-peril, commercial automobile and workers compensation. Historically, due to policy renewal and sales patterns, the
Exchange's direct and affiliated assumed written premiums tend to be greater in the second and third quarters than in the first
and fourth quarters of the calendar year.

The Exchange is represented by independent agencies that serve as its sole distribution channel. In addition to their principal
role as salespersons, the independent agents play a significant role as underwriting and service providers and are an integral part
of the Exchange's success.

Our results of operations are tied to the growth and financial condition of the Exchange. If any events occurred that impaired
the Exchange's ability to grow or sustain its financial condition, including but not limited to reduced financial strength ratings,
disruption in the independent agency relationships, significant catastrophe losses, or products not meeting customer demands,
the Exchange could find it more difficult to retain its existing business and attract new business. A decline in the business of
the Exchange almost certainly could have as a consequence a decline in the total premiums paid and a correspondingly adverse
effect on the amount of the management fees we receive. We also have an exposure to a concentration of credit risk related to
the unsecured receivables due from the Exchange for net management fee and other reimbursements. See Part II, Item 8.
"Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note 16, Concentrations of Credit Risk, of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements" contained within this report. See the risk factors related to our dependency on the growth and financial condition
of the Exchange in Item 1A. "Risk Factors" contained within this report.

Competition
Our primary function as attorney-in-fact is to perform policy issuance and renewal services on behalf of the subscribers at the
Exchange. We also act as attorney-in-fact on behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange, as well as the service provider for the
Exchange's insurance subsidiaries, with respect to all administrative services. There are a limited number of companies that
provide services under a reciprocal insurance exchange structure. We do not directly compete against other such companies,
given we are appointed by the subscribers at the Exchange to provide these services.

The direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange drive our management fee, which is our primary source of
revenue. The property and casualty insurance industry is highly competitive. Property and casualty insurers generally compete
on the basis of customer service, price, consumer recognition, coverages offered, claims handling, financial stability and
geographic coverage. Vigorous competition, particularly in the personal lines automobile and homeowners lines of business,
exists from large, well-capitalized national companies, some of which have broad distribution networks of employed or captive
agents, by smaller regional insurers, and by large companies who market and sell personal lines products directly to consumers.
Innovations by competitors or other market participants may also increase the level of competition in the industry. In addition,
because the insurance products of the Exchange are marketed exclusively through independent insurance agents, the Exchange
faces competition within its appointed agencies based upon ease of doing business, product, price, and service relationships.

Market competition bears directly on the price charged for insurance products and services subject to regulatory limitations.
Industry capital levels can also significantly affect prices charged for coverage. Growth is driven by a company's ability to
provide insurance services and competitive prices while maintaining target profit margins. Growth is a product of a company's
ability to retain existing customers and to attract new customers, as well as movement in the average premium per policy.

The Exchange's business model is designed to provide the advantages of localized marketing and claims servicing with the
economies of scale and low cost of operations from centralized support services. Indemnity, as part of its role managing and
conducting the business and affairs of the Exchange, also carefully selects the independent agencies that represent the
Exchange, which seeks to be the lead insurer with its agents in order to enhance the agency relationship and the likelihood of
receiving the most desirable underwriting opportunities from its agents.

The Exchange’s strategic focus as a reciprocal insurer is to employ a disciplined underwriting philosophy and to leverage its
strong surplus position to generate higher risk adjusted investment returns. The goal is to produce acceptable returns, on a long-
term basis, through careful risk selection, appropriate pricing and superior investment returns. This focus allows the Exchange
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to accomplish its mission of providing as near perfect protection, as near perfect service as is humanly possible at the lowest
possible cost.

See the risk factors related to our dependency on the growth and financial condition of the Exchange in Item 1A. "Risk Factors"
contained within this report for further discussion on competition in the insurance industry.

Human Capital Management
Our human capital management strategy, including initiatives to shape our workforce and workplace, is designed to attract,
retain, and develop talent to ensure we are well positioned for the future. Our partnership with our employees is one of the
cornerstones of our success.

Our employee value proposition includes a culture that focuses on physical, financial, and emotional well-being. We strive to
maintain a positive employee experience through a continuous listening approach that seeks employee feedback through
various mechanisms such as periodic pulse surveys and all-employee forums. We offer competitive pay with a signature and
affordable benefits package including options designed to meet the unique needs of our employees and their families.
Employees have access to an employee assistance plan, mental and emotional well-being resources, emergency child and elder
care providers, adoption assistance, and infertility assistance, among others. In 2024, we were recognized as a Best Employers:
Excellence in Health & Well-being by the Business Group on Health for our commitment to advancing employee well-being
for the 15th consecutive year. We hold a shared responsibility view of retirement planning whereby we provide tools and
resources that employees are expected to use to achieve their retirement goals. We set ourselves apart by offering both a 401(k)
savings plan and a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan. We encourage a work/life balance for all employees and
recognize the need for employee flexibility by offering an allowance of remote work days to use throughout the year.

An engaged workforce is necessary for accomplishing organizational objectives and our portfolio of employee experience
initiatives demonstrates our commitment to provide employees an engaging environment throughout all stages of their careers.
We offer professional development opportunities that are designed to prepare employees for future career growth. Employees
have access to skills enhancement training and programs as well as a generous tuition reimbursement program for higher
education. We also grow and develop our employees by offering talent mobility opportunities such as expanded leadership
experience, job shadowing, cross-training, stretch assignments, and formal career development programs.

Our employees also share in our values to give back and make a positive difference in their communities. We offer a volunteer
program that provides employees with an allotment of paid hours annually to volunteer with eligible nonprofit organizations.
We also offer a matching gifts program for donations to eligible nonprofit organizations.

We recognize the importance of diverse backgrounds and experiences and are committed to providing equal employment
opportunity for all employees. Our recruiting strategy includes access to multiple talent channels. We work to expand our pool
of potential talent to include an array of skills, backgrounds, and experiences. We also offer a Future Focus internship program
that provides opportunities for college students to gain relevant and real-world business experience in the insurance industry as
well as an apprentice program to create a bridge for talent from high schools and community colleges into our workforce. We
are also intentional about leveraging talent from the neuro diverse population, engaging individuals to support various
enterprise initiatives. Additionally, we foster an inclusive workplace through the endorsement of nine affinity networks and
five business resource groups. Affinity networks are employee-driven groups designed to foster greater awareness and a culture
of inclusion. Business resource groups address business issues by aligning cross-functional teams of employees to our business
strategy, providing a broader approach to problem-solving and innovation.
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Workforce Metrics
We used the following human capital metrics as part of managing our business for the years ended December 31:

2024 2023 2022
Workforce size

Full-time (1) 6,715 6,481 5,970
Part-time 26 24 23
Temporary (2) 60 51 45

Turnover (3) 8.2 % 9.0 % 11.2 %
Voluntary 4.8 % 4.8 % 6.9 %
Retirements 2.3 % 2.8 % 3.6 %

Average tenure (4) 10.6 10.4 11.7

(1) Includes approximately 50% of employees who provide claims and life insurance management services exclusively for the Exchange and its insurance
subsidiaries for all periods presented. The Exchange and its insurance subsidiaries reimburse us monthly for the cost of these services.

(2) Temporary employees are hired for short-term work and paid directly by us.
(3) Turnover is calculated using the number of employees who exited, divided by the average headcount of the period and represents the percentage of

employees who left voluntarily or involuntarily, including retirements.
(4) Average tenure is calculated using the total number of years of employment, divided by average headcount of full-time and part-time employees for

the period and represents the average number of years employees have been employed with the organization.

The largest portion of our turnover continues to be voluntary turnover, excluding retirements, and remains lower than industry
benchmark data. We continue to monitor turnover trends to determine the appropriate actions to ensure we are well positioned
for the future.

Government Regulation
Most states have enacted legislation that regulates insurance holding company systems, defined as two or more affiliated
persons, one or more of which is an insurer. Indemnity and the Exchange, and its wholly owned subsidiaries, meet the
definition of an insurance holding company system.

Each insurance company in the holding company system is required to register with the insurance supervisory authority of its
state of domicile and furnish information regarding the operations of companies within the holding company system that may
materially affect the operations, management, or financial condition of the insurers within the system. Pursuant to these laws,
the respective insurance departments may examine us and the Exchange and its wholly owned subsidiaries at any time, and may
require disclosure and/or prior approval of certain transactions with the insurers and us, as an insurance holding company.

All transactions within a holding company system affecting the member insurers of the holding company system must be fair
and reasonable and any charges or fees for services performed must be reasonable. Approval by the applicable insurance
commissioner is required prior to the consummation of transactions affecting the members within a holding company system.

Website Access
Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to those
reports are available free of charge on our website at www.erieinsurance.com as soon as reasonably practicable after such
material is filed electronically with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Additionally, copies of our annual report on
Form 10-K are available free of charge, upon written request, by contacting Investor Relations, Erie Indemnity Company,
100 Erie Insurance Place, Erie, PA 16530, or calling (800) 458-0811.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our business involves various risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to those discussed in this section. The risks and
uncertainties described in the risk factors below, or any additional risk outside of those discussed below, could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating results, cash flows, or liquidity if they were to develop into actual
events. This information should be considered carefully together with the other information contained in this report and in
other reports and materials we file periodically with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Our risks have been divided into the following categories:

Risks related to Erie Insurance Exchange – risks related to our dependence on our relationship with the Exchange associated
with management fees, premium growth, and financial condition, as the Exchange is our sole customer and principal source of
revenue

Operating risks – risks stemming from events or circumstances that directly or indirectly affect our operations, including our
operations as attorney-in-fact for the subscribers at the Exchange

Market, Capital, and Liquidity risks – risks that may impact the values or results of our investment portfolio, ability to meet
financial obligations or covenants, or obtain capital as necessary

Although we have organized risks generally according to these categories in the discussion below, risks may have impacts in
more than one category and are included where the impact is most significant.

Risks related to Erie Insurance Exchange

If the management fee rate retained by Indemnity is reduced or if there is a significant decrease in the amount of direct and
affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange, revenues and profitability could be materially adversely affected.

We are dependent upon management fees we retain, which represent our principal source of revenue. In accordance with the
subscriber's agreement with the subscribers at the Exchange, we may retain up to 25% of all direct and affiliated assumed
premiums written by the Exchange. Therefore, management fee revenue from the Exchange is calculated by multiplying the
management fee rate by the direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange. Accordingly, any reduction in
direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange and/or the management fee rate could have a negative effect on
our revenues and net income.

The management fee rate is set at least annually by our Board of Directors and may not exceed 25% of the direct and affiliated
assumed premiums written by the Exchange. The process of setting the management fee rate includes, but is not limited to, the
evaluation of current year operating results compared to both prior year and industry estimated results for both Indemnity and
the Exchange, and consideration of several factors for both entities including, but not limited to: their relative financial strength
and capital position; projected revenue, expense and earnings for the subsequent year; future capital needs; as well as
competitive position. The evaluation of these factors could result in a reduction to the management fee rate and our revenues
and profitability could be materially adversely affected.

Serving as the attorney-in-fact for subscribers in the reciprocal insurance exchange structure with the Exchange being our sole
customer, the growth of the Exchange could directly affect our operating revenue, which is largely generated from management
fees based on the direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange. If the Exchange's ability to grow or renew
policies or implement rate changes were adversely impacted, the premium revenue of the Exchange could be adversely affected,
which could reduce our management fee revenue. The circumstances or events that might impair the Exchange's ability to
grow include, but are not limited to, the items discussed below.

Unfavorable changes in macroeconomic conditions for any reason, including declining consumer confidence, inflation, high
unemployment, lower demand for certain services, reduced personal income, and recession, among others, may lead the
Exchange's customers to modify coverage, not renew policies, or even cancel policies, which could adversely affect the
premium revenue of the Exchange, and consequently our management fee.

The direct written premium of the Exchange is impacted by the premium rates charged for policies. The Exchange writes
policies almost exclusively with annual terms, therefore, premium rate actions take 12 months to be fully recognized in written
premium. The Exchange also writes certain personal auto policies with a rate locking feature. These product features
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generally extend the amount of time it takes for premium rate actions to be recognized related to these policies, affecting the
premium revenue of the Exchange, and consequently our management fee.

The Exchange faces significant competition from other regional and national insurance companies. The property and casualty
insurance industry is highly competitive on the basis of product, price and service. If the Exchange's competitors offer property
and casualty products with more coverage, offer lower rates, or introduce innovative services in response to evolving customer
preferences, and the Exchange is unable to implement product or service improvements quickly enough to keep pace, its ability
to grow and renew its business may be adversely impacted. In addition, due to the Exchange's premium concentration in the
automobile and homeowners insurance markets, it may be more sensitive to trends that could affect auto and home insurance
coverages and rates over time, for example changing vehicle types or usage, usage-based methods of determining premiums,
ownership and driving patterns such as ride sharing or remote work, advancements in vehicle or home technology or safety
features such as accident and loss prevention technologies, the development of autonomous vehicles, or residential occupancy
patterns, among other factors. Innovations, including the use of artificial intelligence and machine learning to support
underwriting or other decisions, by competitors or other market participants may increase the level of competition in the
industry. If the Exchange fails to respond to those innovations on a timely basis, its competitive position and results may be
materially adversely affected.

The Exchange markets and sells its insurance products through independent, non-exclusive insurance agencies. These agencies
are not obligated to sell only the Exchange's insurance products, and generally also sell products of the Exchange's competitors.
If agencies do not maintain their current levels of marketing efforts, bind the Exchange to unacceptable risks, place business
with competing insurers, or if the Exchange is unsuccessful in attracting or retaining agencies in its distribution system or
maintaining its relationships with those agencies, the Exchange's ability to grow and renew its business may be adversely
impacted. Additionally, shifting consumer behaviors toward increased digital interactions may cause the insurance industry as
a whole to migrate to a delivery system other than independent agencies.

The Exchange maintains a brand recognized for customer service, which is the result of Indemnity's management of the
Exchange in accordance with the subscriber's agreement. The perceived performance, actions, conduct and behaviors of
employees, independent insurance agency representatives, and third-party service providers may result in reputational harm to
the Exchange's brand. Specific incidents which may cause harm include but are not limited to disputes, long customer wait
times, errors in processing a claim, failure to protect sensitive customer data, and negative or inaccurate social media or
traditional media communications. Likewise, an inability to match or exceed the service provided by competitors, who are
increasingly relying on digital delivery and enhanced distribution technology, may impede the Exchange’s ability to maintain
and/or grow its customer base. If an extreme catastrophic event were to occur in a heavily concentrated geographic area of
subscribers (policyholders), an extraordinarily high number of claims could have the potential to strain claims processing and
affect the Exchange's ability to service its customers. If third-party service providers fail to perform as anticipated, the
Exchange may experience operational difficulties, increased costs, and reputational damage. Similarly, the Exchange’s brand
could be tarnished by reactions to business practices, adverse financial developments, perceptions of our corporate governance,
how we address employee matters and concerns, environmental, social and governance (ESG) initiatives, or the conduct of our
employees, officers and directors. Failure to satisfy expectations in these areas may result in negative publicity or other adverse
outcomes, which could be aggravated as the expectations of consumers, regulators and other stakeholders evolve and as social
media and other forms of modern communication rapidly magnify reactions. Any reputational harm to the Exchange could
have the potential to impair its ability to grow and renew its business.

As the attorney-in-fact for subscribers in the reciprocal insurance exchange structure with the Exchange as our sole customer,
we are dependent on the financial condition of the Exchange. If the Exchange were to fail to maintain acceptable financial
strength ratings, its competitive position in the insurance industry could be adversely affected. If a rating downgrade led to
customers not renewing or canceling policies, or impacted the Exchange's ability to attract new customers, the premium
revenue of the Exchange could be adversely affected, which could reduce our management fee revenue. The circumstances or
events that might impair the Exchange's financial condition include, but are not limited to, the items discussed below.

Financial strength ratings are an important factor in establishing the competitive position of insurance companies such as the
Exchange. Higher ratings generally indicate greater financial stability and a stronger ability to meet ongoing obligations to
policyholders. The Exchange's A.M. Best rating is currently A+ ("Superior"). A.M. Best periodically reviews the Exchange’s
ratings and changes their rating criteria; therefore, the Exchange's current rating may not be maintained in the future. A
significant downgrade in the A.M. Best rating could reduce the competitive position of the Exchange, making it more difficult
to attract profitable business in the highly competitive property and casualty insurance market and potentially result in reduced
sales of its products and lower premium revenue.
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The performance of the Exchange's investment portfolio is subject to a variety of investment risks. The Exchange's investment
portfolio is comprised principally of fixed income securities, equity securities and limited partnerships. The fixed income
portfolio is subject to a number of risks including, but not limited to, interest rate risk, investment credit risk, sector/
concentration risk and liquidity risk. The Exchange's common stock and preferred equity securities have exposure to price risk,
the risk of potential loss in estimated fair value resulting from an adverse change in prices. Limited partnerships are
significantly less liquid and generally involve higher degrees of price risk than publicly traded securities. Limited partnerships,
like publicly traded securities, have exposure to market volatility; but unlike fixed income securities, cash flows and return
expectations are less predictable. Additionally, a portion of the Exchange’s common stock and limited partnership portfolios
are exposed to foreign exchange rate risk, or the potential loss in estimated fair value resulting from adverse changes in foreign
currency exchange rates. If any investments in the Exchange's investment portfolio were to suffer a substantial decrease in
value, the Exchange's financial position could be materially adversely affected through increased unrealized losses or
impairments. A significant decrease in the Exchange's portfolio could also put it, or its subsidiaries, at risk of failing to satisfy
regulatory or rating agency minimum capital requirements.

Property and casualty insurers are subject to extensive regulatory supervision in the states in which they do business. This
regulatory oversight includes, by way of example, matters relating to licensing, examination, rate setting, market conduct,
policy forms, limitations on the nature and amount of certain investments, claims practices, mandated participation in
involuntary markets and guaranty funds, reserve adequacy, insurer solvency, restrictions on underwriting standards, accounting
standards, transactions between affiliates, risk management, cybersecurity and data privacy, and ESG practices. Such
regulation and supervision are primarily for the benefit and protection of policyholders. Changes in applicable insurance laws,
tax statutes, cyber, privacy, and other laws and regulations, or changes in the way regulators administer those laws, tax statutes,
or regulations could adversely impact the Exchange's business, cash flows, results of operations, financial condition, or
operating environment and increase its exposure to loss or put it at a competitive disadvantage, which could result in reduced
sales of its products and lower premium revenue.

Property and casualty insurers face a significant risk of litigation and state and federal regulatory investigations, inquiries and
actions in the ordinary course of operating their businesses, including the risk of class action lawsuits. Plaintiffs in class action
and other lawsuits against the Exchange may seek large or indeterminate amounts of damages, including punitive and treble
damages, which may remain unknown for substantial periods of time.

The uncertainty of risks that emerge upon the occurrence of significant unexpected events, such as pandemics, or unexpected
economic or social inflation caused by supply chain issues, changes in tariffs, societal trends, or otherwise, may cause
additional challenges in the process of estimating loss and loss adjustment expense reserves or premiums to accommodate
future claims and expenses. For example, the behavior of claimants and policyholders and the timing and amounts of claims
settlements may change in unexpected ways, including increased attorney involvement and third-party litigation financing,
which could result in large jury awards. Furthermore, actions taken by governmental bodies, both legislative and regulatory, in
reaction to significant unexpected events, and their related impacts, are hard to predict. Technology advancements, such as
electric and autonomous vehicles, could impact frequency or severity of losses. The models that are used to determine
appropriate premium levels, forecast future losses and expenses, estimate loss and loss adjustment expense reserves, and assess
financial strength may be created or deployed in a manner that results in inaccurate predictions. Additionally, as the Exchange
writes policies almost exclusively with annual terms, premium rate actions take 12 months to be fully recognized in written
premium and another 12 months to earn the increased or decreased premiums in full. The Exchange also writes certain
personal auto policies with a rate locking feature, which generally extends the amount of time it takes for premium rate actions
to be recognized related to these policies. These risks may result in changes to the Exchange's estimated level of loss and loss
adjustment expense reserves or impact the adequacy of premiums to accommodate future claims and expenses.

As insurance industry practices and legal, judicial, social and other environmental conditions change, unexpected and
unintended issues related to claims and coverage may emerge. In some instances, these emerging issues may not become
apparent for some time after the Exchange has issued the affected insurance policies. As a result, the full extent of liability
under the Exchange's insurance policies may not be known for many years after the policies are issued. These issues may
adversely affect the Exchange's business by either extending coverage beyond its underwriting intent or by increasing the
number or size of claims. If there were legislative action in response to a pandemic or other significant unexpected event that
retroactively mandated coverage irrespective of terms, exclusions or other conditions included in policies that would otherwise
preclude coverage, it could have a material impact on the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
Exchange.

The Exchange's insurance operations are exposed to claims arising out of catastrophes. Common natural catastrophic events
include hurricanes, earthquakes, tornadoes, hail storms, and severe winter weather. The frequency and severity of these
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catastrophes are inherently uncertain. Changing climate conditions have created additional uncertainty regarding the future
trends in the frequency and severity of natural disasters. Increases in the insured value and geographic concentration of
exposures, as well as the impact of inflation, may increase the severity of catastrophe losses. A single catastrophic occurrence
or aggregation of multiple smaller occurrences within the geographical region of the Exchange or its assumed property
reinsurance portfolio could adversely affect the financial condition of the Exchange. Man-made disasters such as terrorist
attacks and riots could also cause losses from insurance claims related to the property and casualty insurance operations, which
could adversely affect its financial condition.

Operating risks

If the costs of providing services to the Exchange are not controlled, our profitability could be materially adversely affected.

In accordance with the subscriber's agreement, we perform policy issuance and renewal services for the subscribers at the
Exchange and we serve as the attorney-in-fact on behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange with respect to administrative
services. The most significant costs we incur in providing policy issuance and renewal services are commissions, employee
costs, and technology costs.

Commissions to independent agents are our largest expense. Commissions include scheduled commissions to agents based
upon premiums written as well as incentive compensation, which is earned by achieving certain targeted measures. Changes to
commission rates or incentive programs may result in increased future costs and lower profitability. Our agent incentive
compensation includes a profitability component. If claims frequency and loss expenses were to decrease significantly as a
result of an unexpected event, such as a pandemic, the profitability component of our agent incentive compensation would
improve, and our agent compensation costs would increase. Our second largest expense category includes employee costs such
as salaries, healthcare, pension, and other benefit costs. Regulatory developments, provider relationships, pandemics and
demographic and economic factors that are beyond our control, such as inflation, are indicators that employee costs could
increase, which could reduce our profitability or impact our personnel strategy. The defined benefit pension plan we offer to
our employees is affected by variable factors such as the interest rate used to discount pension liabilities, asset performance, and
changes in retirement patterns, which are beyond our control, and any related future cost increases could reduce our
profitability.

Technological development is necessary to facilitate ease of doing business for employees, agents, and customers. Our
technological developments are focused on simplifying and improving the employee, agent, and customer experiences,
increasing efficiencies, redesigning products, and addressing other potentially disruptive changes in the insurance industry,
including the use of artificial intelligence. As we continue to develop technology initiatives in order to remain competitive, our
profitability could be negatively impacted as we invest in system development.

If we are unable to attract, develop, and retain talented executives, key managers, and employees our financial condition and
results of operations could be adversely affected.

Our success is largely dependent upon our ability to attract and retain talented executives and other key management. Talent is
defined as people with the right skills, knowledge, abilities, character, and motivation. The loss of the services and leadership
of certain key officers and the failure to plan for turnover or retirement or to attract and develop talented new executives and
managers could prevent us from successfully communicating, implementing, and executing business strategies.

Our success also depends on our ability to attract, develop, and retain a talented employee base. The inability to staff all
functions of our business with employees possessing the appropriate talent could have an adverse effect on our business
performance. Additionally, failure to recognize, evaluate, and respond to changing workforce trends including current labor
market conditions and new ways of managing in hybrid work environments, or failure to execute proactive retention and
replacement strategies could also have an adverse effect on our business performance. Furthermore, failure to instill
appropriate cultural expectations and behavioral norms within our employees, particularly in a hybrid work environment, could
damage our reputation. Staffing appropriately talented employees for the handling of claims and servicing of customers,
rendering of disciplined underwriting, and effective sales and marketing are critical to the core functions of our business. In
addition, talented employees in actuarial, finance, human resources, law, risk management and information technology,
including artificial intelligence and data analytics, are also essential to support our core functions.
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If we are unable to effectively maintain system availability or manage technology initiatives, we may experience adverse
financial consequences and/or may be unable to compete effectively.

Our business is highly dependent upon the effectiveness of our technology and information systems which support key
functions of our core business operations, including processing applications and premium payments, providing customer
support, performing actuarial and financial analysis, and maintaining key data. Additionally, the Exchange relies heavily on
technology systems for processing claims. In order to support our business processes and strategic initiatives in a cost and
resource efficient manner, we must maintain the effectiveness of existing technology systems and continue to identify and
develop new, and enhance existing, technology systems. As we invest in the development of our systems, costs and completion
times could exceed original estimates, and/or the project may not deliver the anticipated benefit or perform as expected. If we
do not effectively and efficiently manage new technology initiatives, maintain existing systems, or attract and retain qualified
information technology employees and contract personnel to support them, our ability to serve our customers and implement
our strategic initiatives could be adversely impacted.

Additionally, we depend on a large amount of data to price policies appropriately, track exposures, perform financial analysis,
report to regulatory bodies, and ultimately make business decisions. Should this data be inaccurate or insufficient, risk
exposure may be underestimated and/or poor business decisions may be made. This may in turn lead to adverse operational or
financial performance and adverse customer or investor confidence.

If we experience difficulties with technology, data or network security, including those that could result from cyber attacks,
third-party relationships or cloud-based relationships, our ability to conduct our business could be adversely impacted.

In the normal course of business, we collect, use, store and where appropriate, disclose data concerning individuals and
businesses. We also conduct business using third parties who may provide software, data storage, cloud-based computing and
other technology services. Our systems regularly face cyber threats, which can create significant risks such as destruction of
systems or data, denial or interruption of service, disruption of transaction execution, loss or exposure of customer data, theft or
exposure of our intellectual property, theft of funds or disruption of other important business functions. Even with appropriate
governance and controls, the use of artificial intelligence may increase our exposure to cyber threats. Our interactions with, and
reliance upon, third parties expose us to increased risk related to data security, service disruptions or effectiveness of our control
system, particularly as we increase our reliance on cloud-based computing and software-as-a-service from third parties to
operate our business. If we experience service disruptions or need to replace essential third-party software or services, we may
not be able to find a viable alternative, or alternatives may be costly and/or require significant time and resources to integrate
with our systems, which could negatively impact our operations or financial results.

In addition, we are subject to numerous federal and state laws relating to the privacy and security of nonpublic personal
information and other sensitive information of our customers, employees and others. The improper access, disclosure, misuse
or mishandling of such information could result in legal liability, regulatory action and reputational damage. Third parties on
whom we rely for certain business processing functions are also subject to these risks, and their failure to adhere to these laws
and regulations could negatively impact us.

The number, complexity, and sophistication of cyber threats continue to increase over time. Rapid technological advancements
can also introduce new risks related to data security and operational efficiency. As we continue to adapt our internal processes
and systems to these rapidly evolving threats, we may be required to make certain judgments about additional investments in
these areas that we believe will protect us from cybersecurity risks, which may not be effective. While we also maintain cyber
liability insurance to mitigate the financial risk around cyber incidents, such insurance may not cover all costs associated with
the consequences of information or systems being compromised, and such insurance may become prohibitively expensive to
maintain. Additionally, while we have dedicated resources with security incident response capabilities, our response process
may not be adequate, may fail to accurately assess the severity of an incident, may not respond quickly enough or may fail to
sufficiently remediate an incident. Similarly, if our third-party service providers experience a cyber incident, they may fail to
report, or timely report, the incident to us. As a result, we may suffer significant legal, reputational, or financial losses, which
could adversely affect our business, cash flows, financial condition or results of operations.

If events occurred causing interruption of our operations, facilities, systems or business functions, it could have a material
adverse effect on our operations and financial results.

We have established business continuity and disaster recovery plans to provide for the continuation of core business operations
in the event that normal business operations could not be performed due to catastrophic or other events, including pandemics.
While we continue to test and assess our business continuity and disaster recovery plans to validate they meet the needs of our
core business operations and address multiple business interruption events, there is no assurance that core business operations
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could be performed upon the occurrence of such an event. Employee absence, physical premises damage, systems failures or
outages could compromise our ability to perform our business functions in a timely manner, which could harm our ability to
conduct business and hurt our business and customer relationships. Our operational resiliency is also dependent on third-party
personnel, infrastructure and systems on which we rely, including cloud-based technologies and software-as-a-service
applications. Our operations and those of our third parties may become vulnerable to damage or disruption due to
circumstances beyond our or their control, such as from catastrophic events, power anomalies or outages, natural disasters,
pandemics, supply chain interruptions, network failures, and cyber attacks. Additionally, we are dependent on internet and
telecommunications access and capabilities. Our workforce is largely concentrated in Erie, Pennsylvania. If a significant event
affects the labor force in this area, it could impact the policy acquisition, underwriting, claims and/or support services provided
to the policyholders and/or independent agents of the Exchange. Disruptions to our workforce or our operations for any reason
could result in a material adverse effect on our business, cash flows, financial condition, or results of operations.

We are subject to applicable insurance laws, tax statutes, and numerous other federal and state laws and regulations, as well
as claims and legal proceedings, which, if determined unfavorably, could have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations, or financial condition.

Our activities are subject to extensive regulation under federal and state laws on matters as diverse as internal control over
financial reporting and disclosure controls, securities regulation, data privacy and protection, cybersecurity, taxation,
immigration, wage-and-hour standards and employment and labor relations. These laws and regulations are complex and
evolving, and compliance with these laws requires significant resources. In some cases, these laws and regulations may
increase our costs, negatively impact revenues, or impose operational limitations on our business. Further, there can be no
assurance that we, our third-party service providers and our independent agents are in full compliance with all applicable laws
and regulations at all times. Efforts at compliance with all laws and regulations are further complicated by new and evolving
regulations regarding cybersecurity, artificial intelligence and ESG matters.

We face a significant risk of litigation and regulatory investigations and actions in the ordinary course of operating our
businesses including the risk of class action lawsuits. We are, have been, or may become subject to class actions and individual
suits alleging breach of fiduciary or other duties, including our obligations to indemnify directors and officers in connection
with certain legal matters. We are also subject to litigation arising out of our general business activities such as contractual and
employment relationships and claims regarding the infringement of the intellectual property of others, whether by us or our
third-party service providers. Plaintiffs in class action and other lawsuits against us may seek large or indeterminate amounts of
damages, including punitive and treble damages, which may remain unknown for substantial periods of time. We are also
subject to various regulatory inquiries, such as information requests, subpoenas, and books and record examinations from state
and federal regulators and authorities. In addition, changes in the way regulators administer applicable laws, tax statutes, or
regulations could adversely impact our business, cash flows, results of operations, or financial condition.

Market, Capital, and Liquidity risks

The performance of our investment portfolio is subject to a variety of investment risks, which may in turn have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations or financial condition.

At December 31, 2024, our investment portfolio consisted of approximately 84% fixed maturity securities, with the remaining
16% invested in equity securities and other investments.

General economic conditions, geopolitical events, fiscal and monetary policy and other factors beyond our control can
adversely affect the value of our investments and the realization of net investment income or result in realized investment
losses. In addition, downward economic trends also may have an adverse effect on our investment results by negatively
impacting the business conditions and impairing credit for the issuers of securities held in our respective investment portfolios.
This could reduce fair values of investments and generate significant unrealized losses or impairment charges which may
adversely affect our financial results.

The performance of the fixed maturity portfolio is subject to a number of risks including, but not limited to:

• Interest rate risk - the risk of adverse changes in the value of fixed maturity securities as a result of increases in market
interest rates.

• Investment credit risk - the risk that the value of certain investments may decrease due to the deterioration in financial
condition of, or the liquidity available to, one or more issuers of those securities or, in the case of structured securities,
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due to the deterioration of the loans or other assets that underlie the securities, which, in each case, also includes the
risk of permanent loss.

• Sector/Concentration risk - the risk that the portfolio may be too heavily concentrated in the securities of one or more
issuers, sectors, or industries. Events or developments that have a negative impact on any particular industry, group of
related industries, or geographic region may have a greater adverse effect on our investment portfolio to the extent that
the portfolio is concentrated within those issuers, sectors, or industries.

• Liquidity risk - the risk that we will not be able to convert investment securities into cash on favorable terms and on a
timely basis, or that we will not be able to sell them at all, when desired. Disruptions in the financial markets or a lack
of buyers for the specific securities that we are trying to sell could prevent us from liquidating securities or cause a
reduction in prices to levels that are not acceptable to us.

• Reinvestment risk - the possibility that the cash flows produced by an investment will have to be reinvested at a
reduced rate of return. Approximately 32% of our fixed maturity portfolio is expected to mature over the next three
years.

Our equity securities have exposure to price risk. Equity markets, sectors, industries, and individual securities may also be
subject to some of the same risks that affect our fixed maturity portfolio, as discussed above.

All of our fixed maturity and equity securities are subject to market volatility. To the extent that future market volatility
negatively impacts our investments, our financial condition will be negatively impacted. We review the fixed maturity portfolio
on a periodic basis to evaluate positions that are in an unrealized loss position to determine whether impairments are a result of
credit loss or other factors. Inherent in management's evaluation of a security are assumptions and estimates about the
operations of the issuer and its future earnings potential. As the process for determining impairments is highly subjective,
changes in our assessments may have a material effect on our operating results and financial condition. See also Part II, Item
7A. "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk".

Deteriorating capital and credit market conditions or a failure to accurately estimate capital needs may significantly affect our
ability to meet liquidity needs and access capital.

Sufficient liquidity and capital levels are required to pay operating expenses, income taxes, and to provide the necessary
resources to fund future growth opportunities, satisfy certain financial covenants, pay dividends on common stock, and
repurchase common stock. Management estimates the appropriate level of capital necessary based upon current and projected
results, which includes evaluating potential risks. Failure to accurately estimate our capital needs may have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition until additional sources of capital can be obtained. Further, a deteriorating financial condition
may create a negative perception of us by third parties, including investors, and financial institutions, which could impact our
ability to access capital in the debt or equity markets. Volatility in the financial markets could also limit our ability to sell
certain fixed income securities or cause such investments to sell at deep discounts.

Our primary sources of liquidity are management fee revenue and cash flows generated from our investment portfolio. In the
event these traditional sources of liquidity are not available, we may have to seek additional financing. Our access to funds will
depend upon a number of factors including current market conditions, the availability of credit, market liquidity, and the timing
of obtaining credit ratings. In deteriorating market conditions, there can be no assurance that we will obtain additional
financing, or, if available, that the cost of financing will not substantially increase and affect our overall profitability.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None
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ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY

Cybersecurity Risk Management
We maintain a cybersecurity program in alignment with our overall Enterprise Risk Management ("ERM") program. See Part
II, Item 7. "Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" contained within this
report for additional information on the ERM function. Our Privacy and Information Security Committee, comprised of
officers and senior leaders, is responsible for overseeing the development and maintenance of information privacy and security
policies and effective operation of our corporate information security and cybersecurity program in compliance with applicable
state insurance regulations and other legal and regulatory requirements. This committee is sponsored by and reports directly to
our Executive Council, which includes our Chief Executive Officer ("CEO"), Chief Financial Officer, executive vice presidents
and certain senior vice presidents reporting directly to the CEO as applicable.

Our cybersecurity program of technical, administrative, and physical controls is intended to reduce the risk of cyber threats and
protect our information, as well as document processes to determine and make appropriate disclosures regarding potential
material threats and incidents. Our cybersecurity philosophy and approach align to the National Institute of Standards and
Technology Cybersecurity Framework and its core elements to govern, identify, protect, detect, respond, and recover from the
various forms of cyber threats. Our practices include, but are not limited to, cybersecurity protocols and controls, system
monitoring and detection, communication of incidents to appropriate management, third-party risk management, including
assessments of emerging threats and vulnerabilities, and ongoing privacy and cybersecurity training for employees and
contractors concerning cyber risk. A foundational element of our cybersecurity risk management processes is the annual
Cybersecurity and Information Security Risk Assessment (CSRA), which includes an analysis of cybersecurity risks facing us
and associated recommendations and action items to mitigate identified risks. We periodically utilize third parties to assess the
effectiveness of our cybersecurity efforts through independent validations, verifications, and security assessments.

Our Board of Directors has a process in place to monitor management’s oversight of cybersecurity. This is done primarily
through regular reports to its Risk Committee as well as the full Board of Directors. Management provides reports on the
emerging cybersecurity threat landscape and our cybersecurity risk management program, including our risk evaluation, the
results of independent third-party security assessments, and our efforts to manage cyber related risks.

We have a core incident response team (Core Team) consisting of dedicated, skilled leadership representatives from our
Information Security, Privacy and Law teams, responsible for analyzing and assessing cyber incidents and leading response
efforts. Our Chief Information Security Officer (CISO), responsible for overseeing and managing information security
incidents, has over 25 years of experience in information technology (IT), including over 20 years dedicated to practicing or
leading cybersecurity functions. Our CISO is also a Certified Information Systems Security Professional (CISSP). Our Privacy
leader, responsible for managing privacy incidents, has over 20 years of experience in IT risk management, including over 10
years in IT risk and control functions and the remaining time focused on privacy and cybersecurity related functions and holds
several information privacy and risk certifications. Our Legal leader, responsible for providing guidance on legal and other
regulatory obligations in the areas of privacy, cybersecurity, technology, data use and third-party risk management, holds a
Juris Doctor degree, is licensed to practice law, and has over 20 years of legal experience, including 10 years focused on
privacy and cybersecurity and holds several information security and privacy certifications, including the CISSP. The Core
Team leaders are members of various organizations that support cybersecurity or privacy intelligence, education, information
sharing and networking, including among others the Financial Services Information Sharing and Analysis Center (FS-ISAC),
Domestic Security Alliance Council (DSAC), InfraGard, and International Association of Privacy Professionals (IAPP).

The Core Team members are augmented as needed by representatives from other internal groups, including subject matter
experts from Information Security, Privacy, Finance and Law, as well as certain third parties that may need to participate in the
incident response process. Depending on the severity and impact of the incident, third parties engaged may include outside
counsel, forensics investigators, public relation firms, data breach resolution providers, and cyber insurance brokers and
carriers. In conjunction with legal counsel, the Core Team evaluates notification requirements and as necessary will notify
stakeholders depending on the nature and severity of the incident, including law enforcement, state attorneys general,
regulators, external auditors, third party providers, and impacted individuals.

The Core Team is informed of cyber incidents from diverse sources, including for example, internal monitoring systems,
information sharing organizations, employees, and other external information sources. Depending upon the levels of access to
our information and/or information systems, third party service providers are contractually obligated to report cybersecurity
incidents within their environments. The Core Team performs incident analysis and triage to determine scope, severity,
prioritization and required response plans to address an incident in a manner that is intended to minimize the impact to us, our
assets, and our operations. In accordance with applicable legal and regulatory requirements, this analysis and triage step
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includes an assessment of the potential for material impact to us from a cybersecurity incident or a series of individually
immaterial related incidents that are material when aggregated.

To date, we are not aware of any cybersecurity breach or other incident with respect to our systems or data that would have a
material impact to our business strategy, results of operations or financial condition. Additionally, we are not aware of any
cybersecurity breach or other incident experienced by anyone with whom we have a third-party relationship that has had a
material impact on our systems or data. However, there can be no guarantee that we will not experience any such incidents in
the future. See Item 1A. "Risk Factors" for a discussion of cybersecurity risks.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Indemnity and the Exchange share a corporate home office campus in Erie, Pennsylvania, which comprises approximately one
million square feet. Additionally, we lease an office building and a warehouse facility from third parties and are charged rent
for the related square footage we occupy.

Indemnity and the Exchange also own or lease 24 field offices in 12 states used to primarily support claims-related activities.
The Exchange owns five field offices and leases another 17 from third parties. Indemnity owns one field office and leases
another from a third party. Commitments for properties leased from third parties expire periodically through 2030. We expect
that most leases will be renewed or replaced upon expiration. Rental costs of shared facilities are allocated based upon square
footage occupied.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Erie Indemnity Company ("Indemnity") was named as a defendant in a complaint filed on August 24, 2021, by alleged
subscribers of the Erie Insurance Exchange (the "Exchange") in the Court of Common Pleas Civil Division of Allegheny
County, Pennsylvania captioned TROY STEPHENSON, CHRISTINA STEPHENSON, SUSAN RUBEL and STEVEN
BARNETT, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated (Plaintiffs) v. Erie Indemnity Company (Defendant).

The complaint seeks relief for alleged breaches of fiduciary duty by Indemnity in connection with the setting of the
management fee it receives, in accordance with the terms of the Subscribers Agreement executed between Indemnity and all
policyholders of the Exchange, as compensation for acting as the attorney-in-fact in the management of the Exchange. The
relief sought is for the period beginning two years prior to the date of the filing of the complaint and continuing through 2021.

The complaint seeks (i) a finding that Indemnity has breached its fiduciary duties; (ii) an award of damages in an amount to be
determined at trial; and (iii) such other relief, including disgorgement of profits or other injunctive relief, that the Court deems
just and proper.

Service of the complaint was effectuated on September 20, 2021. A Notice of Removal to the United States District Court for
the Western District of Pennsylvania was filed on October 20, 2021. On November 2, 2021, Plaintiffs filed a Notice of
Voluntary Dismissal. As a result, the action was dismissed without prejudice.

On December 6, 2021, another Complaint was filed in the Court of Common Pleas of Allegheny County, Pennsylvania
captioned ERIE INSURANCE EXCHANGE, an unincorporated association, by TROY STEPHENSON, CHRISTINA
STEPHENSON and STEVEN BARNETT, trustees ad litem, and alternatively, ERIE INSURANCE EXCHANGE, by TROY
STEPHENSON, CHRISTINA STEPHENSON and STEVEN BARNETT, (Plaintiff), v. ERIE INDEMNITY COMPANY,
(Defendant).

This most recent complaint has the same allegation of breach of fiduciary duty by Indemnity in connection with the setting of
the management fee it receives, in accordance with the terms of the Subscribers Agreement executed between Indemnity and all
policyholders of the Exchange, as compensation for acting as the attorney-in-fact in the management of the Exchange.

This most recent complaint seeks the same relief, specifically, (i) a finding that Indemnity has breached its fiduciary duties; (ii)
an award of damages in an amount to be determined at trial; and (iii) such other relief, including disgorgement of profits or
other injunctive relief, that the Court deems just and proper.

A Notice of Removal to the United States District Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania was filed on January 27,
2022. Indemnity intends to vigorously defend against all of the allegations and requests for relief in the complaint.
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By Memorandum Opinion and Order dated September 28, 2022, the Court granted the Motion for Remand and directed the
case be remanded to the Court of Common Pleas of Allegheny County, Pennsylvania. On September 30, 2022, Indemnity filed
a Motion to Stay the Remand Order pending an appeal to the United States Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit. On October
3, 2022, the Court granted the Stay. On October 11, 2022, Indemnity filed a Petition for Permission to Appeal the Remand
Order with the Third Circuit. By Order dated November 7, 2022, a three judge panel of the Court denied the Petition to Appeal.

On November 21, 2022, Indemnity filed a Petition for Rehearing requesting that the Third Circuit permit the appeal. By Order
dated January 9, 2023, the Court granted the petition for rehearing and vacated the prior Order of October 7, 2022, denying
permission to appeal. On April 20, 2023, argument was held before a three-judge panel of the Third Circuit. By Opinion dated
May 22, 2023, the Court affirmed the decision of the District Court finding that there was no basis for federal court jurisdiction
and that the matter had been properly remanded to state court. On June 5, 2023, Indemnity filed a Petition for Panel Rehearing
or Rehearing En Banc. By Order dated June 22, 2023, the Court denied the Petition. The United States District Court thereafter
extended its stay of the issuance of the remand order through the conclusion of any proceedings in the United States Supreme
Court challenging the decision of the United States Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit that no federal jurisdiction exists in
this case.

On October 20, 2023, Indemnity filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari with the Supreme Court of the United States. The
Petition sought a determination from the Court that the lower courts improperly denied federal jurisdiction. By order dated
February 26, 2024, the United States Supreme Court denied Indemnity's Petition for Writ of Certiorari.

Separately, Indemnity filed a Complaint in Federal Court to invoke certain provisions of the “All Writs Act” and the “Anti-
Injunction Act.” By filing this complaint, Indemnity seeks to protect the federal court’s prior binding, final judgments in favor
of Indemnity and thereby foreclose further litigation of the claims and issues pertaining to the compensation practices that were
the subject of the prior judgments. After the denial of certiorari, the district court, by Opinion and Order dated February 28,
2024, granted Indemnity’s motion for a preliminary injunction under the All Writs Act after determining that the gravamen of
the plaintiff’s state court action “is the same” as two actions previously dismissed in federal court, that Indemnity would be
irreparably harmed if it is forced to relitigate those same issues in state court, plaintiffs had a full and fair opportunity to litigate
the same issues in prior litigation, and that an injunction would serve the public interest. The Court’s order preliminarily
enjoined the named plaintiffs from pursuing the Erie Ins. Exch. v. Erie Indem. Co. action and enjoined the state court from
conducting further proceedings in that action. The court ordered Indemnity to file a motion to convert the preliminary
injunction into a permanent injunction. In the meantime, plaintiffs filed a Notice of Appeal with the United States Court of
Appeals for the Third Circuit. As a result of the filing of the appeal, the trial court stayed the order issuing an injunction.

The appeal has been briefed and oral argument was held on October 29, 2024, before a three-judge panel of the Third Circuit.
The parties are currently awaiting a decision.

Indemnity intends to vigorously defend the district court’s order on appeal and to otherwise defend against all allegations and
requests for relief sought by plaintiffs.

For additional information on contingencies, see Part II, Item 8. "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note 17,
Commitment and Contingencies, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements".

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Common Stock Market Prices and Dividends
Our Class A, non-voting common stock trades on The NASDAQ Stock MarketSM LLC under the symbol "ERIE". No
established trading market exists for the Class B voting common stock. Broadridge Corporate Issuer Solutions, Inc. serves as
our transfer agent and registrar. As of February 21, 2025, there were approximately 484 shareholders of record for the Class A
non-voting common stock and 8 shareholders of record for the Class B voting common stock.

Historically, we have declared and paid cash dividends on a quarterly basis at the discretion of the Board of Directors. The
payment and amount of future dividends on the common stock will be determined by the Board of Directors and will depend
upon, among other things, our operating results, financial condition, cash requirements, and general business conditions at the
time such payment is considered.

Stock Performance
The following graph depicts the cumulative total shareholder return, assuming reinvestment of dividends, for the periods
indicated for our Class A common stock compared to the Standard & Poor's 500 Stock Index and the Standard & Poor's
Supercomposite Insurance Industry Group Index. The Standard & Poor's Supercomposite Insurance Industry Group Index is
made up of 56 constituent members represented by property and casualty insurers, insurance brokers, and life insurers, and is a
capitalization weighted index.
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Erie Indemnity Company Class A common stock $ 100 (1) $ 152 $ 122 $ 161 $ 221 $ 276
Standard & Poor's 500 Stock Index 100 (1) 118 152 125 157 197
Standard & Poor's Supercomposite Insurance Industry Group Index 100 (1) 98 127 139 153 193

(1) Assumes $100 invested at the close of trading, including reinvestment of dividends, on the last trading day preceding the first day of the fifth
preceding fiscal year, in our Class A common stock, the Standard & Poor's 500 Stock Index, and the Standard & Poor's Supercomposite Insurance
Industry Group Index.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
We may purchase shares, from time-to-time, in the open market, through trading plans entered into with one or more brokerage
firms pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or through privately negotiated transactions. The
purchase of shares is dependent upon prevailing market conditions and alternate uses of capital, and at times and in a manner
that is deemed appropriate.

Our Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program effective January 1, 1999, allowing the repurchase of our
outstanding Class A nonvoting common stock. Various approvals for continuation of this program have since been authorized,
with the most recent occurring in 2011 for $150 million, which was authorized with no time limitation.

The following table presents the number and average price of our outstanding Class A nonvoting common stock shares
purchased during the quarter ending December 31, 2024:

(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Period
Total number of
shares purchased

Average price
paid per share

Total number of shares
purchased as part of
publicly announced

program

Dollar value of shares
that may yet be

purchased under the
program

October 1–31, 2024 — $ — — $ 17,754
November 1–30, 2024 (1) 777 402.38 — 17,754
December 1–31, 2024 — — — 17,754
Total 777 402.38 —

(1) Represents shares purchased on the open market to fund the rabbi trust for the outside director deferred stock compensation plan.

See Item 8. "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note 11, Incentive and Deferred Compensation Plans, of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements" contained within this report for additional information on shares purchased outside of this
program.

ITEM 6. [RESERVED]
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

The following discussion of financial condition and results of operations highlights significant factors influencing Erie
Indemnity Company ("Indemnity", "we", "us", "our"). This discussion should be read in conjunction with the audited financial
statements and related notes and all other items contained within this Annual Report on Form 10-K as these contain important
information helpful in evaluating our financial condition and results of operations.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

"Safe Harbor" Statement under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995:
Statements contained herein that are not historical fact are forward-looking statements and, as such, are subject to risks and
uncertainties that could cause actual events and results to differ, perhaps materially, from those discussed herein. Forward-
looking statements relate to future trends, events or results and include, without limitation, statements and assumptions on
which such statements are based that are related to our plans, strategies, objectives, expectations, intentions, and adequacy of
resources. Examples of forward-looking statements are discussions relating to premium and investment income, expenses,
operating results, and compliance with contractual and regulatory requirements. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees
of future performance and involve risks and uncertainties that are difficult to predict. Therefore, actual outcomes and results
may differ materially from what is expressed or forecasted in such forward-looking statements. Among the risks and
uncertainties, in addition to those set forth in our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, that could cause actual
results and future events to differ from those set forth or contemplated in the forward-looking statements include the following:

• dependence upon our relationship with the Erie Insurance Exchange ("Exchange") and the management fee under the
agreement with the subscribers at the Exchange;

• dependence upon our relationship with the Exchange and the growth of the Exchange, including:
◦ general business and economic conditions;
◦ factors impacting the timing of premium rates charged for policies;
◦ factors affecting insurance industry competition, including technological innovations;
◦ dependence upon the independent agency system; and
◦ ability to maintain our brand, including our reputation for customer service;

• dependence upon our relationship with the Exchange and the financial condition of the Exchange, including:
◦ the Exchange's ability to maintain acceptable financial strength ratings;
◦ factors affecting the quality and liquidity of the Exchange's investment portfolio;
◦ changes in government regulation of the insurance industry;
◦ litigation and regulatory actions;
◦ emergence of significant unexpected events, including pandemics and economic or social inflation;
◦ emerging claims and coverage issues in the industry; and
◦ severe weather conditions or other catastrophic losses, including terrorism;

• costs of providing policy issuance and renewal services to the subscribers at the Exchange under the subscriber's
agreement;

• ability to attract and retain talented management and employees;
• ability to ensure system availability and effectively manage technology initiatives;

19



• difficulties with technology, data or network security breaches, including cyber attacks;
• ability to maintain uninterrupted business operations;
• compliance with complex and evolving laws and regulations and outcome of pending and potential litigation;
• factors affecting the quality and liquidity of our investment portfolio; and
• ability to meet liquidity needs and access capital.

A forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which it is made and reflects our analysis only as of that date. We
undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information,
future events, changes in assumptions, or otherwise.

RECENT ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

See Item 8. "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note 2, Significant Accounting Policies, of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements" contained within this report for a discussion of recently adopted and issued accounting standards and the
impact on our consolidated financial statements if known.

OPERATING OVERVIEW

Overview
We are a Pennsylvania business corporation that since 1925 has been the managing attorney-in-fact for the subscribers
(policyholders) at the Exchange, a reciprocal insurer that writes property and casualty insurance. Our primary function as
attorney-in-fact is to perform policy issuance and renewal services on behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange. We also act as
attorney-in-fact on behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange, as well as the service provider for the Exchange's insurance
subsidiaries, with respect to all administrative services.

The Exchange is a reciprocal insurance exchange, which is an unincorporated association of individuals, partnerships and
corporations that agree to insure one another. Each applicant for insurance (a subscriber) to the Exchange signs a subscriber's
agreement, which contains an appointment of Indemnity as their attorney-in-fact to transact the business of the Exchange on
their behalf.

In accordance with the subscriber’s agreement for acting as attorney-in-fact in these two capacities, we retain a management
fee. Management fee revenue is based upon all direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange and the
management fee rate, which is not to exceed 25%. Our Board of Directors establishes the management fee rate at least
annually, generally in December for the following year. The process of setting the management fee rate includes, but is not
limited to, the evaluation of current year operating results compared to both prior year and industry estimated results for both
Indemnity and the Exchange, and consideration of several factors for both entities including, but not limited to: their relative
financial strength and capital position; projected revenue, expense and earnings for the subsequent year; future capital needs; as
well as competitive position. The management fee rate was set at 25% for 2024, 2023 and 2022. Based on analysis of the
foregoing factors, our Board of Directors set the 2025 management fee rate again at 25%.

Our earnings are primarily driven by the management fee revenue generated for the services we provide on behalf of the
subscribers at the Exchange. The policy issuance and renewal services we provide are related to the sales, underwriting and
issuance of policies. The sales related services we provide include agent compensation and certain sales and advertising
support services. Agent compensation includes scheduled commissions to agents based upon premiums written as well as
incentive compensation, which is earned by achieving targeted measures. Agent compensation comprised approximately 69%
of our 2024 policy issuance and renewal expenses. The underwriting services we provide include underwriting and policy
processing and comprised approximately 9% of our 2024 policy issuance and renewal expenses. The remaining services we
provide include customer service and administrative support. We also provide information technology services that support all
the functions listed above that comprised approximately 9% of our 2024 policy issuance and renewal expenses. Included in
these expenses are allocations of costs for departments that support these policy issuance and renewal functions.

Consistent with its legal structure as a reciprocal insurer, the Exchange does not have any employees or officers. Therefore, it
enters into contractual relationships by and through the subscribers' attorney-in-fact. Indemnity serves as the attorney-in-fact on
behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange with respect to its administrative services as enumerated in the subscriber's agreement.
The Exchange's insurance subsidiaries also utilize Indemnity for these services in accordance with the service agreements
between each of the subsidiaries and Indemnity. Claims handling services include costs incurred in the claims process,
including the adjustment, investigation, defense, recording and payment functions. Life insurance management services include
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costs incurred in the management and processing of life insurance business. Investment management services are related to
investment trading activity, accounting and all other functions attributable to the investment of funds. In 2024, approximately
70% of the administrative services expenses were entirely attributable to the respective administrative functions (claims
handling, life insurance management and investment management), while the remaining 30% of these expenses were
allocations of costs for departments that support these administrative functions. The expenses we incur and related
reimbursements we receive for administrative services are presented gross in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. The
subscriber's agreement and service agreements provide for reimbursement of amounts incurred for these services to Indemnity.
Reimbursements are settled at cost on a monthly basis. State insurance regulations require that intercompany service
agreements and any material amendments be approved in advance by the state insurance department.

Our results of operations are tied to the growth and financial condition of the Exchange as the Exchange is our sole customer,
and our earnings are largely generated from management fees based on the direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by
the Exchange. The Exchange generates revenue by insuring preferred and standard risks, with personal lines comprising 71%
of the 2024 direct and affiliated assumed written premiums and commercial lines comprising the remaining 29%. The principal
personal lines products are private passenger automobile and homeowners. The principal commercial lines products are
commercial multi-peril, commercial automobile and workers compensation.

We generate investment income from our fixed maturity and equity security portfolios. Our portfolio is managed with the
objective of maximizing after-tax returns on a risk-adjusted basis. We actively evaluate the fixed maturity portfolios for
securities in an unrealized loss position and record impairment write-downs on investments in instances where we have the
intent to sell or it's more likely than not that we would be required to sell the security. Impairments resulting from a credit loss
are recognized in earnings with a corresponding allowance on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position.

Financial Overview

Years ended December 31,
(dollars in thousands, except per share data) 2024 % Change 2023 % Change 2022

Operating income $ 676,455 30.0 % $ 520,256 38.3 % $ 376,214
Total investment income 69,260 NM 28,968 NM 632
Interest expense, net — NM — NM 2,009
Other income 11,564 (9.0) 12,712 NM 1,615

Income before income taxes 757,279 34.8 561,936 49.3 376,452
Income tax expense 156,965 35.5 115,875 48.8 77,883

Net income $ 600,314 34.6 % $ 446,061 49.4 % $ 298,569
Net income per share - diluted $ 11.48 34.6 % $ 8.53 49.4 % $ 5.71

NM = not meaningful

Operating income increased in 2024 compared to 2023 as growth in operating revenue outpaced the growth in operating
expenses. Management fee revenue is based upon the management fee rate we charge and the direct and affiliated assumed
premiums written by the Exchange. The management fee rate was 25% for 2024, 2023, and 2022. The direct and affiliated
assumed premiums written by the Exchange increased 18.4% to $11.9 billion in 2024 and 17.0% to $10.1 billion in 2023.

Cost of operations for policy issuance and renewal services increased 15.0% to $2.3 billion in 2024 primarily due to higher
scheduled commissions driven by direct and affiliated assumed written premium growth, as well as increased personnel costs
and underwriting report costs, partially offset by decreased professional fees. Cost of operations for policy issuance and
renewal services increased 12.0% to $2.0 billion in 2023 primarily due to higher scheduled commissions driven by direct and
affiliated assumed written premium growth, as well as increased employee compensation and technology costs, partially offset
by decreased agent incentive compensation driven by higher claims severity and related loss costs experienced by the
Exchange.

Management fee revenue for administrative services increased 7.4% to $68.4 million in 2024 compared to an increase of 9.2%
in 2023. The administrative services reimbursement revenue and corresponding cost of operations increased both total
operating revenue and total operating expenses by $806.3 million in 2024 and $737.1 million in 2023, but had no net impact on
operating income.
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Total investment income increased $40.3 million in 2024 primarily due to an increase in net investment income and net realized
and unrealized gains in 2024 compared to net realized and unrealized losses in 2023. Total investment income increased $28.3
million in 2023 primarily due to lower realized and unrealized investment losses and an increase in net investment income
compared to 2022.

General Conditions and Trends Affecting Our Business
Economic conditions
Unfavorable changes in economic conditions, including declining consumer confidence, inflation, high unemployment, and the
threat of recession, among others, may lead the Exchange’s customers to modify coverage, not renew policies, or even cancel
policies, which could adversely affect the premium revenue of the Exchange, and consequently our management fee revenue.
Elevated inflation or supply chain disruptions could impact the Exchange's operations and our management fees. In particular,
unanticipated increased inflation costs including medical cost inflation, building material cost inflation, auto repair and
replacement cost inflation, and social inflation may impact adequacy of estimated loss reserves and future premium rates of the
Exchange. If any of these items impacted the financial condition or operations of the Exchange, it could have an impact on our
financial results. See Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources, and Part I, Item 1A. "Risk Factors" contained
within this report for a discussion of potential impacts to our operations or those of the Exchange.

Financial market volatility
Our portfolio of fixed maturity and equity security investments is subject to market volatility, especially in periods of instability
in the worldwide financial markets. Net investment income is impacted by the general level of interest rates, which impact
reinvested cash flow from the portfolio and business operations. Depending upon market conditions, considerable fluctuation
could occur in the fair value of our investment portfolio and reported total investment income, which could have an adverse
impact on our financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows. Various ongoing geopolitical events, the uncertain
inflationary environment and a potential economic slowdown could have a significant impact on the global financial markets
with the potential for future losses and/or impairments on our investment portfolio.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The financial statements include amounts based upon estimates and assumptions that have a significant effect on reported
amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period and related disclosures. We consider an accounting estimate to be critical if 1) it requires
assumptions to be made that were uncertain at the time the estimate was made, and 2) different estimates that could have been
used, or changes in the estimate that are likely to occur from period-to-period, could have a material impact on our
Consolidated Statements of Operations or Financial Position.

The following presents a discussion of those accounting policies surrounding estimates that we believe are the most critical to
our reported amounts and require the most subjective and complex judgment. If actual events differ significantly from the
underlying assumptions, there could be material adjustments to prior estimates that could potentially adversely affect our results
of operations, financial condition, and cash flows. The estimates and the estimating methods used are reviewed continually, and
any adjustments considered necessary are reflected in current earnings.

Investment Valuation
Fair Value Measurements
We make estimates concerning the fair value of our investments using valuation techniques to derive the fair value of the fixed
maturity and equity investments we hold. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction
between willing market participants at the measurement date.

Fair value measurements are based upon observable and unobservable inputs. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained
from independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect our view of market assumptions in the absence of observable
market information. We utilize valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of
unobservable inputs. Our investments are categorized into a three-level fair value hierarchy which assigns a Level 1 for highly
observable inputs and a Level 3 to unobservable inputs. We continually assess whether or not an active market exists for all of
our investments and as of each reporting date we re-evaluate their classification in the fair value hierarchy.

As of each reporting period, financial instruments recorded at fair value are classified based upon the lowest level of input that
is significant to the fair value measurement. The presence of at least one unobservable input that has significant impact to the
fair value measurement would result in classification as a Level 3 instrument. Our assessment of the significance of a particular
input to the fair value measurement requires judgment, and considers factors specific to the asset, such as the relative impact on
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the fair value as a result of including a particular input and market conditions. While estimates of the fair values of our
investment portfolio are obtained from outside pricing services, we ultimately determine whether the inputs used are observable
or unobservable.

As of December 31, 2024, substantially all of the securities measured at fair value in our investment portfolio are classified as
Level 2. Level 2 securities are valued using industry-standard models that consider various inputs, such as the interest rate and
credit spread for the underlying financial instruments. All significant inputs are observable, or derived from observable
information in the marketplace, or are supported by observable levels at which transactions are executed in the marketplace. At
December 31, 2024, our investments classified as Level 3 were not significant.

See Item 8. "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note 6, Fair Value, of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements" contained within this report for additional details on the fair value measurement of our investments.

Retirement Benefit Plan for Employees
Our primary pension plan is a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all employees. Although we
are the sponsor of this postretirement plan and record the funded status of the plan, there are reimbursements between us and
the Exchange and its insurance subsidiaries for their allocated share of pension income or cost. See Item 8. "Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data - Note 10, Postretirement Benefits, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements"
contained within this report for additional details on these reimbursements.

Our pension obligation is developed from actuarial estimates. Several statistical and other factors, which attempt to anticipate
future events, are used in calculating the expense and liability related to the plan. Key factors include assumptions about the
discount rates and expected rates of return on plan assets. We review these assumptions annually and modify them considering
historical experience, current market conditions, including changes in investment returns and interest rates, and expected future
trends.

Accumulated and projected benefit obligations are expressed as the present value of future cash payments. We discount those
cash payments based upon a yield curve developed from corporate bond yield information with maturities that correspond to the
payment of benefits. Lower discount rates increase present values and subsequent year pension expense, while higher discount
rates decrease present values and subsequent year pension expense. The construction of the yield curve is based upon yields of
corporate bonds rated AA or equivalent quality. Target yields are developed from bonds at various maturity points and a curve
is fitted to those targets. Spot rates (zero coupon bond yields) are developed from the yield curve and used to discount benefit
payment amounts associated with each future year. The present value of plan benefits is calculated by applying the spot/
discount rates to projected benefit cash flows. A single discount rate is then developed to produce the same present value. The
cash flows from the yield curve were matched against our projected benefit payments in the pension plan, which have a
duration of about 14 years. This yield curve supported the selection of a 5.87% discount rate for the projected benefit
obligation at December 31, 2024 and for the 2025 pension expense. The same methodology was used to develop the 5.34% and
5.67% discount rates used to determine the projected benefit obligation for 2023 and 2022, respectively, and the pension
income for 2024 and 2023, respectively. A 25 basis point decrease in the discount rate assumption, with other assumptions held
constant, would increase pension cost in the following year by $4.6 million, of which our share would be approximately $1.8
million, and would increase the pension benefit obligation by $36.3 million.

Unrecognized actuarial gains and losses arise from several factors, including experience and assumption changes in the
obligations and from the difference between expected returns and actual returns on plan assets. These unrecognized gains and
losses are recorded in the pension plan obligation and accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). These amounts are
systematically recognized to net periodic pension expense in future periods, with gains decreasing and losses increasing future
pension expense. If actuarial net gains or losses exceed 5% of the greater of the projected benefit obligation and the market-
related value of plan assets, the excess is recognized through the net periodic pension expense equally over the estimated
service period of the employee group, which is currently 13 years.

The expected long-term rate of return for the pension plan represents the average rate of return to be earned on plan assets over
the period the benefits included in the benefit obligation are to be paid. To determine the expected long-term rate of return
assumption, we utilized models based upon rigorous historical analysis and forward-looking views of the financial markets
based upon key factors such as historical returns for the asset class' applicable indices, the correlations of the asset classes under
various market conditions and consensus views on future real economic growth and inflation. The expected future return for
each asset class is then combined by considering correlations between asset classes and the volatilities of each asset class to
produce a reasonable range of asset return results within which our expected long-term rate of return assumption falls. The
expected long-term rate of return is generally less susceptible to annual revisions as there are typically no significant changes in
the asset mix. In 2024, we changed our target asset allocation to reduce investment risk by shifting portfolio assets from equity
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securities to debt securities. Based on the current asset allocation and a review of the key factors and expectations of future
asset performance as well as the current market environment, the expected return on asset assumption will remain at 7.00% for
2025. A change of 25 basis points in the expected long-term rate of return assumption, with other assumptions held constant,
would have an estimated $2.9 million impact on net pension benefit cost in the following year, of which our share would be
approximately $1.2 million.

We use a four-year averaging method to determine the market-related value of plan assets, which is used to determine the
expected return component of pension expense. Under this methodology, asset gains or losses that result from returns that
differ from our long-term rate of return assumption are recognized in the market-related value of assets on a level basis over a
four-year period. The market-related asset experience during 2024 that related to the actual investment return being different
from that assumed during the prior year was a loss of $72.8 million. Recognition of this loss will be deferred and recognized
over a four-year period, consistent with the market-related asset value methodology. Once factored into the market-related
asset value, these experience gains and losses will be amortized over a period of 13 years, which is the remaining service period
of the employee group.

We recognized net pension benefit income of $1.5 million in 2024 primarily driven by higher expected return on assets,
partially offset by a lower discount rate, compared to 2023. We expect to recognize net pension benefit expense of $7.8 million
in 2025 primarily driven by anticipated plan progression as well as demographic assumption updates from a 2024 experience
study, partially offset by an increase in the discount rate. Our share of the net pension benefit income after reimbursements was
$0.6 million in 2024. We expect our share of the net pension benefit expense to be approximately $3.1 million in 2025, of
which expense of $13.6 million will be recorded in operating expense and income of $10.5 million will be recorded in other
income.

The actuarial assumptions we used in determining our pension obligation may differ materially from actual results due to
changing market and economic conditions, higher or lower withdrawal rates, or longer or shorter life spans of participants.
While we believe that the assumptions used are appropriate, differences in actual experience or changes in assumptions may
materially affect our consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. See Item 8. "Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data - Note 10, Postretirement Benefits, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" contained within this
report for additional details on the pension plan.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Management fee revenue
We have two performance obligations in the subscriber’s agreement, providing policy issuance and renewal services and acting
as attorney-in-fact for the subscribers at the Exchange, as well as the service provider for the Exchange's insurance subsidiaries,
with respect to all administrative services. We retain management fees for acting as the attorney-in-fact for the subscribers at
the Exchange in these two capacities and allocate our revenues between our performance obligations.

The management fee is calculated by multiplying all direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange by the
management fee rate, which is determined by our Board of Directors at least annually. The management fee rate was set at
25% for 2024, 2023 and 2022. Changes in the management fee rate can affect our revenue and net income significantly. The
transaction price, including management fee revenue and administrative services reimbursement revenue, includes variable
consideration and is allocated based on the estimated standalone selling prices developed using industry information and other
available information for similar services. We update the transaction price and the related allocation at least annually based
upon the most recent information available or more frequently if there have been significant changes in any components
considered in the transaction price. Our current transaction price allocation review resulted in a minor change in the allocation
between the two performance obligations in 2024 compared to prior years, which did not have a material impact on our
financial statements.

The following table presents the allocation and disaggregation of revenue for our two performance obligations:

Years ended December 31,
(dollars in thousands) 2024 % Change 2023 % Change 2022

Policy issuance and renewal services
Direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by

the Exchange $11,903,759 18.4 % $10,056,484 17.0 % $8,595,960
Management fee rate 24.40 % 24.30 % 24.30 %
Management fee revenue 2,904,517 18.9 2,443,726 17.0 2,088,818
Change in estimate for management fee returned

on cancelled policies (1) (10,443) NM (1,653) (70.0) (972)
Management fee revenue - policy issuance and

renewal services $ 2,894,074 18.5 % $ 2,442,073 17.0 % $2,087,846

Administrative services
Direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by

the Exchange $11,903,759 18.4 % $10,056,484 17.0 % $8,595,960
Management fee rate 0.60 % 0.70 % 0.70 %
Management fee revenue 71,423 1.5 70,395 17.0 60,172
Change in contract liability (2) (2,985) 55.4 (6,690) NM (1,865)
Change in estimate for management fee returned

on cancelled policies (1) (83) NM (36) NM 16
Management fee revenue - administrative services 68,355 7.4 63,669 9.2 58,323
Administrative services reimbursement revenue 806,336 9.4 737,139 10.3 668,268
Total revenue from administrative services $ 874,691 9.2 % $ 800,808 10.2 % $ 726,591

NM = not meaningful

(1) A constraining estimate of variable consideration exists related to the potential for management fees to be returned if a policy were to be cancelled
mid-term. Management fees are returned to the Exchange when policies are cancelled mid-term and unearned premiums are refunded.

(2) Management fee revenue - administrative services is recognized over time as the services are provided. See Item 8. "Financial Statements - Note 3,
Revenue, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" contained within this report.
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Direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange
Direct and affiliated assumed premiums include premiums written directly by the Exchange and premiums assumed from its
wholly owned property and casualty subsidiaries. Direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange increased
18.4% to $11.9 billion in 2024, from $10.1 billion in 2023, primarily driven by increased personal lines and commercial multi-
peril premiums written. Year-over-year policies in force for all lines of business increased 4.8% in 2024 as a result of
continued strong policyholder retention, compared to 6.9% in 2023. The year-over-year average premium per policy for all
lines of business increased 13.4% at December 31, 2024 compared to 9.4% at December 31, 2023.

Premiums generated from new business increased 14.2% to $1.7 billion in 2024. While year-over-year average premium per
policy on new business increased 16.6% at December 31, 2024, new business policies written decreased 2.1% in 2024.
Premiums generated from new business increased 37.9% to $1.5 billion in 2023. New business policies written increased
23.7% in 2023 and year-over-year average premium per policy on new business increased 11.5% at December 31, 2023.

Premiums generated from renewal business increased 19.1% to $10.2 billion in 2024, and increased 13.9% to $8.5 billion, in
2023. Underlying the trend in renewal business premiums in both periods were increases in year-over-year average premium
per policy of 12.9% at December 31, 2024 and 9.0% at December 31, 2023, as well as an increase in year-over-year policies in
force of 6.0% and 4.5% in 2024 and 2023, respectively.

The Exchange implements rate changes in order to meet loss cost expectations. In 2022 and continuing through 2024, the
Exchange implemented rate increases primarily as a result of inflation-driven severity increases. As the Exchange writes
policies almost exclusively with annual terms, premium rate actions take 12 months to be fully recognized in written premium
and 24 months to be recognized in earned premiums. Since rate changes are realized at renewal, it takes 12 months to
implement a rate change to all policyholders and another 12 months to earn the increased or decreased premiums in full. As a
result, certain rate changes approved in 2023 were reflected in 2024, and a portion of the premium rate actions approved in
2024 will be reflected in 2025. Furthermore, the Exchange writes certain personal auto policies with a rate locking feature,
which generally extends the amount of time it takes for premium rate actions to be recognized related to these policies. The
Exchange continuously evaluates pricing and product offerings to meet consumer demands.

Personal lines – Total personal lines premiums written increased 20.0% to $8.5 billion in 2024, from $7.1 billion in 2023,
driven by a 15.1% increase in total personal lines year-over-year average premium per policy and a 4.8% increase in total
personal lines policies in force. Total personal lines year-over-year average premium per policy increased 10.5% at
December 31, 2023 and policies in force increased 7.4% in 2023.

Commercial lines – Total commercial lines premiums written increased 14.5% to $3.4 billion in 2024, from $3.0 billion in
2023, driven by a 9.4% increase in the total commercial lines year-over-year average premium per policy and a 4.6% increase
in total commercial lines policies in force. Total commercial lines premiums written increased 13.0% in 2023, compared to
2022, driven by a 9.5% increase in the total commercial lines year-over-year average premium per policy and a 3.2% increase
in total commercial lines policies in force.

Future trends-premium revenue – Through a careful agency selection and monitoring process, the Exchange plans to continue
efforts to utilize its agency force to increase market penetration in existing operating territories to contribute to future growth.

Changes in premium levels attributable to the growth in policies in force directly affect the profitability of the Exchange and
have a direct bearing on our management fee. Our continued focus on underwriting discipline and the maturing of pricing
sophistication models have contributed to the Exchange's steady policy retention ratios. The continued growth of its policy
base is dependent upon the Exchange's ability to retain existing and attract new subscribers (policyholders). A lack of new
policy growth or the inability to retain existing customers could have an adverse effect on the Exchange's premium level
growth, and consequently our management fee.

Changes in premium levels attributable to rate changes also directly affect the profitability of the Exchange and have a direct
bearing on our management fee. Pricing actions contemplated or taken by the Exchange are subject to various regulatory
requirements of the states in which it operates. The pricing actions already implemented, or to be implemented, have an effect
on the market competitiveness of the Exchange's insurance products. Such pricing actions, and those of the Exchange's
competitors, could affect the ability of the Exchange's agents to retain and attract new business. We expect the Exchange's
pricing actions in 2024 to result in an increase in direct written premiums in 2025; however, exposure reductions and/or
changes in mix of business as a result of economic conditions could impact the average direct and affiliated assumed premium
written by the Exchange, as customers may reduce coverages.
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Policy issuance and renewal services

Years ended December 31,
(dollars in thousands) 2024 % Change 2023 % Change 2022

Management fee revenue - policy issuance and
renewal services $2,894,074 18.5 % $2,442,073 17.0 % $2,087,846

Service agreement revenue 26,350 1.1 26,059 1.4 25,687
2,920,424 18.3 2,468,132 16.8 2,113,533

Cost of operations - policy issuance and renewal
services 2,312,324 15.0 2,011,545 12.0 1,795,642
Operating income - policy issuance and renewal

services $ 608,100 33.2 % $ 456,587 43.6 % $ 317,891

Policy issuance and renewal services
The management fee revenue allocated for providing policy issuance and renewal services was 24.40% of the direct and
affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange in 2024 and 24.30% in both 2023 and 2022. This portion of the
management fee is recognized as revenue when the policy is issued or renewed because it is at that time that the services we
provide are substantially complete and the executed insurance policy is transferred to the customer. The increase in
management fee revenue for policy issuance and renewal services was driven by the increase in the direct and affiliated
assumed premiums written by the Exchange discussed previously.

Service agreement revenue
Service agreement revenue primarily consists of service charges we collect from subscribers (policyholders) for providing
multiple payment plans on policies written by the Exchange and its property and casualty subsidiaries and also includes late
payment and policy reinstatement fees. The service charges are fixed dollar amounts per billed installment. Service agreement
revenue also includes fees received from the Exchange for the use of shared office space.

Cost of policy issuance and renewal services

Years ended December 31,
(dollars in thousands) 2024 % Change 2023 % Change 2022

Commissions:
Total commissions $1,601,401 18.8 % $1,348,530 14.3 % $1,179,569

Non-commission expense:
Underwriting and policy processing $ 199,485 10.2 % $ 181,003 5.5 % $ 171,625
Information technology 215,488 (0.6) 216,746 9.4 198,157
Sales and advertising 66,480 12.9 58,905 (1.8) 60,000
Customer service 43,045 25.2 34,391 0.2 34,333
Administrative and other 186,425 8.4 171,970 13.2 151,958
Total non-commission expense 710,923 7.2 663,015 7.6 616,073
Total cost of operations - policy issuance and

renewal services $2,312,324 15.0 % $2,011,545 12.0 % $1,795,642

Commissions – Commissions increased $252.9 million in 2024 compared to 2023, primarily driven by the growth in direct and
affiliated assumed written premium. Commissions increased $169.0 million in 2023 compared to 2022, primarily driven by the
growth in direct and affiliated assumed written premium, partially offset by a decrease in agent incentive compensation. The
profitability component of agent incentive compensation decreased due to higher claims severity and related loss costs in the
three-year period ended 2023 compared to the three-year period ended 2022.

Non-commission expense – Non-commission expense increased $47.9 million in 2024 compared to 2023. Underwriting and
policy processing expense increased $18.5 million primarily due to increased underwriting report and personnel costs.
Information technology costs decreased $1.3 million primarily due to a decrease in professional fees and personnel costs,
partially offset by an increase in hardware and software costs. Sales and advertising expense increased $7.6 million primarily
due to increased agent-related costs and costs from community development initiatives. Customer service costs increased $8.7
million primarily due to increased personnel costs and credit card processing fees. Administrative and other costs increased
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$14.5 million primarily due to increased personnel costs, charitable contributions and professional fees. Personnel costs in
2024 were impacted by increased compensation.

In 2023, non-commission expense increased $46.9 million compared to 2022. Underwriting and policy processing expense
increased $9.4 million primarily due to policies in force growth. Information technology costs increased $18.6 million
primarily due to increased professional fees, personnel costs, and hardware and software costs. Administrative and other costs
increased $20.0 million primarily due to an increase in personnel costs. Personnel costs in 2023 were impacted by increased
compensation including higher estimated costs for incentive plan awards, partially offset by lower pension costs due to an
increase in the discount rate compared to 2022. Increases in incentive plan costs were driven by improved direct written
premium and policies in force growth and Indemnity's higher stock price at year-end 2023 compared to 2022.

Administrative services

Years ended December 31,
(dollars in thousands) 2024 % Change 2023 % Change 2022

Management fee revenue - administrative services $ 68,355 7.4 % $ 63,669 9.2 % $ 58,323
Administrative services reimbursement revenue 806,336 9.4 737,139 10.3 668,268
Total revenue allocated to administrative services 874,691 9.2 800,808 10.2 726,591
Administrative services expenses

Claims handling services 690,662 8.8 635,043 10.1 576,799
Investment management services 34,889 (0.2) 34,958 (5.0) 36,795
Life management services 80,785 20.3 67,138 22.8 54,674

Operating income - administrative services $ 68,355 7.4 % $ 63,669 9.2 % $ 58,323

Administrative services
The management fee revenue allocated to administrative services was 0.60% of the direct and affiliated assumed premiums
written by the Exchange in 2024 and 0.70% in both 2023 and 2022. This portion of the management fee is recognized as
revenue over a four-year period representing the time over which the services are provided. We also report reimbursed costs as
revenues, which are recognized monthly as services are provided. The administrative services expenses we incur and the
related reimbursements we receive are recorded gross in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Cost of administrative services
Consistent with its legal structure as a reciprocal insurer, the Exchange does not have any employees or officers. Therefore, it
enters into contractual relationships by and through the subscribers' attorney-in-fact. Indemnity serves as the attorney-in-fact on
behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange with respect to its administrative services as enumerated in the subscriber's agreement.
The Exchange's insurance subsidiaries also utilize Indemnity for these services in accordance with the service agreements
between each of the subsidiaries and Indemnity. The subscriber's agreement and service agreements provide for reimbursement
of amounts incurred for these services to Indemnity. Reimbursements due from the Exchange and its insurance subsidiaries are
recorded as a receivable and settled at cost.
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Total investment income
A summary of the results of our investment operations is as follows for the years ended December 31:

(dollars in thousands) 2024 % Change 2023 % Change 2022
Net investment income $ 70,155 57.4 % $ 44,572 55.9 % $ 28,585
Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) 3,229 NM (5,838) 78.6 (27,286)
Net impairment losses recognized in earnings (4,124) 57.8 (9,766) NM (667)

Total investment income $ 69,260 NM % $ 28,968 NM % $ 632

NM = not meaningful

Net investment income
Net investment income includes interest and dividends on our fixed maturity and equity security portfolios and the results of
our limited partnership investments, net of investment expenses. Net investment income increased $25.6 million in 2024,
compared to 2023, primarily due to improved results of limited partnership investments and an increase in bond and cash and
cash equivalent income as a result of higher bond yields and average holdings. Net investment income increased $16.0 million
in 2023, compared to 2022, primarily due to an increase in bond and cash and cash equivalent income as a result of higher
yields and increased rates. Net investment income includes limited partnership earnings of $2.0 million in 2024 compared to
limited partnership losses of $11.3 million and $10.4 million in 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses)
A breakdown of our net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) is as follows for the years ended December 31:

(in thousands) 2024 2023 2022
Securities sold:

Available-for-sale securities $ (1,620) $ (6,719) $ (14,050)
Equity securities 1,213 (2,328) (1,866)

Change in fair value on remaining equity securities 3,635 3,199 (11,372)
Miscellaneous 1 10 2

Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) $ 3,229 $ (5,838) $ (27,286)

Net realized and unrealized gains of $3.2 million in 2024 were primarily due to favorable market value adjustments and gains
on disposals of equity securities, partially offset by losses on disposals of available-for-sale securities. Net realized and
unrealized losses of $5.8 million in 2023 were primarily due to disposals of available-for-sale and equity securities, partially
offset by market value adjustment gains on equity securities, while losses of $27.3 million in 2022 were primarily due to
disposals of available-for-sale securities and market value adjustments on equity securities.

Net impairment losses recognized in earnings
Net impairment losses of $4.1 million in 2024 primarily include current expected credit losses on held-to-maturity securities
and other loans receivable. Impairment losses of $9.8 million in 2023 primarily include current expected credit losses on other
loans receivable and intent to sell impairments on available-for-sale securities. Net impairment losses of $0.7 million in 2022
include both credit-related and intent to sell impairments on available-for-sale securities. See "Other assets" in Item 8.
"Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note 2, Significant Accounting Policies, of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements" for additional information on other loans receivable and held-to-maturity securities.
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Financial Condition of Erie Insurance Exchange
Serving in the capacity of attorney-in-fact for the subscribers at the Exchange, we are dependent on the growth and financial
condition of the Exchange, who is our sole customer. The strength of the Exchange and its wholly owned subsidiaries is rated
annually by A.M. Best through assessing its financial stability and ability to pay claims. The ratings are generally based upon
factors relevant to policyholders and are not directed toward return to investors. The Exchange and each of its property and
casualty insurance subsidiaries are rated A+ "Superior", the second highest financial strength rating, which is assigned to
companies that have achieved superior overall performance when compared to the standards established by A.M. Best and have
a superior ability to meet obligations to policyholders over the long term. As of December 31, 2024, only approximately 13%
of insurance groups, in which the Exchange is included, are rated A+ or higher. On August 8, 2024, while our A+ "Superior"
rating was reaffirmed, the financial strength rating outlook was revised from stable to negative. The outlook was primarily
driven by the Exchange’s recent profitability challenges from rising loss cost pressures and increased weather-related activity,
and the related surplus impact. The outlook acknowledged that while actions have been implemented to address the challenges,
the timing lag related to the most significant action, rate increases, could result in interim challenges until such time as the rate
increases are earned and the full beneficial impact is realized.

The financial statements of the Exchange are prepared in accordance with statutory accounting principles prescribed by the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. Financial statements prepared under statutory accounting principles focus on the solvency of
the insurer and generally provide a more conservative approach than under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
Statutory direct written premiums of the Exchange and its wholly owned property and casualty insurance subsidiaries grew
18.4% to $11.9 billion in 2024 from $10.1 billion in 2023. These premiums, along with investment income, are the major
sources of cash that support the operations of the Exchange. Policyholders' surplus, determined under statutory accounting
principles, was $9.3 billion at both December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023. The Exchange and its wholly owned property
and casualty insurance subsidiaries' year-over-year policy retention ratio continues to be high at 90.4% at December 31, 2024
and 91.2% at December 31, 2023.

We have prepared our consolidated financial statements considering the financial strength of the Exchange based on its A.M.
Best rating and strong level of surplus. See Part I, Item 1A. "Risk Factors" for possible outcomes that could impact that
determination.
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FINANCIAL CONDITION

Investments
Our investment portfolio is managed with the objective of maximizing after-tax returns on a risk-adjusted basis. The following
table presents the carrying value of our investments as of December 31:

(dollars in thousands) 2024
% to
total 2023

% to
total

Available-for-sale securities (1) $ 1,043,615 83 % $ 961,241 85 %
Equity securities 85,891 7 84,253 7
Agent loans (2) 92,731 7 67,787 6
Other investments (3) 29,610 3 23,026 2

Total investments $ 1,251,847 100 % $ 1,136,307 100 %

(1) This includes $7.3 million of securities lent under a securities lending agreement.
(2) The current portion of agent loans is included in the line item "Prepaid expenses and other current assets, net" in the Consolidated Statements of

Financial Position.
(3) The current and long-term portions of other investments are included in the line items "Prepaid expenses and other current assets, net" and "Other

assets, net", respectively, in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position.

We continually review our investment portfolio for impairment and determine whether the impairment is a result of credit loss
or other factors. We analyze all positions with an emphasis on those in a significant unrealized loss position. If we have the
intent to sell or it's more likely than not that we would be required to sell the security before recovery of the amortized cost
basis, the entire impairment is recognized in earnings. Factors considered in the evaluation of credit loss include the extent to
which fair value is less than cost and fundamental factors specific to the issuer such as financial condition, changes in credit
ratings, near and long-term business prospects and other factors, as well as the likelihood of recovery of the amortized cost of
the security. Impairment resulting from credit loss is recognized in earnings with a corresponding allowance on the
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. We believe our investment valuation philosophy and accounting practices result
in appropriate and timely measurement of fair value and recognition of impairment.

Available-for-sale securities
Under our investment strategy, we maintain an available-for-sale portfolio that is of high quality and well diversified within
each market sector. This investment strategy also achieves a balanced maturity schedule. Our available-for-sale portfolio is
managed with the goal of achieving reasonable returns while limiting exposure to risk.

Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value with unrealized gains and losses, net of deferred taxes, included in
shareholders' equity. Net unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities, net of deferred taxes, totaled $17.6 million at
December 31, 2024, compared to $24.7 million at December 31, 2023. Our evaluation of deferred tax assets and the need for a
valuation allowance included available tax planning strategies that could be implemented, if necessary, to support the
realizability of deferred tax assets. We believe those tax strategies are feasible and prudent.
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The following table presents a breakdown of the fair value of our available-for-sale portfolio by industry sector and rating as of
December 31, 2024: (1)

(in thousands) AAA AA A BBB

Non-
investment

grade
Fair

value
Basic materials $ 0 $ 0 $ 961 $ 2,156 $ 8,809 $ 11,926
Communications 0 5,967 12,615 14,030 11,882 44,494
Consumer 0 1,976 32,822 63,195 42,072 140,065
Diversified 0 0 0 0 679 679
Energy 0 849 5,720 17,003 14,326 37,898
Financial 0 6,303 103,826 134,849 20,307 265,285
Industrial 0 0 5,367 18,315 27,943 51,625
Structured securities (2) 163,273 183,706 28,095 17,146 844 393,064
Technology 1,941 0 0 19,389 14,202 35,532
Utilities 0 0 11,022 40,907 11,118 63,047

Total $ 165,214 $ 198,801 $ 200,428 $ 326,990 $ 152,182 $1,043,615

(1) Ratings are supplied by S&P, Moody’s, and Fitch . The table is based upon the lowest rating for each security.
(2) Structured securities include residential and commercial mortgage-backed securities, collateralized debt obligations, and asset-backed securities.

Equity securities
Equity securities primarily include nonredeemable preferred stocks and are carried at fair value in the Consolidated Statements
of Financial Position with all changes in unrealized gains and losses reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The following table presents an analysis of the fair value of our equity securities by sector as of December 31:

(in thousands) 2024 2023
Financial services $ 69,930 $ 69,900
Utilities 5,629 5,810
Energy 4,117 3,901
Consumer 3,341 3,915
Technology 1,974 500
Industrial 0 180
Communications 900 47

Total $ 85,891 $ 84,253

Shareholders' Equity
Postretirement benefit plans
The funded status of our postretirement benefit plans is recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position, with a
corresponding adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax. At December 31, 2024, shareholders'
equity amounts related to these postretirement plans decreased by $41.3 million, net of tax, of which $5.2 million primarily
represents amortization of net actuarial gain and $36.1 million primarily represents the current period actuarial loss. The 2024
actuarial loss was driven primarily by the lower than expected return on plan assets, partially offset by the higher discount rate
used to measure the future benefit obligations. At December 31, 2023, shareholders' equity amounts related to these
postretirement plans decreased by $33.8 million, net of tax, of which $11.0 million represents amortization of the prior service
cost and net actuarial gain and $22.8 million primarily represents the current period actuarial loss. The 2023 actuarial loss was
driven by the lower discount rate used to measure the future benefit obligations, partially offset by higher than expected return
on plan assets. Although we are the sponsor of these postretirement plans and record the funded status of these plans, there are
reimbursements between us and the Exchange and its insurance subsidiaries for their allocated share of pension income or cost.
See Item 8. "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note 10, Postretirement Benefits, of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements" contained within this report for additional details on these reimbursements.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We continue to monitor the sufficiency of our liquidity and capital resources given the potential impact of current economic
conditions, including the uncertain inflationary and interest rate environment. While we did not see a significant impact on our
sources or uses of cash in 2024, future market disruptions could occur which may affect our liquidity position. If our normal
operating and investing cash activities were to become insufficient to meet future funding requirements, we believe we have
sufficient access to liquidity through our cash position, diverse liquid marketable securities, and our $100 million bank
revolving line of credit that does not expire until November 1, 2029. See broader discussions of potential risks to our
operations in Operating Overview and Part I, Item 1A. "Risk Factors" contained within this report.

Sources and Uses of Cash
Liquidity is a measure of a company's ability to generate sufficient cash flows to meet the short- and long-term cash
requirements of its business operations and growth needs. Our liquidity requirements have been met primarily by funds
generated from management fee revenue and income from investments. Cash provided from these sources is used primarily to
fund the costs of our management operations including commissions, salaries and wages, pension plans, share repurchases,
dividends to shareholders, the purchase and development of information technology, and other capital expenditures. We expect
that our operating cash needs will be met by funds generated from operations. Cash in excess of our operating needs is
primarily invested in investment grade fixed maturities. As part of our liquidity review, we regularly evaluate our capital needs
based on current and projected results and consider the potential impacts to our liquidity, borrowing capacity, financial
covenants and capital availability.

We have certain obligations and commitments to make future payments under various agreements. Cash requirements within
the next twelve months include accounts payable, accrued liabilities, and other current obligations.

Our long-term cash requirements under various contractual obligations and commitments include:

• Pension – We have a funded noncontributory defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all employees and an
unfunded SERP for certain members of executive and senior management. See Item 8. "Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data - Note 10, Postretirement Benefits, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" for the funding
policy and related contributions for our defined benefit pension plan, and accumulated benefit obligation for our
unfunded SERP.

• Deferred compensation – We have two deferred compensation plans for our executives, senior vice presidents and other
selected officers, and two deferred compensation plans for our outside directors. See Item 8. "Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data - Note 11, Incentive and Deferred Compensation Plans, of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements" for additional details of these obligations and estimated future payments.

• Home office renovations – We have agreements with external contracting firms for renovations to an office building that
is part of our principal headquarters. Remaining commitments related to the underlying contracts total $45.4 million at
December 31, 2024, of which over half is due in the next 12 months. Additional contracts will be executed as we begin
each new phase of the overall renovation project and will be funded using our working capital. See Item 8. "Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data - Note 8, Fixed Assets, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" for
additional details on construction in progress costs and expected completion date.

• Other commitments – We have commitments for approximately $460 million which include agreements for various
services, including information technology, support and maintenance obligations, operating leases for equipment,
vehicles and real estate, and other obligations in the ordinary course of business. We expect to make future cash
payments according to the contract terms. These agreements are enforceable and legally binding and specify fixed
amounts or minimum quantities to be purchased. Some agreements may contain cancellation provisions, some of which
may require us to pay a termination fee. Over half of these commitments are due in the next 12 months. We are
reimbursed from the Exchange and its insurance subsidiaries for the portion of these costs related to administrative
services.

We maintain relationships and cash balances at diversified and well-capitalized financial institutions and have established
processes to monitor them. We believe that our current cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities and cash generated
from operations will be sufficient to meet our current and future cash requirements.

Volatility in the financial markets presents challenges to us as we occasionally access our investment portfolio as a source of
cash. Some of our fixed income investments, despite being publicly traded, may be illiquid. Additionally, if we require
significant amounts of cash on short notice in excess of anticipated cash requirements, or if we are required to return cash
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collateral in connection with our securities lending program, we may have difficulty selling investments in a timely manner, or
be forced to sell at deep discounts. We believe we have sufficient liquidity to meet our needs from sources other than the
liquidation of securities.

Cash flow activities
The following table provides condensed cash flow information for the years ended December 31:

(in thousands) 2024 2023 2022
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 611,249 $ 381,205 $ 366,152
Net cash used in investing activities (226,912) (157,565) (106,922)
Net cash used in financing activities (229,995) (221,675) (300,842)

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 154,342 $ 1,965 $ (41,612)

Net cash provided by operating activities was $611.2 million in 2024, compared to $381.2 million in 2023 and $366.2 million
in 2022. Increased cash provided by operating activities in 2024, compared to 2023, was primarily due to an increase in
management fees received of $478.2 million driven by growth in direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the
Exchange, a decrease in pension and employee benefits paid of $59.0 million due to lower pension contributions, and a
decrease in incentive compensation paid to agents of $25.3 million. Pension contributions totaled $33.0 million in 2024
compared to $95.0 million in 2023. This was partially offset by increases in cash paid for agent commissions of $243.3 million
driven by premium growth and income taxes paid of $55.5 million. Increased cash provided by operating activities in 2023,
compared to 2022, was primarily due to an increase in management fees received of $319.2 million driven by growth in direct
and affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange. This was partially offset by increases in cash paid for agent
commissions of $157.9 million driven by premium growth, pension and employee benefits paid of $101.3 million primarily due
to higher pension contributions, and general operating expenses paid of $30.3 million primarily driven by higher information
technology-related professional fees and hardware and software costs.

Net cash used in investing activities was $226.9 million in 2024, compared to $157.6 million in 2023 and $106.9 million in
2022. In 2024, 2023 and 2022, net cash used in investing activities was primarily driven by fixed asset purchases of $124.8
million, $92.6 million and $67.2 million, respectively, mostly related to software and home office renovations. Additionally,
purchases of investments exceeded proceeds generated from sales and maturities/calls of investments in all periods, while 2024
and 2023 also included loans issued to fund real estate development projects supporting revitalization efforts in our community.

Net cash used in financing activities was $230.0 million in 2024, compared to $221.7 million in 2023 and $300.8 million in
2022 primarily due to dividends paid to shareholders. While we increased both our Class A and Class B shareholder regular
quarterly dividends by 7.1% in 2024 and 7.2% in 2023, the change in net cash used related to financing activities in 2023
compared to 2022 was primarily due to the repayment of the remaining $93.2 million balance on the term loan in 2022.

Capital Outlook
We regularly prepare forecasts evaluating the current and future cash requirements for both normal and extreme risk events,
including under current inflationary conditions and a higher interest rate environment. Should an extreme risk event result in a
cash requirement exceeding normal cash flows, we have the ability to meet our future funding requirements through various
alternatives available to us.

Outside of our normal operating and investing cash activities, future funding requirements could be met through: 1) unrestricted
and unpledged cash and cash equivalents, which totaled approximately $271.0 million at December 31, 2024, 2) $100 million
available bank revolving line of credit, and 3) liquidation of unrestricted and unpledged assets held in our investment portfolio,
including equity securities and investment grade bonds, which totaled approximately $849.8 million at December 31, 2024.
Volatility in the financial markets could impair our ability to sell certain fixed income securities or cause such securities to sell
at deep discounts. Additionally, we have the ability to curtail or modify discretionary cash outlays such as those related to
shareholder dividends and share repurchase activities. See Item 8. "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note
9, Bank Line of Credit, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" for additional information related to our bank revolving
line of credit.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have entered into certain contingent obligations for guarantees. See Item 8. "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
- Note 17, Commitments and Contingencies, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" for additional information. We do
not believe that these obligations will have a material current or future effect on our consolidated financial condition, results of
operations, or cash flows.
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Enterprise Risk Management
The role of our Enterprise Risk Management ("ERM") function is to ensure that all significant risks are clearly identified,
understood, proactively managed and consistently monitored to achieve strategic objectives for all stakeholders. Our ERM
program views risk holistically across all our companies and facilitates implementation of risk responses to mitigate potential
impacts. See Part I, Item 1A. "Risk Factors" contained in this report for a list of risk factors.

Our ERM process is founded on a governance framework that includes oversight at multiple levels of our organization,
including our Board of Directors and executive management. Accountability to identify, manage, and mitigate risk is
embedded within all functions and areas of our business. We establish risk tolerance ranges to monitor and manage significant
risks. In addition to identifying, evaluating, prioritizing, monitoring, and mitigating significant risks, our ERM process includes
extreme event analyses and scenario testing. Given our defined tolerance for risk, risk model output is used to quantify the
potential variability of future performance and the sufficiency of capital and liquidity levels.

TRANSACTIONS/AGREEMENTS WITH RELATED PARTIES

Board Oversight
Our Board of Directors has a broad oversight responsibility over our intercompany relationships with the Exchange. Thus, our
Board of Directors may be required to make decisions or take actions that may benefit subscribers at the Exchange and the
overall health of the Exchange. These actions may ultimately benefit our shareholders.

Insurance Holding Company System
Most states have enacted legislation that regulates insurance holding company systems, defined as two or more affiliated
persons, one or more of which is an insurer. The Exchange has the following wholly owned property and casualty insurance
subsidiaries: Erie Insurance Company, Erie Insurance Company of New York, Erie Insurance Property & Casualty Company
and Flagship City Insurance Company, and a wholly owned life insurance company, Erie Family Life Insurance Company.
Indemnity and the Exchange, and its wholly owned subsidiaries, meet the definition of an insurance holding company system.

Transactions within a holding company system affecting the member insurers of the holding company system must be fair and
reasonable and any charges or fees for services performed must be reasonable. Approval by the applicable insurance
commissioner is required prior to the consummation of certain transactions affecting the members within a holding company
system.

Intercompany Agreements
Subscriber's and services agreements
We serve as attorney-in-fact for the subscribers at the Exchange, a reciprocal insurance exchange. Each applicant for insurance
to a reciprocal insurance exchange (a subscriber) signs a subscriber's agreement that contains an appointment of an attorney-in-
fact. Through the designation of attorney-in-fact, we are required to provide policy issuance and renewal services and act as the
attorney-in-fact for the subscribers at the Exchange with respect to all administrative services, as discussed previously. In
accordance with the subscriber's agreement, we retain a management fee for these services calculated as a percentage of the
direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange. Consistent with its legal structure as a reciprocal insurer, the
Exchange does not have any employees or officers. Therefore, it enters into contractual relationships by and through the
subscribers' attorney-in-fact. The Exchange's insurance subsidiaries also utilize Indemnity for all administrative services in
accordance with the service agreements between each of the subsidiaries and Indemnity. The subscriber's agreement and
service agreements provide for reimbursement of amounts incurred for these services to Indemnity. Reimbursements are settled
at cost on a monthly basis. State insurance regulations require that intercompany service agreements and any material
amendments be approved in advance by the state insurance department.

Shared facilities
The Exchange and its insurance subsidiaries have a service agreement with Indemnity to use space in Indemnity-owned
properties. See Item 8. "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note 15, Related Party, of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements" for additional details.

Cost Allocation
The allocation of costs affects our consolidated financial condition and that of the Exchange and its wholly owned insurance
subsidiaries. Management's role is to determine that allocations are consistently made in accordance with the subscriber's
agreement with the subscribers at the Exchange, intercompany service agreements, and applicable insurance laws and
regulations. Allocation of costs under these various agreements requires judgment and interpretation by Indemnity, and such
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allocations are performed using a consistent methodology, which is intended to adhere to the terms and intentions of the
underlying agreements.

Intercompany Receivables
We have significant receivables from the Exchange and its affiliates that result in a concentration of credit risk. Net receivables
from the Exchange and other affiliates were $707.1 million, or 24.5% of total assets, at December 31, 2024 and $625.3 million,
or 25.3% of total assets, at December 31, 2023. These receivables include management fees due for policy issuance and
renewal services performed by us under the subscriber's agreement, and certain costs we incur acting as the attorney-in-fact on
behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange as well as the service provider for the Exchange's insurance subsidiaries with respect
to all administrative services, as discussed previously. These receivables from the Exchange and other affiliates are settled
monthly. We continually monitor the financial strength of the Exchange.

Other Loans Receivable
In 2023, we issued two senior secured loans totaling $13.6 million to fund a real estate development project supporting
revitalization efforts in our community. Ownership in the project includes related party and unrelated investors. See Item 8.
"Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note 15, Related Party, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" for
additional details.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market Risk
Market risk is the risk of loss arising from adverse changes in interest rates, credit spreads, equity prices, or foreign exchange
rates, as well as other relevant market rate or price changes. The volatility and liquidity in the markets in which the underlying
assets are traded directly influence market risk. The following is a discussion of our primary risk exposures, including interest
rate risk, investment credit risk, concentration risk, liquidity risk, and equity price risk, and how those exposures are currently
managed as of December 31, 2024.

Interest Rate Risk
We invest primarily in fixed maturity investments, which comprised 84% of our invested assets at December 31, 2024. The
value of the fixed maturity portfolio is subject to interest rate risk. As market interest rates decrease, the value of the portfolio
increases with the opposite holding true in rising interest rate environments. We do not hedge our exposure to interest rate risk.
A common measure of the interest sensitivity of fixed maturity assets is effective duration, a calculation that utilizes maturity,
coupon rate, yield, and call terms to calculate an expected change in fair value given a change in interest rates. The longer the
duration, the more sensitive the asset is to market interest rate fluctuations. Duration is analyzed at least quarterly to ensure that
it remains in the targeted range.

A sensitivity analysis is used to measure the potential loss in future earnings, fair values, or cash flows of interest-sensitive
instruments resulting from one or more selected hypothetical changes in interest rates and other market rates or prices over a
selected period. The following pro forma information is presented assuming a 100-basis point parallel increase in interest rates
across the yield curve at December 31 of each year and reflects the estimated effect on the fair value of our fixed maturity
portfolio.

(dollars in thousands) 2024 2023
Fair value of fixed maturity portfolio $ 1,048,549 $ 961,241
Fair value assuming 100-basis point rise in interest rates $ 1,018,957 $ 935,444
Effective duration (as a percentage) 2.9 2.7
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While the fixed maturity portfolio is sensitive to interest rates, the future principal cash flows that will be received by
contractual maturity date are presented below at December 31, 2024. Actual cash flows may differ from those stated as a result
of calls, prepayments, or defaults.

(in thousands)

Year ending December 31, Future Principal Cash Flows
2025 $ 45,052
2026 75,391
2027 130,135
2028 131,000
2029 123,003
Thereafter 572,918
Total $ 1,077,499
Fair value $ 1,048,549

Investment Credit Risk
Our objective is to earn competitive returns by investing in a diversified portfolio of securities. Our portfolios of fixed maturity
securities, equity securities and, to a lesser extent, short-term investments are subject to credit risk. This risk is defined as the
potential loss in fair value resulting from adverse changes in the borrower's ability to repay the debt. We manage this risk by
performing upfront underwriting analysis and ongoing reviews of credit quality by position and for the portfolio in total. We do
not hedge the credit risk inherent in our fixed maturity and equity securities investments.

Generally, the fixed maturities in our portfolio are rated by external rating agencies. If not externally rated, we rate them
internally on a basis consistent with that used by the rating agencies. We classify the vast majority of our fixed maturities as
available-for-sale securities, allowing us to meet our liquidity needs and provide greater flexibility to appropriately respond to
changes in market conditions.

The following tables show our fixed maturity investments by rating (1):

At December 31, 2024
(dollars in thousands) Amortized cost Fair value Percent of total
AAA, AA, A $ 584,600 $ 564,443 54 %
BBB 328,561 326,990 31

Total investment grade 913,161 891,433 85
BB 71,000 70,845 7
B 68,944 69,068 6
CCC, CC, C, and below 17,684 17,203 2

Total non-investment grade 157,628 157,116 15
Total $ 1,070,789 $ 1,048,549 100 %

At December 31, 2023
(dollars in thousands) Amortized cost Fair value Percent of total
AAA, AA, A $ 537,751 $ 515,175 54 %
BBB 324,538 318,362 33

Total investment grade 862,289 833,537 87
BB 51,564 50,170 5
B 65,453 65,251 7
CCC, CC, C, and below 13,247 12,283 1

Total non-investment grade 130,264 127,704 13
Total $ 992,553 $ 961,241 100 %

(1) Ratings are supplied by S&P, Moody's, and Fitch with the exception of held-to-maturity securities, which are unrated. The table is based upon the
lowest rating for each security.
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We are also exposed to a concentration of credit risk with the Exchange. See the "Transactions/Agreements with Related
Parties, Intercompany Receivables" section of Item 7. "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations" contained within this report for further discussion of this risk.

Concentration Risk
While our portfolio is well diversified within each market sector, there is an inherent risk of concentration in a particular
industry or sector. We continually monitor our level of exposure to individual issuers as well as our allocation to each industry
and market sector against internally established policies. See the "Financial Condition" section of Item 7. "Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" contained within this report for details of
investment holdings by sector.

Liquidity Risk
Periods of volatility in the financial markets can create conditions where fixed maturity investments, despite being publicly
traded, can become illiquid. However, we actively manage the maturity profile of our fixed maturity portfolio such that
scheduled repayments of principal occur on a regular basis.

Equity Price Risk
Our portfolio of equity securities, which primarily includes nonredeemable preferred stock, is carried on the Consolidated
Statements of Financial Position at estimated fair value. Equity securities are exposed to the risk of potential loss in estimated
fair value resulting from an adverse change in prices ("price risk"). We do not hedge our exposure to price risk inherent in our
equity investments.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Erie Indemnity Company

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position of Erie Indemnity Company (the Company) as
of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity
and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively referred to
as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(2013 framework), and our report dated February 27, 2025 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to
error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
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Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that
was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that
are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The
communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken
as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit
matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Cost of Operations - administrative services

Description of
the Matter

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company’s cost of operations – administrative
services totaled $806.3 million. As explained in Note 2 of the consolidated financial
statements, the Company serves as the attorney-in-fact on behalf of the subscribers at the Erie
Insurance Exchange (Exchange) with respect to its administrative services as enumerated in
the subscriber’s agreement. The Exchange’s insurance subsidiaries also utilize the Company
for these services in accordance with the service agreements between the subsidiaries and the
Company. Certain administrative services costs, which include costs associated with claims
handling services, life insurance management services, investment management, and
operating overhead incurred by the Company on behalf of the Exchange and its insurance
subsidiaries, are reimbursed to the Company at cost and recorded as administrative services
reimbursement revenue, based on the nature of the cost or relevant utilization statistic.

Auditing management’s cost of operations – administrative services was complex due to the
multiple costs that are allocated for reimbursement, the extensiveness of the allocation
process, and the degree of auditor judgement needed to design the nature and extent of audit
procedures required to address the matter.

How We
Addressed the
Matter in Our
Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of
controls over the Company’s cost of operations – administrative services process. This
included, among others, testing controls over the determination of the utilization statistics and
ultimate allocation of costs to the Exchange and its insurance subsidiaries.

To test the Company’s cost of operations – administrative services, our procedures included,
among others, evaluating that the costs included in the allocations are in accordance with the
subscriber’s agreement and the service agreements with the Exchange and its insurance
subsidiaries. We tested the completeness of the costs subjected to allocation by agreeing the
costs recorded in the general ledger to the cost allocation calculation. We performed a test of
details over a sample of cost allocations for accuracy.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2003.

Indianapolis, Indiana
February 27, 2025
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ERIE INDEMNITY COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

2024 2023 2022
Operating revenue

Management fee revenue - policy issuance and renewal services $ 2,894,074 $ 2,442,073 $ 2,087,846
Management fee revenue - administrative services 68,355 63,669 58,323
Administrative services reimbursement revenue 806,336 737,139 668,268
Service agreement revenue 26,350 26,059 25,687
Total operating revenue 3,795,115 3,268,940 2,840,124

Operating expenses
Cost of operations - policy issuance and renewal services 2,312,324 2,011,545 1,795,642
Cost of operations - administrative services 806,336 737,139 668,268
Total operating expenses 3,118,660 2,748,684 2,463,910

Operating income 676,455 520,256 376,214

Investment income
Net investment income 70,155 44,572 28,585
Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) 3,229 (5,838) (27,286)
Net impairment losses recognized in earnings (4,124) (9,766) (667)

Total investment income 69,260 28,968 632

Interest expense, net — — 2,009
Other income 11,564 12,712 1,615
Income before income taxes 757,279 561,936 376,452
Income tax expense 156,965 115,875 77,883

Net income $ 600,314 $ 446,061 $ 298,569

Earnings Per Share
Net income per share

Class A common stock – basic $ 12.89 $ 9.58 $ 6.41
Class A common stock – diluted $ 11.48 $ 8.53 $ 5.71
Class B common stock – basic $ 1,934 $ 1,437 $ 962
Class B common stock – diluted $ 1,933 $ 1,437 $ 962

Weighted average shares outstanding – Basic
Class A common stock 46,189,044 46,188,981 46,188,916
Class B common stock 2,542 2,542 2,542

Weighted average shares outstanding – Diluted
Class A common stock 52,306,266 52,299,411 52,297,990
Class B common stock 2,542 2,542 2,542

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. See Note 14, "Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
(Loss)", for amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) into the Consolidated Statements of
Operations.
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ERIE INDEMNITY COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022
(in thousands)

2024 2023 2022
Net income $ 600,314 $ 446,061 $ 298,569

Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax
Change in unrealized holding gains (losses) on available-for-sale

securities 7,079 27,784 (58,692)
Pension and other postretirement plans (41,270) (33,770) 76,566

Total other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax (34,191) (5,986) 17,874
Comprehensive income $ 566,123 $ 440,075 $ 316,443

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. See Note 14, "Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
(Loss)", for amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) into the Consolidated Statements of
Operations.
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ERIE INDEMNITY COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

At December 31, 2024 and 2023
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

2024 2023
Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents (includes restricted cash of $23,559 and $12,542, respectively) $ 298,397 $ 144,055
Available-for-sale securities 44,604 82,017
Receivables from Erie Insurance Exchange and affiliates, net 707,060 625,338
Prepaid expenses and other current assets, net 83,902 69,321
Accrued investment income 11,069 9,458

Total current assets 1,145,032 930,189

Available-for-sale securities, net 991,726 879,224
Available-for-sale securities lent 7,285 —
Equity securities 85,891 84,253
Fixed assets, net 513,494 442,610
Agent loans, net 80,597 58,434
Defined benefit pension plan 21,311 34,320
Other assets, net 43,278 42,934

Total assets $ 2,888,614 $ 2,471,964

Liabilities and shareholders' equity
Current liabilities:

Commissions payable $ 408,309 $ 353,709
Agent incentive compensation 75,458 68,077
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 190,028 175,622
Dividends payable 63,569 59,377
Contract liability 42,761 41,210
Deferred executive compensation 14,874 10,982
Securities lending payable 7,513 —

Total current liabilities 802,512 708,977

Defined benefit pension plan 28,070 26,260
Contract liability 21,170 19,910
Deferred executive compensation 19,721 20,936
Deferred income taxes, net 6,418 11,481
Other long-term liabilities 23,465 21,565

Total liabilities 901,356 809,129

Shareholders' equity
Class A common stock, stated value $0.0292 per share; 74,996,930 shares authorized;

68,299,200 shares issued; 46,189,068 shares outstanding 1,992 1,992
Class B common stock, convertible at a rate of 2,400 Class A shares for one Class B share,

stated value $70 per share; 3,070 shares authorized; 2,542 shares issued and outstanding 178 178
Additional paid-in-capital 16,466 16,466
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (47,591) (13,400)
Retained earnings 3,162,303 2,803,689

Total contributed capital and retained earnings 3,133,348 2,808,925
Treasury stock, at cost; 22,110,132 shares held (1,169,074) (1,169,165)
Deferred compensation 22,984 23,075

Total shareholders' equity 1,987,258 1,662,835
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $ 2,888,614 $ 2,471,964

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ERIE INDEMNITY COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Class A
common

stock

Class B
common

stock

Additional
paid-in-
capital

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
(loss) income

Retained
earnings Treasury stock

Deferred
compensation

Total
shareholders'

equity
Balance, December 31, 2021 $ 1,992 $ 178 $ 16,496 $ (25,288) $ 2,495,190 $ (1,167,828) $ 21,738 $ 1,342,478
Net income 298,569 298,569
Other comprehensive income 17,874 17,874
Dividends declared:

Class A $4.52 per share (208,775) (208,775)
Class B $678.00 per share (1,723) (1,723)

Net purchase of treasury stock (1) (15) 0 (15)
Deferred compensation (2,975) 2,975 0
Rabbi trust distribution (2) 1,854 (1,854) 0
Balance, December 31, 2022 $ 1,992 $ 178 $ 16,481 $ (7,414) $ 2,583,261 $ (1,168,949) $ 22,859 $ 1,448,408
Net income 446,061 446,061
Other comprehensive loss (5,986) (5,986)
Dividends declared:

Class A $4.845 per share (223,786) (223,786)
Class B $726.75 per share (1,847) (1,847)

Net purchase of treasury stock (1) (15) 0 (15)
Deferred compensation (2,228) 2,228 0
Rabbi trust distribution (2) 2,012 (2,012) 0
Balance, December 31, 2023 $ 1,992 $ 178 $ 16,466 $ (13,400) $ 2,803,689 $ (1,169,165) $ 23,075 $ 1,662,835
Net income 600,314 600,314
Other comprehensive loss (34,191) (34,191)
Dividends declared:

Class A $5.19 per share (239,721) (239,721)
Class B $778.50 per share (1,979) (1,979)

Net purchase of treasury stock (1) 0 0 0
Deferred compensation (2,156) 2,156 0
Rabbi trust distribution (2) 2,247 (2,247) 0
Balance, December 31, 2024 $ 1,992 $ 178 $ 16,466 $ (47,591) $ 3,162,303 $ (1,169,074) $ 22,984 $ 1,987,258

(1) Net purchases of treasury stock in 2022, 2023 and 2024 include the repurchase of our Class A common stock in the open market that were subsequently distributed to satisfy
stock-based compensation awards. See Note 11, "Incentive and Deferred Compensation Plans".

(2) Distributions of our Class A shares were made from the rabbi trust to four incentive compensation deferral plan participants in 2022 and five incentive compensation plan
deferral plan participants in both 2023 and 2024. See Note 11, "Incentive and Deferred Compensation Plans".

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ERIE INDEMNITY COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022
(in thousands)

2024 2023 2022
Cash flows from operating activities

Management fee received $ 2,898,367 $ 2,420,192 $ 2,100,989
Administrative services reimbursements received 776,150 721,928 668,857
Service agreement revenue received 26,346 26,018 25,515
Net investment income received 67,643 57,448 40,161
Commissions paid to agents (1,443,296) (1,200,014) (1,042,158)
Incentive compensation paid to agents (94,864) (120,211) (136,403)
Salaries and wages paid (249,137) (226,036) (208,575)
Pension contribution and employee benefits paid (110,764) (169,762) (68,433)
General operating expenses paid (308,273) (293,857) (263,524)
Administrative services expenses paid (791,050) (730,129) (667,524)
Income taxes paid (159,873) (104,372) (80,619)
Interest paid — — (2,134)

Net cash provided by operating activities 611,249 381,205 366,152

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of investments:

Available-for-sale securities (473,647) (279,999) (465,071)
Equity securities (32,799) (35,480) (18,929)
Other investments (7,075) (88) (157)

Proceeds from investments:
Available-for-sale securities sales 205,159 160,614 295,996
Available-for-sale securities maturities/calls 196,641 76,617 130,401
Equity securities 35,894 24,458 20,456
Other investments 54 871 429

Purchase of fixed assets (124,845) (92,647) (67,204)
Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets — — 265
Loans to agents and others (36,362) (20,525) (11,631)
Collections on agent loans 10,068 8,614 8,523

Net cash used in investing activities (226,912) (157,565) (106,922)

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid to shareholders (237,508) (221,675) (206,772)
Net changes in cash collateral for securities lent 7,513 — —
Proceeds from short-term borrowings — — 55,000
Payments on short-term borrowings — — (55,000)
Payments on long-term borrowings — — (94,070)

Net cash used in financing activities (229,995) (221,675) (300,842)

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 154,342 1,965 (41,612)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of year 144,055 142,090 183,702

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of year $ 298,397 $ 144,055 $ 142,090

Supplemental disclosure of noncash transactions
Liability incurred to purchase fixed assets $ 15,254 $ — $ 26,386
Operating lease assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities $ 7,871 $ 5,866 $ 7,650

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. See Note 18, "Supplementary Data on Cash Flows", for
additional supplemental cash flow information.
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ERIE INDEMNITY COMPANY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Nature of Operations

Erie Indemnity Company ("Indemnity", "we", "us", "our") is a publicly held Pennsylvania business corporation that has since
its incorporation in 1925 served as the attorney-in-fact for the subscribers (policyholders) at the Erie Insurance Exchange
("Exchange"). The Exchange, which also commenced business in 1925, is a Pennsylvania-domiciled reciprocal insurer that
writes property and casualty insurance.

Our primary function as attorney-in-fact is to perform policy issuance and renewal services on behalf of the subscribers at the
Exchange. We also act as attorney-in-fact on behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange with respect to all claims handling and
investment management services, as well as the service provider for all claims handling, life insurance, and investment
management services for the Exchange's insurance subsidiaries, collectively referred to as "administrative services". Acting as
attorney-in-fact in these two capacities is done in accordance with a subscriber's agreement (a limited power of attorney)
executed individually by each subscriber (policyholder), which appoints Indemnity as each subscriber's attorney-in-fact to
transact certain business on their behalf. In accordance with the subscriber's agreement for acting as attorney-in-fact in these
two capacities, we retain a management fee calculated as a percentage of the direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by
the Exchange.

The policy issuance and renewal services we provide on behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange are related to the sales,
underwriting and issuance of policies. The sales related services we provide include agent compensation and certain sales and
advertising support services. Agent compensation includes scheduled commissions to agents based upon premiums written as
well as incentive compensation, which is earned by achieving targeted measures. Agent compensation comprised
approximately 69% of our 2024 policy issuance and renewal expenses. The underwriting services we provide include
underwriting and policy processing and comprised approximately 9% of our 2024 policy issuance and renewal expenses. The
remaining services we provide include customer service and administrative support. We also provide information technology
services that support all the functions listed above that comprised approximately 9% of our 2024 policy issuance and renewal
expenses. Included in these expenses are allocations of costs for departments that support these policy issuance and renewal
functions.

Consistent with its legal structure as a reciprocal insurer, the Exchange does not have any employees or officers. Therefore, it
enters into contractual relationships by and through the subscribers' attorney-in-fact. Indemnity serves as the attorney-in-fact on
behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange with respect to its administrative services as enumerated in the subscriber's agreement.
The Exchange's insurance subsidiaries also utilize Indemnity for these services in accordance with the service agreements
between each of the subsidiaries and Indemnity. Claims handling services include costs incurred in the claims process,
including the adjustment, investigation, defense, recording and payment functions. Life insurance management services include
costs incurred in the management and processing of life insurance business. Investment management services are related to
investment trading activity, accounting and all other functions attributable to the investment of funds. Included in these
expenses are allocations of costs for departments that support these administrative functions. The subscriber's agreement and
service agreements provide for reimbursement of amounts incurred for these services to Indemnity. Reimbursements are settled
at cost. State insurance regulations require that intercompany service agreements and any material amendments be approved in
advance by the state insurance department.

Our results of operations are tied to the growth and financial condition of the Exchange. If any events occurred that impaired
the Exchange’s ability to grow or sustain its financial condition, including but not limited to reduced financial strength ratings,
disruption in the independent agency relationships, significant catastrophe losses or products not meeting customer demands,
the Exchange could find it more difficult to retain its existing business and attract new business. A decline in the business of
the Exchange almost certainly could have as a consequence a decline in the total premiums paid and a correspondingly adverse
effect on the amount of the management fees we receive. We also have an exposure to a concentration of credit risk related to
the unsecured receivables due from the Exchange for net management fee and other reimbursements. See Note 16,
"Concentrations of Credit Risk".
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Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles ("GAAP") and include the accounts of Indemnity and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and
transactions have been eliminated.

Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

Recently adopted accounting standards
We adopted Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2023-07, "Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable
Segment Disclosures", effective with the annual reporting period ending December 31, 2024. We applied the guidance
retrospectively to prior periods presented in the consolidated financial statements based on the significant segment expense
categories identified and disclosed in the period of adoption. As an entity with a single reportable segment, we disclose
significant segment expenses that are regularly provided to our chief operating decision maker and included within each
reported period of profit or loss, and all applicable disclosures required by Topic 280. The adoption of this guidance had no
impact on our consolidated financial statements. The additional disclosures required by this guidance have been included in
Note 4, "Segment Information".

Recently issued accounting standards and disclosure rules
In December 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued ASU 2023-09, "Income Taxes (Topic 740):
Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures", which requires entities to disclose specific categories in an effective tax rate
reconciliation, additional information for reconciling items that meet a quantitative threshold, and certain information about
income taxes paid. The amendments in this ASU are required to be adopted for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2024. Early adoption is permitted. The amendments can be applied on either a prospective or retrospective basis. We plan to
adopt the standard in our consolidated financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2025, and we expect the standard
will impact certain of our income tax disclosures.

In March 2024, the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") adopted final rules under SEC Release No. 33-11275, "The
Enhancement and Standardization of Climate-Related Disclosures for Investors", requiring registrants to disclose certain
climate-related information in registration statements and annual reports. The final rules include disclosure of climate-related
risks that are reasonably likely to have a material impact on a registrant’s business, results of operations or financial condition.
Disclosures related to significant effects of severe weather events and other natural conditions and amounts related to carbon
offsets and renewable energy credits or certificates are required in the financial statements in certain circumstances. Disclosure
requirements will phase in for fiscal years beginning in 2025 and be applied prospectively upon adoption. On April 4, 2024, the
SEC determined to voluntarily stay the final rules pending ongoing litigation.

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, "Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income - Expense
Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses", which requires entities to
disclose disaggregated information about certain income statement expense line items. The amendments in this ASU are
required to be adopted for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2027. Early adoption is permitted. The amendments can be applied on either a prospective or retrospective
basis. This will have no impact on our consolidated financial statements, and we are currently evaluating the impact of
adoption on our disclosures.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash, money market accounts and other short-term, highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less at the date
of purchase, are considered cash and cash equivalents.

Restricted cash – Restricted cash represents deposits held for the benefit of third parties related primarily to our agent loan
participation program. These restricted funds are invested in bank deposits, contractually restricted as to withdrawal or usage,
and included with "Cash and cash equivalents" in our Consolidated Statements of Financial Position.
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Investments
Available-for-sale securities – Fixed maturity debt securities and redeemable preferred stock are classified as available-for-sale
and reported at fair value with unrealized investment gains and losses, net of income taxes, recognized in other comprehensive
income. Available-for-sale securities with a remaining maturity of 12 months or less and any security that we intend to sell as
of the reporting date are classified as current assets.

Available-for-sale securities in an unrealized loss position are evaluated to determine whether the impairment is a result of
credit loss or other factors. If we have the intent to sell or it's more likely than not that we would be required to sell the security
before recovery of the amortized cost basis, the entire impairment is recognized in earnings. Securities that have experienced a
decline in fair value that we do not intend to sell, and that we will not be required to sell before recovery, are evaluated to
determine if the decline in fair value is credit related. Impairment resulting from a credit loss is recognized in earnings with a
corresponding allowance on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. Future recoveries of credit loss result in an
adjustment to the allowance and earnings in the period the credit conditions improve. Factors considered in the evaluation of
credit loss include the extent to which fair value is less than cost and fundamental factors specific to the issuer such as financial
condition, changes in credit ratings, near and long-term business prospects and other factors, as well as the likelihood of
recovery of the amortized cost of the security. If the qualitative review indicates credit impairment, the allowance for credit
loss is measured as the amount that the security’s amortized cost exceeds the present value of cash flows expected to be
collected and is limited to the amount that fair value is below amortized cost.

Equity securities – Equity securities primarily include non-redeemable preferred stocks that are reported at fair value with
changes in the fair value recognized in net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses). Securities that we intend to sell as
of the reporting date are classified as current assets.

Realized gains and losses and investment income – Realized gains and losses on sales of available-for-sale and equity securities
are recognized in income based upon the specific identification method and reported in net realized and unrealized investment
gains (losses). Interest income is recognized as earned and includes amortization of premium and accretion of discount.
Income is recognized based on the constant effective yield method, which includes periodically updated prepayment
assumptions obtained from third party data sources on our prepaying securities. The effective yield for prepaying securities is
recalculated on a retrospective basis. Dividend income is recognized at the ex-dividend date. Interest and dividend income and
the results of our limited partnership investments are reported as net investment income. We do not record an allowance for
credit losses on accrued investment income on our available-for-sale securities as any amount deemed uncollectible is reversed
from interest income in the period the expected payment defaults.

Securities lending – Beginning in May 2024 we entered into securities lending transactions, managed by a third-party banking
institution, whereby securities are loaned to unaffiliated financial institutions for short periods of time. The securities lending
activity is accounted for as a secured borrowing and therefore the securities loaned, primarily available-for-sale securities, are
carried as invested assets on our Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, while the obligation to return the cash collateral
is recorded as a current liability. The cash collateral received at the inception of the loan is reinvested and the related income is
recognized in net investment income. Noncash collateral is not recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, as
we do not have the right to sell, repledge, or otherwise reinvest the noncash collateral.

The collateral is required to equal a minimum of 102% of the estimated fair value of the securities loaned, and maintained at a
level greater than or equal to 100% for the duration of the loan. We monitor the ratio of the collateral held to the estimated fair
value of the securities loaned on a daily basis and obtain additional collateral as necessary. A securities lending transaction may
be terminated at any time by the borrower or the lender. If terminated, we would repay our securities lending obligations from
the sale of reinvested collateral or the proceeds of sales from our investment portfolio, which includes liquid securities.

Deferred taxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded for temporary differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and the
reported amounts in the consolidated financial statements, using the statutory tax rates in effect for the year in which the
differences are expected to settle or be realized. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is
recognized in the results of operations in the period that includes the enactment date under the law. The need for valuation
allowances on deferred tax assets are estimated based upon our assessment of the realizability of such amounts.

Fixed assets
Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Fixed assets are primarily comprised of
software, which includes internally used capitalized software and development costs, as well as buildings and building
improvements, equipment, furniture and fixtures, and leasehold improvements. Assets in use are depreciated using the straight-
line method over the estimated useful life except for leasehold improvements, which are depreciated over the shorter of their
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economic useful life or the lease term. Software is depreciated over periods ranging from 3-7 years, buildings and building
improvements are depreciated over 20-45 years, equipment is depreciated over 3-10 years, and furniture and fixtures are
depreciated over 7 years. We review long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes indicate that the carrying
value may not be recoverable. Under these circumstances, if the fair value were less than the carrying amount of the asset, we
would recognize a loss for the difference.

Agent loans
Agent loans, the majority of which are senior secured, are carried at unpaid principal balance net of a current expected credit
loss allowance with interest recorded in investment income as earned. The allowance is estimated using available loss history
and/or external loss rates based on comparable loan losses and considers current market conditions and forecasted information.
Changes to the allowance are recognized in earnings as adjustments to net impairment recoveries (losses). Any current portion
of agent loans is recorded in prepaid expenses and other current assets.

Other assets
Other assets primarily include limited partnership investments, other loans receivable, held-to-maturity securities, operating
lease assets and other long-term prepaid assets. Limited partnership investments are recorded using the equity method of
accounting. Other loans receivable and held-to-maturity securities include investments to fund real estate development projects
supporting revitalization efforts in our community. The loans are carried at unpaid principal balance, including any paid-in-
kind interest capitalized as additional principal, if applicable, net of a current expected credit loss allowance. Any current
portion of other loans receivable is recorded in prepaid expenses and other current assets. Held-to-maturity securities are
carried at amortized cost, net of a current expected credit loss allowance. The allowances are calculated using the estimated
value of, and priority rights to, collateral in the event of default or external loss rates based on comparable losses, and considers
current market conditions and forecasted information. Changes to the allowances are recognized in earnings as adjustments to
net impairment recoveries (losses) or other income (expense) depending on the nature of the asset. Interest on other loans
receivable and held-to-maturity securities is recorded primarily in investment income as earned.

Agent incentive compensation liability
Our more significant agent incentive compensation plan is based upon an individual agency's property and casualty
underwriting profitability and also includes a component for growth in agency property and casualty premiums if the agency's
underwriting profitability targets for the book of business are met. The estimated liability for this agent incentive compensation
plan is based upon the performance over 36 months, and is modeled on a monthly basis using actual underwriting results for the
two prior years and current year-to-date actual results and forecasted results for the remainder of the year. Our second agent
incentive compensation plan is based on an agency's one-year underwriting profitability and uses a similar model but considers
actual and forecasted results for a calendar year only. At December 31 of each year, we use actual data available and record an
accrual based upon the expected payment amount. These costs are included in cost of operations - policy issuance and renewal
services.

Recognition of management fee revenue
We retain management fees from the Exchange under the subscriber’s agreement for services provided. In accordance with the
subscriber’s agreement, we may retain up to 25% of all direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange. The
management fee rate is set at least annually by our Board of Directors. The management fee revenue is calculated by
multiplying the management fee rate by the direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange and is allocated
between the two performance obligations we have under the subscriber's agreement. The first performance obligation is to
provide policy issuance and renewal services. The second performance obligation is acting as the attorney-in-fact with respect
to various administrative services as enumerated in the subscriber's agreement.

Management fee revenue allocated to the policy issuance and renewal services is recognized at the time of policy issuance or
renewal, because it is at the time of policy issuance or renewal when the economic benefit of the service we provide (the
substantially completed policy issuance or renewal service) and the control of the promised asset (the executed insurance
policy) transfers to the customer.

Management fee revenue allocated to the second performance obligation relates to us acting as the attorney-in-fact on behalf of
the subscribers at the Exchange, as well as the service provider for the Exchange's insurance subsidiaries, with respect to the
administrative services and is recognized over a four-year period representing the time over which the economic benefit of the
services provided (i.e. management of the administrative services) transfers to the customer.

Administrative services
Consistent with its legal structure as a reciprocal insurer, the Exchange does not have any employees or officers. Therefore, it
enters into contractual relationships by and through the subscribers' attorney-in-fact. Indemnity serves as the attorney-in-fact on
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behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange with respect to its administrative services as enumerated in the subscriber's agreement.
The Exchange's insurance subsidiaries also utilize Indemnity for these services in accordance with the service agreements
between each of the subsidiaries and Indemnity. Claims handling services include costs incurred in the claims process,
including the adjustment, investigation, defense, recording and payment functions. Life insurance management services include
costs incurred in the management and processing of life insurance business. Investment management services are related to
investment trading activity, accounting and all other functions attributable to the investment of funds. Common overhead
expenses and certain service department costs incurred by us on behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange and its insurance
subsidiaries are reimbursed by the proper entity based upon relevant utilization statistics specifically measured to accomplish
proportional allocations, which we believe are reasonable. In 2024, approximately 70% of the administrative services expenses
were entirely attributable to the respective administrative functions (claims handling, life insurance management and investment
management), while the remaining 30% of these expenses were allocations of costs for departments that support these
administrative functions. The expenses we incur and related reimbursements we receive for administrative services are
presented gross in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. The subscriber's agreement and service agreements provide for
reimbursement of amounts incurred for these services to Indemnity. Reimbursements are settled at cost on a monthly basis.
State insurance regulations require that intercompany service agreements and any material amendments be approved in advance
by the state insurance department.

Recognition of service agreement revenue
Service agreement revenue primarily consists of service charges we collect from subscribers (policyholders) for providing
multiple payment plans on policies written by the Exchange and its property and casualty subsidiaries. Service charges, which
are fixed dollar charges for each installment billed beyond the first installment, are recognized as revenue when bills are
rendered to the policyholder. Service agreement revenue also includes late payment and policy reinstatement fees, which are
also recognized as revenue when bills are rendered to the policyholder. We also have a service agreement with the Exchange
for the use of shared office space. Revenue related to this agreement is recognized at the time the space is used based on
relevant utilization statistics.
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Note 3. Revenue

The majority of our revenue is derived from the subscriber’s agreement between us and the subscribers (policyholders) at the
Exchange. In accordance with the subscriber’s agreement, we retain a management fee calculated as a percentage, not to
exceed 25%, of all direct and affiliated assumed written premiums of the Exchange. We allocate a portion of our management
fee revenue, currently 25% of the direct and affiliated assumed written premiums of the Exchange, between the two
performance obligations we have under the subscriber’s agreement. The first performance obligation is to provide policy
issuance and renewal services to the subscribers (policyholders) at the Exchange, and the second is to act as attorney-in-fact on
behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange, as well as the service provider for the Exchange's insurance subsidiaries, with respect
to all administrative services.

The transaction price, including management fee revenue and administrative services reimbursement revenue, includes variable
consideration and is allocated based on the estimated standalone selling prices developed using industry information and other
available information for similar services. A constraining estimate of variable consideration exists related to the potential for
management fees to be returned if a policy were to be cancelled mid-term. Management fees are returned to the Exchange
when policyholders cancel their insurance coverage mid-term and premiums are refunded to them. The constraining estimate is
determined using the expected value method, based on both historical and current information. The estimated transaction price,
as reduced by the constraint, reflects consideration expected for performance of our services. We update the transaction price
and the related allocation at least annually based upon the most recent information available or more frequently if there have
been significant changes in any components considered in the transaction price.

The first performance obligation is to provide policy issuance and renewal services that result in executed insurance policies
between the Exchange or one of its insurance subsidiaries and the subscriber (policyholder). The subscriber (policyholder)
receives economic benefits when substantially all the policy issuance or renewal services are complete and an insurance policy
is issued or renewed by the Exchange or one of its insurance subsidiaries. It is at the time of policy issuance or renewal that the
allocated portion of revenue is recognized.

Consistent with its legal structure as a reciprocal insurer, the Exchange does not have any employees or officers. Therefore, it
enters into contractual relationships by and through the subscribers' attorney-in-fact. Indemnity serves as the attorney-in-fact on
behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange with respect to its administrative services as enumerated in the subscriber's agreement.
The Exchange's insurance subsidiaries also utilize Indemnity for these services in accordance with the service agreements
between each of the subsidiaries and Indemnity. Collectively, these services represent a second performance obligation under
the subscriber’s agreement and the service agreements. The revenue allocated to this performance obligation is recognized over
a four-year period representing the time over which these services are provided. The portion of revenue not yet earned is
recorded as a contract liability in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. For the years ended December 31, 2024,
2023, and 2022, we recognized revenue of $41.2 million, $36.5 million, and $34.9 million, respectively, that was included in
the contract liability balance at the beginning of the respective periods. The administrative services expenses we incur and the
related reimbursements we receive are recorded gross in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Indemnity records a receivable from the Exchange for management fee revenue when the premium is written or assumed from
affiliates by the Exchange. Indemnity collects the management fee from the Exchange when the Exchange collects the
premiums from the subscribers (policyholders). As the Exchange issues policies almost exclusively with annual terms, cash
collections generally occur within one year.

The following table disaggregates revenue by our two performance obligations for the years ended December 31:

(in thousands) 2024 2023 2022
Management fee revenue - policy issuance and renewal services $ 2,894,074 $ 2,442,073 $ 2,087,846

Management fee revenue - administrative services 68,355 63,669 58,323
Administrative services reimbursement revenue 806,336 737,139 668,268

Total revenue from administrative services $ 874,691 $ 800,808 $ 726,591
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Note 4. Segment Information

We have one reportable segment: management operations. All segment revenue is derived in the United States, the majority of
which is from the subscriber’s agreement between us and the subscribers (policyholders) at the Exchange, our sole customer, as
further described in Note 3, "Revenue". Our chief operating decision maker ("CODM") is our Executive Council, which
includes our Chief Executive Officer ("CEO"), Chief Financial Officer, executive vice presidents and certain senior vice
presidents reporting directly to the CEO as applicable. The CODM assesses performance for the management operations
segment and decides how to allocate resources based on net income, as reported in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Net income is used to monitor budget versus actual results. Total assets as reported in our Consolidated Statements of Financial
Position, all of which are located in the United States, are reviewed by the CODM for purposes of decision making. The
accounting policies of our management operations segment are the same as those described in Note 2, "Significant Accounting
Policies".

The following table presents our management operations segment revenue, significant segment expenses regularly provided to
the CODM and net income for the years ended December 31:

(in thousands) 2024 2023 2022
Management fee revenue $ 2,962,429 $ 2,505,742 $ 2,146,169
Administrative services reimbursement revenue 806,336 737,139 668,268
Service agreement revenue 26,350 26,059 25,687

Total operating revenue 3,795,115 3,268,940 2,840,124

Commissions 1,601,401 1,348,530 1,179,569
Underwriting and policy processing 199,485 181,003 171,625
Information technology 215,488 216,746 198,157
Sales and advertising 66,480 58,905 60,000
Customer service 43,045 34,391 34,333
Administrative and other 186,425 171,970 151,958

Cost of operations - policy issuance and renewal services 2,312,324 2,011,545 1,795,642
Cost of operations - administrative services 806,336 737,139 668,268

Total operating expenses (1) 3,118,660 2,748,684 2,463,910
Operating income 676,455 520,256 376,214

Total investment income 69,260 28,968 632
Interest expense, net — — 2,009
Other income 11,564 12,712 1,615
Income tax expense 156,965 115,875 77,883

Net income $ 600,314 $ 446,061 $ 298,569

(1) See Note 8, "Fixed Assets", for management operations segment depreciation and amortization expense included in "Total operating
expenses", as reported on our Consolidated Statements of Operations. See our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for segment
expenditures on fixed asset additions.
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Note 5. Earnings Per Share

Class A and Class B basic earnings per share and Class B diluted earnings per share are calculated under the two-class method.
The two-class method allocates earnings to each class of stock based upon its dividend rights. Class B shares are convertible
into Class A shares at a conversion ratio of 2,400 to 1. See Note 13, "Capital Stock".

Class A diluted earnings per share are calculated under the if-converted method, which reflects the conversion of Class B shares
to Class A shares. Diluted earnings per share calculations include the dilutive effect of assumed issuance of stock-based awards
under compensation plans that have the option to be paid in stock using the treasury stock method. See Note 11, "Incentive and
Deferred Compensation Plans".

A reconciliation of the numerators and denominators used in the basic and diluted per-share computations is presented as
follows for each class of common stock:

(dollars in thousands,
except per share data) For the years ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Allocated

net income
(numerator)

Weighted
shares

(denominator)

Per-
share

amount

Allocated
net income
(numerator)

Weighted
shares

(denominator)

Per-
share

amount

Allocated
net income
(numerator)

Weighted
shares

(denominator)

Per-
share

amount
Class A – Basic EPS:
Income available to

Class A stockholders $ 595,399 46,189,044 $ 12.89 $ 442,409 46,188,981 $ 9.58 $ 296,125 46,188,916 $ 6.41
Dilutive effect of stock-

based awards 0 16,422 — 0 9,630 — 0 8,274 —
Assumed conversion of

Class B shares 4,915 6,100,800 — 3,652 6,100,800 — 2,444 6,100,800 —
Class A – Diluted EPS:
Income available to Class

A stockholders on
Class A equivalent
shares $ 600,314 52,306,266 $ 11.48 $ 446,061 52,299,411 $ 8.53 $ 298,569 52,297,990 $ 5.71

Class B – Basic EPS:
Income available to Class

B stockholders $ 4,915 2,542 $ 1,934 $ 3,652 2,542 $ 1,437 $ 2,444 2,542 $ 962
Class B – Diluted EPS:
Income available to Class

B stockholders $ 4,914 2,542 $ 1,933 $ 3,652 2,542 $ 1,437 $ 2,444 2,542 $ 962

53



Note 6. Fair Value

Financial instruments carried at fair value
Our available-for-sale and equity securities are recorded at fair value, which is the price that would be received to sell the asset
in an orderly transaction between willing market participants as of the measurement date.

Valuation techniques used to derive the fair value of our available-for-sale and equity securities are based upon observable and
unobservable inputs. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources. Unobservable inputs reflect
our own assumptions regarding fair market value for these securities. Financial instruments are categorized based upon the
following characteristics or inputs to the valuation techniques:

• Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the reporting entity can
access at the measurement date.

• Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly.

• Level 3 – Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Estimates of fair values for our investment portfolio are obtained primarily from a nationally recognized pricing service. Our
Level 1 securities are valued using an exchange traded price provided by the pricing service. Pricing service valuations for
Level 2 securities include multiple verifiable, observable inputs including benchmark yields, reported trades, broker/dealer
quotes, issuer spreads, two-sided markets, benchmark securities, bids, offers, and reference data. Pricing service valuations for
Level 3 securities are based upon proprietary models and are used when observable inputs are not available or in illiquid
markets.

Although virtually all of our prices are obtained from third party sources, we also perform internal pricing reviews, including
evaluating the methodology and inputs used to ensure that we determine the proper classification level of the financial
instrument and reviewing securities with price changes that vary significantly from current market conditions or independent
price sources. Price variances are investigated and corroborated by market data and transaction volumes. We have reviewed
the pricing methodologies of our pricing service as well as other observable inputs and believe that the prices adequately
consider market activity in determining fair value.

In limited circumstances we adjust the price received from the pricing service when, in our judgment, a better reflection of fair
value is available based upon corroborating information and our knowledge and monitoring of market conditions such as a
disparity in price of comparable securities and/or non-binding broker quotes. In other circumstances, certain securities are
internally priced because prices are not provided by the pricing service.

When a price from the pricing service is not available, values are determined by obtaining broker/dealer quotes and/or market
comparables. When available, we obtain multiple quotes for the same security. The ultimate value for these securities is
determined based upon our best estimate of fair value using corroborating market information. As of December 31, 2024,
nearly all of our available-for-sale and equity securities were priced using a third party pricing service.
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The following tables present our fair value measurements on a recurring basis by asset class and level of input as of:

December 31, 2024
(in thousands) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Available-for-sale securities:

Corporate debt securities (1) $ 643,943 $ 0 $ 637,675 $ 6,268
Collateralized debt obligations 114,127 0 114,127 0
Commercial mortgage-backed securities 124,982 0 100,893 24,089
Residential mortgage-backed securities 133,812 0 133,812 0
Other debt securities 26,751 0 26,751 0

Total available-for-sale securities 1,043,615 0 1,013,258 30,357
Equity securities:

Financial services sector 69,930 1,052 65,378 3,500
Utilities sector 5,629 0 5,629 0
Energy sector 4,117 0 4,117 0
Consumer sector 3,341 54 1,787 1,500
Technology sector 1,974 0 0 1,974
Communications sector 900 0 900 0

Total equity securities 85,891 1,106 77,811 6,974
Total $ 1,129,506 $ 1,106 $ 1,091,069 $ 37,331

(1) This includes $7.3 million of securities lent under a securities lending agreement.

December 31, 2023
(in thousands) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Available-for-sale securities:

Corporate debt securities $ 588,688 $ 0 $ 584,182 $ 4,506
Collateralized debt obligations 112,468 0 112,468 0
Commercial mortgage-backed securities 102,720 0 91,726 10,994
Residential mortgage-backed securities 140,055 0 138,521 1,534
Other debt securities 17,310 0 17,310 0

Total available-for-sale securities 961,241 0 944,207 17,034
Equity securities:

Financial services sector 69,900 816 63,750 5,334
Utilities sector 5,810 0 5,810 0
Energy sector 3,901 0 3,901 0
Consumer sector 3,915 0 2,415 1,500
Technology sector 500 0 0 500
Industrial sector 180 0 180 0
Communications sector 47 47 0 0

Total equity securities 84,253 863 76,056 7,334
Total $ 1,045,494 $ 863 $ 1,020,263 $ 24,368
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We review the fair value hierarchy classifications each reporting period. Transfers between hierarchy levels may occur due to
changes in available market observable inputs.

Level 3 Assets – 2024 Year-to-Date Change:

(in thousands)

Beginning
balance at

December 31,
2023

Included
in

earnings(1)

Included
in other

comprehensive
income (loss) Purchases Sales

Transfers
into

Level 3(2)

Transfers
out of

Level 3(2)

Ending
balance at

December 31,
2024

Available-for-sale securities:
Corporate debt securities $ 4,506 $ (129) $ 126 $ 6,708 $ (1,821) $ 8,379 $ (11,501) $ 6,268
Commercial mortgage-backed
securities 10,994 (1,519) 664 3,826 (1,571) 30,340 (18,645) 24,089
Residential mortgage-backed
securities 1,534 (5) (24) 0 (40) 0 (1,465) 0

Total available-for-sale securities 17,034 (1,653) 766 10,534 (3,432) 38,719 (31,611) 30,357
Equity securities 7,334 670 — 2,019 (84) 553 (3,518) 6,974
Total Level 3 securities $ 24,368 $ (983) $ 766 $ 12,553 $ (3,516) $ 39,272 $ (35,129) $ 37,331

Level 3 Assets – 2023 Year-to-Date Change:

(in thousands)

Beginning
balance at

December 31,
2022

Included
in

earnings(1)

Included
in other

comprehensive
income (loss) Purchases Sales

Transfers
into

Level 3(2)

Transfers
out of

Level 3(2)

Ending
balance at

December 31,
2023

Available-for-sale securities:
Corporate debt securities $ 3,686 $ 4 $ 314 $ 4,316 $ (1,536) $ 5,611 $ (7,889) $ 4,506
Commercial mortgage-backed
securities 10,910 (778) 311 2,575 (621) 5,373 (6,776) 10,994
Residential mortgage-backed
securities 4,184 (5) 96 0 (120) 1,567 (4,188) 1,534

Total available-for-sale securities 18,780 (779) 721 6,891 (2,277) 12,551 (18,853) 17,034
Equity securities 3,779 47 — 3,458 0 1,857 (1,807) 7,334
Total Level 3 securities $ 22,559 $ (732) $ 721 $ 10,349 $ (2,277) $ 14,408 $ (20,660) $ 24,368

(1) These amounts are reported as net investment income and net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) for each of the periods presented
above.

(2) Transfers into and/or (out) of Level 3 are primarily attributable to the availability of market observable information and the re-evaluation of the
observability of pricing inputs.

Financial instruments not carried at fair value
The following table presents the carrying values and fair values of financial instruments categorized as Level 3 in the fair value
hierarchy that are recorded at carrying value as of:

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
(in thousands) Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value
Agent loans, net (1) $ 92,731 $ 90,713 $ 67,787 $ 66,445
Other loans receivable, net (2) 11,555 11,555 10,713 10,713
Held-to-maturity securities, net (3) 4,833 4,934 — —

(1) The current portion of agent loans is included in the line item "Prepaid expenses and other current assets, net" in the Consolidated Statements of
Financial Position.

(2) The current and long-term portions of other loans receivable are included in the line items "Prepaid expenses and other current assets, net" and
"Other assets, net", respectively, in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position.

(3) Held-to-maturity securities are included in the line item "Other assets, net" in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position.
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Note 7. Investments

Fixed maturity securities
See Note 6, "Fair Value" for additional fair value disclosures. The following tables summarize the amortized cost and
estimated fair value, net of credit loss allowance, of our fixed maturity securities as of:

December 31, 2024

(in thousands)
Amortized

cost
Gross unrealized

gains
Gross unrealized

losses
Estimated fair

value
Available-for-sale securities:

Corporate debt securities (1) $ 647,861 $ 4,767 $ 8,685 $ 643,943
Collateralized debt obligations 114,142 372 387 114,127
Commercial mortgage-backed securities 126,509 1,458 2,985 124,982
Residential mortgage-backed securities 150,212 62 16,462 133,812
Other debt securities 27,232 147 628 26,751

Total available-for-sale securities, net 1,065,956 6,806 29,147 1,043,615
Held-to-maturity securities - states & political subdivisions 4,833 101 0 4,934
Total fixed maturity securities, net $ 1,070,789 $ 6,907 $ 29,147 $ 1,048,549

(1) This includes an estimated fair value of $7.3 million of securities lent under a securities lending agreement.

December 31, 2023

(in thousands)
Amortized

cost
Gross unrealized

gains
Gross unrealized

losses
Estimated fair

value
Available-for-sale securities:

Corporate debt securities $ 600,639 $ 4,594 $ 16,545 $ 588,688
Collateralized debt obligations 114,400 156 2,088 112,468
Commercial mortgage-backed securities 106,019 1,410 4,709 102,720
Residential mortgage-backed securities 153,633 69 13,647 140,055
Other debt securities 17,862 136 688 17,310

Total available-for-sale securities, net $ 992,553 $ 6,365 $ 37,677 $ 961,241

The amortized cost and estimated fair value of available-for-sale and held-to-maturity securities at December 31, 2024 are
shown below by remaining contractual term to maturity. Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities because
borrowers may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties.

December 31, 2024
Amortized Estimated

(in thousands) cost fair value
Available-for-sale securities:

Due in one year or less $ 45,052 $ 44,430
Due after one year through five years 454,563 451,762
Due after five years through ten years 186,208 185,333
Due after ten years 380,133 362,090

Total available-for-sale securities, net (1) (2) 1,065,956 1,043,615
Held-to-maturity securities - due after ten years 4,833 4,934
Total fixed maturity securities, net $ 1,070,789 $ 1,048,549

(1) The contractual maturities of our available-for-sale securities are included in the table. However, given our intent to sell certain impaired
securities, these securities are classified as current assets in our Consolidated Statement of Financial Position at December 31, 2024.

(2) This includes an estimated fair value of $7.3 million of securities lent under a securities lending agreement.
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The below securities have been evaluated for credit impairment using criteria described within Note 2, "Significant Accounting
Policies". The gross unrealized losses are primarily attributable to changes in interest rates and are not deemed to be credit-
related. We do not have the intent to sell these securities and it is more likely than not that we would not be required to sell
these securities before the anticipated recovery of the amortized cost basis.

The following tables present available-for-sale securities based on length of time in a gross unrealized loss position as of:

December 31, 2024
Less than 12 months 12 months or longer Total

(dollars in thousands)
Fair

value
Unrealized

losses
Fair

value
Unrealized

losses
Fair

value
Unrealized

losses
No. of

holdings
Corporate debt securities $ 197,619 $ 2,486 $ 156,059 $ 6,199 $ 353,678 $ 8,685 567
Collateralized debt obligations 33,686 71 11,762 316 45,448 387 77
Commercial mortgage-backed securities 28,333 407 24,966 2,578 53,299 2,985 131
Residential mortgage-backed securities 38,003 1,289 90,209 15,173 128,212 16,462 169
Other debt securities 11,663 150 5,045 478 16,708 628 42

Total available-for-sale securities $ 309,304 $ 4,403 $ 288,041 $ 24,744 $ 597,345 $ 29,147 986
Quality breakdown of available-for-sale
securities:
Investment grade $ 280,332 $ 3,701 $ 260,480 $ 22,664 $ 540,812 $ 26,365 616
Non-investment grade 28,972 702 27,561 2,080 56,533 2,782 370

Total available-for-sale securities $ 309,304 $ 4,403 $ 288,041 $ 24,744 $ 597,345 $ 29,147 986

December 31, 2023
Less than 12 months 12 months or longer Total

(dollars in thousands)
Fair

value
Unrealized

losses
Fair

value
Unrealized

losses
Fair

value
Unrealized

losses
No. of

holdings
Corporate debt securities $ 50,853 $ 546 $ 338,322 $ 15,999 $ 389,175 $ 16,545 590
Collateralized debt obligations 3,911 15 87,005 2,073 90,916 2,088 142
Commercial mortgage-backed securities 9,148 157 30,145 4,552 39,293 4,709 108
Residential mortgage-backed securities 30,271 297 101,761 13,350 132,032 13,647 164
Other debt securities 2,084 62 7,475 626 9,559 688 32

Total available-for-sale securities $ 96,267 $ 1,077 $ 564,708 $ 36,600 $ 660,975 $ 37,677 1,036
Quality breakdown of available-for-sale
securities:
Investment grade $ 87,774 $ 807 $ 517,090 $ 32,511 $ 604,864 $ 33,318 651
Non-investment grade 8,493 270 47,618 4,089 56,111 4,359 385

Total available-for-sale securities $ 96,267 $ 1,077 $ 564,708 $ 36,600 $ 660,975 $ 37,677 1,036

Credit loss allowances
The following tables present a roll-forward of the allowances for credit losses on investments for the years ended December 31:

2024

(in thousands)
Available-for-sale

securities
Held-to-maturity

securities
Other loans
receivable Agent loans

Balance, beginning of period $ 597 $ 0 $ 11,081 $ 957
Provision and recoveries 484 2,167 1,117 355
Sales/collections and write-offs (568) 0 0 0

Balance, end of period $ 513 $ 2,167 $ 12,198 $ 1,312

2023

(in thousands)
Available-for-sale

securities
Held-to-maturity

securities
Other loans
receivable Agent loans

Balance, beginning of period $ 249 $ — $ 3,775 $ 957
Provision and recoveries 670 — 7,404 0
Sales/collections and write-offs (322) — (98) 0

Balance, end of period $ 597 $ — $ 11,081 $ 957
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Net investment income
Investment income (loss), net of expenses, was generated from the following portfolios for the years ended December 31:

(in thousands) 2024 2023 2022
Available-for-sale securities $ 49,605 $ 42,563 $ 31,913
Equity securities 4,758 4,493 3,904
Limited partnerships (1) 1,971 (11,308) (10,446)
Cash equivalents and other 15,461 9,179 4,510

Total investment income 71,795 44,927 29,881
Less: investment expenses 1,640 355 1,296

Net investment income $ 70,155 $ 44,572 $ 28,585

(1) Limited partnership income (losses) include both realized gains (losses) and unrealized valuation changes. Our limited partnership investments are
included in the line item "Other assets, net" in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. We have made no new significant limited
partnership commitments since 2006, and the balance of limited partnership investments is expected to decline over time as additional distributions
are received.

Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses)
Realized and unrealized gains (losses) on investments were as follows for the years ended December 31:

(in thousands) 2024 2023 2022
Available-for-sale securities:

Gross realized gains $ 3,415 $ 804 $ 1,169
Gross realized losses (5,035) (7,523) (15,219)

Net realized losses on available-for-sale securities (1,620) (6,719) (14,050)
Equity securities 4,848 871 (13,238)
Miscellaneous 1 10 2

Net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses) $ 3,229 $ (5,838) $ (27,286)

The portion of net unrealized gains (losses) recognized during the reporting period related to equity securities held at the
reporting date is calculated as follows for the years ended December 31:

(in thousands) 2024 2023 2022
Equity securities:
Net gains (losses) recognized during the period $ 4,848 $ 871 $ (13,238)
Less: net gains (losses) recognized on securities sold 1,213 (2,328) (1,866)

Net unrealized gains (losses) recognized on securities held at reporting date $ 3,635 $ 3,199 $ (11,372)

Net impairment losses recognized in earnings
Impairments on investments were as follows for the years ended December 31:

(in thousands) 2024 2023 2022
Available-for-sale securities:
Intent to sell $ (299) $ (1,759) $ (167)
Credit impaired (484) (670) (500)

Total available-for-sale securities (783) (2,429) (667)
Expected credit losses:
Held-to-maturity securities (2,167) — —
Agent loans (355) 0 0
Other loans receivable (819) (7,337) 0

Net impairment losses recognized in earnings $ (4,124) $ (9,766) $ (667)
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Securities lending transactions
As of December 31, 2024, the estimated fair value of loaned securities, comprised of corporate debt securities, was $7.3 million
and the related cash collateral received was $7.5 million, which was reinvested in cash equivalents and is included with "Cash
and cash equivalents" in our Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. There was no collateral that we are not permitted to
sell or repledge and there are no securities lending transactions that extend beyond one year from the reporting date.

If we have to return cash collateral on short notice, we may have difficulty selling investments in a timely manner, be forced to
sell them for less than we otherwise would have been able to realize, or both. In addition, in the event of such forced sale, for
securities in an unrealized loss position, realized losses would be incurred on securities sold and impairments would be
incurred, if there is a need to sell securities prior to recovery, which may negatively impact our financial condition.

Note 8. Fixed Assets

The following table summarizes our fixed assets by category as of December 31:

(in thousands) 2024 2023
Software $ 351,814 $ 304,452
Land, buildings, and building improvements 233,647 216,578
Equipment 52,122 46,588
Furniture and fixtures 22,944 21,800
Leasehold improvements 1,378 1,378
Construction in progress 46,302 22,683
Projects in progress 81,616 64,585

Total fixed assets, gross 789,823 678,064
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization (276,329) (235,454)

Fixed assets, net $ 513,494 $ 442,610

Construction in progress includes ongoing renovations to an office building that is part of our principal headquarters and not yet
subject to depreciation. The building renovation is expected to be completed in phases, starting in 2025, with full completion
expected in 2027.

Projects in progress include certain computer software and software development costs for internal use that are not yet subject
to amortization.

Depreciation and amortization expense totaled $56.5 million, $47.4 million and $45.9 million for the years ended December 31,
2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and is included in total operating expenses. The Exchange and its insurance subsidiaries
reimbursed us for approximately 28%, 27% and 20% in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, for annual depreciation and
amortization expense on assets supporting administrative services.

Note 9. Bank Line of Credit

We have access to a $100 million bank revolving line of credit with a $25 million letter of credit sublimit that expires on
November 1, 2029. As of December 31, 2024, a total of $99.2 million remains available under the facility due to $0.8 million
outstanding letters of credit, which reduce the availability for letters of credit to $24.2 million. We had no borrowings
outstanding on our line of credit as of December 31, 2024. Investments with a fair value of $118.6 million were pledged as
collateral on the line of credit at December 31, 2024. These investments have no trading restrictions and are reported as
available-for-sale securities and cash and cash equivalents on our Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as of
December 31, 2024. The bank requires compliance with certain covenants, which include leverage ratios and debt restrictions.
We are in compliance with all covenants at December 31, 2024.
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Note 10. Postretirement Benefits

Pension plans
Our pension plans consist of a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all employees and an
unfunded supplemental employee retirement plan ("SERP") for certain members of executive and senior management. The
pension plan provides benefits to covered individuals satisfying certain age and service requirements. The defined benefit
pension plan and SERP each provide benefits through a final average earnings formula.

Although we are the sponsor of these postretirement plans and record the funded status of these plans, there are reimbursements
between us and the Exchange and its insurance subsidiaries for their allocated share of pension income or cost. These
reimbursements represent pension benefits for employees performing administrative services and an allocated share of plan
(income) cost for employees in departments that support the administrative functions. In 2024, we reimbursed the Exchange
and its insurance subsidiaries for approximately 60% of the annual defined benefit pension income, and the Exchange and its
insurance subsidiaries reimbursed us for approximately 34% of the annual SERP cost. For our funded pension plan, amounts
are settled in cash for the portion of pension (income) cost allocated to the Exchange and its insurance subsidiaries. For our
unfunded SERP, we pay the obligations when due and amounts are settled in cash between entities when there is a payout.

Pension plan (income) cost
Pension plan (income) cost includes the following components for the years ended December 31:

(in thousands)
2024 2023 2022

Service cost for benefits earned $ 34,554 $ 28,763 $ 50,242
Interest cost on benefit obligation 52,688 50,193 39,764
Expected return on plan assets (80,793) (68,869) (54,557)
Prior service cost amortization 1,611 1,446 1,443
Net actuarial (gain) loss amortization (6,859) (15,331) 7,320
Settlement gain (1) (1,338) — —

Pension plan (income) cost (2) $ (137) $ (3,798) $ 44,212

(1) Settlement accounting was required due to lump sum payments made under the SERP to former officers in 2024.
(2) Pension plan (income) cost represents total plan (income) cost before reimbursements between Indemnity and the Exchange and its insurance

subsidiaries. The components of pension plan (income) cost other than the service cost components are included in the line item "Other income" in
the Consolidated Statements of Operations, net of reimbursements between Indemnity and the Exchange and its insurance subsidiaries.

Actuarial assumptions
The following table describes the weighted-average assumptions used to measure benefit obligations at December 31:

2024 2023
Employee pension plan:

Discount rate 5.87 % 5.34 %
Expected return on assets 7.00 6.50
Rate of compensation increase – age-graded 5.01 3.25

SERP:
Discount rate 5.65 % 5.11 %
Rate of compensation increase 7.00 5.00
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The following table describes the weighted-average assumptions used to measure net periodic benefit costs for the years ended
December 31:

2024 2023 2022
Employee pension plan:

Discount rate 5.34 % 5.67 % 3.16 %
Expected return on assets 7.00 6.50 5.50
Rate of compensation increase – age-graded 4.31 3.30 3.21

SERP:
Discount rate (1) 5.12 % 5.46 % 3.11 %
Rate of compensation increase 5.00 5.00 5.00

(1) Settlement accounting was required due to lump sum payments made under the SERP in 2024. The discount rates in effect at the January 1, June 1,
and September 1 measurement dates were 5.11%, 5.53%, and 5.12%, respectively.

The economic assumptions that have the most impact on the postretirement benefits expense are the discount rate and the long-
term rate of return on plan assets. The discount rate assumption used to determine the benefit obligation for all periods
presented was based upon a yield curve developed from corporate bond yield information.

The pension plan's expected long-term rate of return represents the average rate of return to be earned on plan assets over the
period the benefits included in the benefit obligation are to be paid. To determine the expected long-term rate of return
assumption, we utilized models based upon historical analysis and forward-looking views of the financial markets based upon
key factors such as historical returns for the asset class' applicable indices, the correlations of the asset classes under various
market conditions and consensus views on future real economic growth and inflation. The expected future return for each asset
class is then combined by considering correlations between asset classes and the volatilities of each asset class to produce a
reasonable range of asset return results within which our expected long-term rate of return assumption falls.

Funding policy/funded status
Our defined benefit pension plan funding policy is generally to contribute an amount equal to the greater of the target normal
cost for the plan year, or the amount necessary to fund the plan to 100%. Accordingly, we made a $95 million contribution
during 2023 and a $33 million contribution during 2024. We also made a contribution of $39 million in January 2025. The
pension asset is presented separately from the unfunded plan as a non-current asset on the Consolidated Statements of Financial
Position. The following table sets forth the funded status of the pension plans and the amounts recognized in the Consolidated
Statements of Financial Position at December 31:

(in thousands)
2024 2023

Funded status at end of year $ (11,718) $ 3,325

Pension asset $ 21,311 $ 34,320
Pension liabilities – due within one year (1) (4,959) (4,735)
Pension liabilities – due after one year (28,070) (26,260)

Net amount recognized $ (11,718) $ 3,325

(1) The current portion of pension liabilities for the unfunded plan is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.
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Benefit obligations
Benefit obligations are described in the following tables. Accumulated and projected benefit obligations represent the
obligations of a pension plan for past service as of the measurement date. The accumulated benefit obligation is the present
value of pension benefits earned as of the measurement date based on employee service and compensation prior to that date. It
differs from the projected benefit obligation in that the accumulated benefit obligation includes no assumptions to reflect
expected future compensation. The following table sets forth a reconciliation of beginning and ending balances of the projected
benefit obligation, as well as the accumulated benefit obligation at December 31:

(in thousands)
2024 2023

Projected benefit obligation, beginning of year $ 993,554 $ 883,814
Service cost for benefits earned 34,554 28,763
Interest cost on benefit obligation 52,688 50,193
Plan amendments 1,146 583
Actuarial (gain) loss (28,250) 65,041
Benefits paid (35,924) (34,840)
Settlements (4,001) —

Projected benefit obligation, end of year $ 1,013,767 $ 993,554

Accumulated benefit obligation, end of year $ 860,855 $ 847,143

The SERP had a projected benefit obligation in excess of plan assets at December 31:

(in thousands)

2024 2023
Projected benefit obligation $ 33,029 $ 30,995
Plan assets — —

The SERP had an accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets at December 31:

(in thousands)

2024 2023
Accumulated benefit obligation $ 22,761 $ 22,698
Plan assets — —

Plan assets
The following table sets forth a reconciliation of beginning and ending balances of the fair value of plan assets at December 31:

(in thousands)
2024 2023

Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year $ 996,879 $ 829,866
Actual return on plan assets 8,034 105,631
Employer contributions 37,061 96,222
Benefits paid (35,924) (34,840)
Settlements (4,001) —

Fair value of plan assets, end of year $ 1,002,049 $ 996,879
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Accumulated other comprehensive loss (income)
Net actuarial loss (gain) and prior service cost included in accumulated other comprehensive loss (income) that were not yet
recognized as components of net benefit costs were as follows at December 31:

(in thousands)
2024 2023

Net actuarial loss (gain) $ 26,752 $ (25,954)
Prior service cost 11,050 11,515

Net amount not yet recognized $ 37,802 $ (14,439)

Other comprehensive loss (income)
Amounts recognized in other comprehensive loss (income) for pension plans were as follows for the years ended December 31:

(in thousands)
2024 2023 2022

Net actuarial loss (gain) arising during the year $ 44,509 $ 28,279 $ (89,768)
Amortization of net actuarial gain (loss) 6,859 15,331 (7,320)
Amortization of prior service cost (1,611) (1,446) (1,443)
Plan amendments (1) 1,146 583 1,620
Settlement gain 1,338 — —

Total recognized in other comprehensive loss (income) $ 52,241 $ 42,747 $ (96,911)

(1) Plan amendments relate to new SERP participants.

Asset allocation
The employee pension plan utilizes a return seeking and a liability asset matching allocation strategy. It is based upon the
understanding that 1) equity investments are expected to outperform debt investments over the long-term, 2) the potential
volatility of short-term returns from equities is acceptable in exchange for the larger expected long-term returns, and 3) a
portfolio structured across investment styles and markets (both domestic and foreign) reduces volatility. As a result, the
employee pension plan's investment portfolio utilizes a broadly diversified asset allocation across domestic and foreign equity
and debt markets. The investment portfolio is composed of commingled pools, an exchange traded fund, and a separate account
that are dedicated exclusively to the management of employee benefit plan assets.

The target and actual asset allocations for the portfolio are as follows for the years ended December 31:

Target asset
allocation (1)

Target asset
allocation

Actual asset
allocation

Actual asset
allocation

Asset allocation: 2024 2023 2024 2023
Equity securities:
U.S. equity securities 21 % 27 % 21 % (2) 26 %
Non-U.S. equity securities 14 18 14 (3) 19
Total equity securities 35 45 35 45

Debt securities 64 54 63 (4) 54
Other 1 1 2 (5) 1
Total 100 % 100 % 100 % 100 %

(1) Changes to the target asset allocation in 2024 were made to reduce investment risk by shifting portfolio assets from equity securities to debt
securities.

(2) U.S. equity securities – 100% seek to achieve excess returns relative to the Russell 3000 Index.
(3) Non-U.S. equity securities – 11% are allocated to international small cap investments, while another 20% are allocated to international emerging

market investments. The remaining 69% of the Non-U.S. equity securities are allocated to investments seeking to achieve excess returns relative to
an international market index.

(4) Debt securities – 59% are allocated to long U.S. Treasury Strips, 41% are allocated to U.S. corporate bonds with an emphasis on long duration
bonds rated A or better.

(5) Institutional money market fund.
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The following tables present fair value measurements for the pension plan assets by major category and level of input as of:

December 31, 2024

(in thousands) Total
Level 1

Fair Value
Level 2

Fair Value
Level 3

Fair Value
Net Asset

Value (NAV) (1)

Equity securities:
U.S. equity securities $ 214,942 $ 204,588 $ 0 $ 0 $ 10,354
Non-U.S. equity securities 142,401 98,115 0 0 44,286

Total equity securities 357,343 302,703 0 0 54,640
Debt securities 628,961 0 0 0 628,961
Other 15,745 15,745 0 0 0
Total $ 1,002,049 $ 318,448 $ 0 $ 0 $ 683,601

(1) The increase in assets carried at NAV at December 31, 2024, compared to 2023, are due to the changes in the target allocation in 2024.

December 31, 2023

(in thousands) Total
Level 1

Fair Value
Level 2

Fair Value
Level 3

Fair Value
Net Asset

Value (NAV)
Equity securities:
U.S. equity securities $ 261,400 $ 244,979 $ 0 $ 0 $ 16,421
Non-U.S. equity securities 183,007 127,143 0 0 55,864

Total equity securities 444,407 372,122 0 0 72,285
Debt securities 540,762 0 0 0 540,762
Other 11,710 11,710 0 0 0
Total $ 996,879 $ 383,832 $ 0 $ 0 $ 613,047

Estimates of fair values of the pension plan assets are obtained primarily from the trustee and custodian of our pension plan.
Our Level 1 category includes a money market mutual fund, an exchange traded fund, and a separate account for which the fair
value is determined using an exchange traded price provided by the trustee and custodian. Commingled pools are valued based
on NAV per share or unit as a practical expedient as reported by the fund manager, multiplied by the number of shares or units
held as of the measurement date. Accordingly, these NAV-based investments have been excluded from the fair value hierarchy.
These investments have minimal redemption notice periods and are redeemable daily at the NAV, less transaction fees, without
significant restrictions. There are no significant unfunded commitments related to these investments.

Estimated future benefit payments
The following table sets forth amounts of benefits expected to be paid over the next 10 years from our pension plans as of:

(in thousands)

Year ending
December 31,

Expected future
benefit payments

2025 $ 43,777
2026 43,639
2027 46,965
2028 50,853
2029 54,430

2030 - 2034 324,250
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Employee savings plan
All full-time and regular part-time employees are eligible to participate in a qualified 401(k) savings plan. We match 100% of
the participant contributions up to 3% of compensation and 50% of participant contributions over 3% and up to 5% of
compensation. Matching contributions paid to the plan were $21.0 million in 2024, $18.4 million in 2023, and $16.7 million in
2022. The Exchange and its insurance subsidiaries reimbursed us for approximately 61% of the matching contributions.
Employees are permitted to invest the employer-matching contributions in our Class A common stock. Employees, other than
executive and senior officers, may sell the shares at any time without restriction, provided they are in compliance with
applicable insider trading laws; sales by executive and senior officers are subject to additional pre-clearance restrictions
imposed by our insider trading policies. The plan acquires shares in the open market necessary to meet the obligations of the
plan. Plan participants held 0.1 million shares of our Class A common stock at December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Note 11. Incentive and Deferred Compensation Plans

We have two incentive plans and two deferred compensation plans for our executives, senior vice presidents and other selected
officers, and two deferred compensation plans for our outside directors. Executives, senior vice presidents and other selected
officers and key employees are also eligible to receive awards under an equity compensation plan, subject to the discretion of
the Executive Compensation and Development Committee of our Board of Directors ("ECDC") or the chief executive officer.

Annual incentive plan
Our annual incentive plan ("AIP") is a bonus plan that pays cash to our executives, senior vice presidents and other selected
officers annually. Participants can elect to defer up to 100% of the award under either the deferred compensation plan or the
incentive compensation deferral plan. If the funding qualifier is met, plan participants are eligible to receive the award based
upon attainment of corporate and individual performance measures, which can include various financial measures. The
measures are established at the beginning of each year by the ECDC, with ultimate approval by the full Board of Directors. The
corporate performance measures included the reported growth in direct written premium and policies in force, and statutory
combined ratio of the Exchange and its property and casualty subsidiaries for all periods presented.

Long-term incentive plan
Our long-term incentive plan ("LTIP") is an incentive plan designed to reward executives, senior vice presidents and other
selected officers who can have a significant impact on our long-term performance, and to further align the interests of such
employees with those of our shareholders.

The LTIP permits grants of performance shares or units, or phantom performance shares, based on the level of achievement of
performance goals as defined by us. Performance measures and a peer group of property and casualty companies to be used for
comparison are determined by the ECDC. The performance measures for all periods presented were the reported growth in
direct written premium and statutory combined ratio of the Exchange and its property and casualty subsidiaries and return on
invested assets over a three-year performance period as compared to the results of the peer group over the same period.
Because the performance component of the award is based upon a comparison to results of a peer group over a three-year
period, the award accrual is based upon estimates of probable results for the remaining performance period. This estimate is
subject to variability if our results or the results of the peer group are substantially different than the results we project.
Effective April 23, 2024, for performance periods beginning in or after 2024, the plan was amended to also provide for grants
of time-vesting restricted shares or units, or phantom shares, including payment of dividends or dividend equivalent credits on
the time-vesting awards, based on continued employment for a specified restricted period. The type of award and form of
payment, either in shares of our Class A common stock or cash, are determined by the ECDC at the beginning of each
performance period, which is generally a three-year period. The ECDC determined for the 2024-2026 performance period that
75% of the award will be granted in phantom performance shares and 25% will be granted in time-vesting phantom shares, and
the plan awards for the 2023-2025 and 2024-2026 performance periods will be paid in cash.

Participants can elect to defer up to 100% of the award under the incentive compensation deferral plan. The number of shares
of our common stock authorized for grant under the LTIP is 1.5 million shares. We repurchase our Class A common stock on
the open market to settle stock awards under the plan. We do not issue new shares of common stock to settle stock awards.
LTIP awards are considered vested at the end of each applicable performance period. The fair value of LTIP awards is
measured at each reporting date at the current share price of our Class A common stock. A liability is recorded and
compensation expense is recognized ratably over the performance period.

66



At December 31, 2024, the plan awards for the 2022-2024 performance period, which will be granted as a cash award, were
fully vested. Distributions will be made in 2025 once peer group financial information becomes available. The total estimated
plan award based upon the peer group information as of September 30, 2024 is $5.5 million. At December 31, 2023, the fully
vested plan awards for the 2021-2023 performance period totaled $0.2 million and were awarded to participants in June 2024.
At December 31, 2022, the fully vested plan awards for the 2020-2022 performance period totaled $3.8 million and were
awarded to participants in June 2023. At December 31, 2021, the fully vested plan awards for the 2019-2021 performance
period totaled $3.8 million and were awarded to participants in June 2022.

The Exchange and its insurance subsidiaries reimburse us for compensation costs of employees performing administrative
services. Earned compensation costs are allocated to these entities and reimbursed to us in cash once the payout is made. The
total compensation cost charged to operations related to these LTIP awards, net of forfeitures, was $1.5 million in 2024, $7.3
million in 2023, and $3.4 million in 2022. The related tax benefits recognized in income were $0.3 million in 2024, $1.5
million in 2023, and $0.7 million in 2022. In 2024, the Exchange and its insurance subsidiaries reimbursed us for
approximately 39% of the awards paid under these plans. At December 31, 2024, there was $9.4 million of total unrecognized
compensation cost for non-vested LTIP awards related to open performance periods. Unrecognized compensation is expected
to be recognized over a period of two years.

Deferred compensation plan
Our deferred compensation plan allows executives, senior vice presidents and other selected officers to elect to defer receipt of
a portion of their compensation and AIP cash awards until a later date. Employer 401(k) matching contributions that are in
excess of the annual contribution or compensation limits are also credited to the participant accounts for those who elected to
defer receipt of some portion of their base salary. Participants select hypothetical investment funds for their deferrals, which
are credited with the hypothetical returns generated.

Incentive compensation deferral plan
We have an unfunded, non-qualified incentive compensation deferral plan for participants of the AIP and LTIP. Deferred
awards will be credited to a deferred stock account as credits denominated in shares of our Class A common stock until
retirement or other separation from service. Participants are 100% vested at date of deferral. The shares are then held in a rabbi
trust, which was established to hold the shares earned under both the incentive compensation deferral plan and the deferred
stock compensation plan for outside directors. The rabbi trust is classified and accounted for as equity in a manner consistent
with the accounting for treasury stock. Dividends received on the shares in the rabbi trust are used to purchase additional
shares. Vested share credits will be paid to participants from the rabbi trust upon separation from service in approximate equal
annual installments of Class A shares for a period of three years. In 2024, the rabbi trust was not required to purchase shares of
our common stock in the open market to satisfy the liability for the 2023 AIP and 2021-2023 LTIP performance period awards
deferred under the incentive compensation deferral plan, and dividend equivalent credits on rabbi trust shares. In 2023, the
rabbi trust purchased 1,608 shares of our common stock in the open market at an average price of $230.71 for $0.4 million to
satisfy the liability for the 2022 AIP and 2020-2022 LTIP performance period awards deferred under the incentive
compensation deferral plan, and dividend equivalent credits on rabbi trust shares. In 2022, the rabbi trust purchased 7,046
shares of our common stock in the open market at an average price of $176.44 for $1.2 million to satisfy the liability for the
2021 AIP and 2019-2021 LTIP performance period awards deferred under the incentive compensation deferral plan, and
dividend equivalent credits on rabbi trust shares.

Deferred compensation plans for outside directors
We have a deferred compensation plan for our outside directors that allows participants to defer receipt of a portion of their
annual compensation until a later date. Participants select hypothetical investment funds for their deferrals, which are credited
with the hypothetical returns generated.

We also have a deferred stock compensation plan for our outside directors to further align the interests of directors with those of
our shareholders that provides for payment of a portion of the directors' annual compensation in shares of our Class A common
stock. Each director vests in the grant 25% every three months over the course of a year. Dividends paid by us are credited to
each director's account and vest immediately. We do not issue new shares of common stock to directors. We repurchase shares
of our Class A common stock in the open market to satisfy these awards, which are then held in the rabbi trust. The plan
includes a maximum of 250,000 shares that may be issued under the plan and no shares may be credited later than ten years
from the date our shareholders last approved the plan.

The rabbi trust purchased 4,044 shares of our common stock on the open market at an average price of $405.60 for $1.6 million
in 2024, 5,894 shares at an average price of $238.73 for $1.4 million in 2023 and 6,048 shares at an average price of $201.93
for $1.2 million in 2022 to satisfy the liability of the stock compensation plan for outside directors, and dividend equivalent
credits on rabbi trust shares. The shares are distributed to the outside director from the rabbi trust upon ending board service.
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Director compensation charged to operations related to these awards totaled $1.1 million in 2024, $0.9 million in 2023 and $0.8
million 2022.

The following table sets forth a reconciliation of beginning and ending balances of our deferred executive compensation
liability as of December 31:

(in thousands)
2024 2023 2022

Deferred executive compensation, beginning of the year $ 31,918 $ 25,760 $ 27,208
Annual incentive plan awards 8,574 7,401 6,305
Long-term incentive plan awards 1,786 7,332 3,417
Employer match and hypothetical earnings on deferred compensation 4,680 2,828 404
Total plan awards and earnings 15,040 17,561 10,126
Total plan awards paid (8,105) (10,211) (10,413)

Compensation deferred 1,701 1,809 2,528
Distributions from the deferred compensation plans (2,372) (313) (742)
Forfeitures (1) (244) — —
Funding of rabbi trust for deferred stock compensation plan for outside directors (1,640) (1,407) (1,221)
Funding of rabbi trust for incentive compensation deferral plan (2) (1,703) (1,281) (1,726)

Deferred executive compensation, end of the year $ 34,595 $ 31,918 $ 25,760

(1) Forfeitures are the result of plan participants who separated from service and are recognized in the year they occur.
(2) In 2024, 2023 and 2022, funding includes $1.7 million, $0.9 million and $0.5 million, respectively, representing shares held back to satisfy tax

withholding on rabbi trust distributions that reduce funding requirements for performance award deferrals

Equity compensation plan
Our equity compensation plan ("ECP") is designed to reward executives, senior vice presidents and other selected officers and
key employees who can have a significant impact on our long-term performance, and to further align the interests of such
employees with those of our shareholders. The ECP permits grants of restricted shares, restricted share units and other share
based awards, to be satisfied with shares of our Class A common stock or cash. The ECDC determines the form of the award to
be granted at the beginning of each performance period. Effective April 23, 2024, the number of shares of our Class A
common stock authorized for grant under the ECP increased from 100,000 shares to 250,000 shares, with no one person able to
receive more than 10,000 shares in a calendar year. We do not issue new shares of common stock to satisfy plan awards. Share
awards are settled through the repurchase of our Class A common stock on the open market. Restricted share awards may be
entitled to receive dividends payable during the performance period, or, if subject to performance goals, to receive dividend
equivalents payable upon vesting. Dividend equivalents may provide for the crediting of interest or hypothetical investment
experience, payable after expiration of the performance period. Vesting conditions are determined at the time the award is
granted and may include continuation of employment for a specific period, satisfaction of performance goals within a defined
performance period, and the satisfaction of any other terms and conditions as determined to be appropriate.

In 2024, we satisfied the plan liability in cash totaling $3.2 million. In 2023, we purchased 1,610 Class A shares with an
average share price of $252.32 and a market value of $0.4 million to satisfy the plan liability. In 2022, we purchased 1,786
shares with an average share price of $190.68 and a market value of $0.3 million to satisfy the plan liability. The total
compensation charged to operations related to ECP awards was $6.9 million in 2024, $4.0 million in 2023, and $0.8 million in
2022. The increases in 2024 and 2023 compared to the respective prior periods resulted from increases in plan participants and
our stock price. The Exchange and its insurance subsidiaries reimburse us for earned compensation costs of employees
performing administrative services, which can fluctuate each year based on the plan participants. The Exchange and its
insurance subsidiaries reimbursed us for approximately 35%, 35%, and 3% of the awards paid in 2024, 2023, and 2022
respectively. Unearned compensation expense of $2.6 million is expected to be recognized over a period of two years.
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Note 12. Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes consists of the following for the years ended December 31:

(in thousands)
2024 2023 2022

Current income tax expense $ 152,939 $ 116,877 $ 68,415
Deferred income tax expense (benefit) 4,026 (1,002) 9,468

Income tax expense $ 156,965 $ 115,875 $ 77,883

A reconciliation of the provision for income taxes, with amounts determined by applying the statutory federal income tax rate to
pre-tax income, is as follows for the years ended December 31:

(in thousands)
2024 2023 2022

Income tax at statutory rate $ 159,029 $ 118,007 $ 79,055
Other, net (2,064) (2,132) (1,172)

Income tax expense $ 156,965 $ 115,875 $ 77,883

Temporary differences and carry-forwards, which give rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities, are as follows as of
December 31:

(in thousands)
2024 2023

Deferred tax assets:
Other employee benefits $ 18,409 $ 17,781
Allowance for management fee returned on cancelled policies 4,647 3,571
Deferred revenue 4,181 3,756
Unrealized losses on investments 3,827 7,164
Current expected credit loss allowance 2,966 2,661
Other 4,617 3,709

Total deferred tax assets 38,647 38,642
Deferred tax liabilities:

Depreciation 27,089 31,126
Pension and other postretirement benefits 12,276 14,738
Prepaid expenses 2,013 2,001
Other 3,687 2,258

Total deferred tax liabilities 45,065 50,123
Net deferred tax liability $ (6,418) $ (11,481)

If we determine that any of our deferred tax assets will not result in future tax benefits, a valuation allowance must be
established for the portion of the assets that are not expected to be realized. We had no valuation allowance recorded at
December 31, 2024 or 2023.

We do not have any unrecognized tax benefit that, if recognized, would affect our effective tax rate as of December 31, 2024
and 2023. Any interest expense related to uncertain tax positions would be recognized in income tax expense.

Tax years ending December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 remain open to IRS examination. We are not currently under IRS audit,
nor have we been notified of an upcoming IRS audit.

We are the attorney-in-fact for the subscribers (policyholders) at the Exchange, a reciprocal insurance exchange. In that
capacity, we provide all services and facilities necessary to conduct the Exchange's insurance business. Indemnity and the
Exchange together constitute a single insurance business. Consequently, we are not subject to state corporate income or
franchise taxes in states where the Exchange conducts its business and the states collect premium tax in lieu of corporate
income or franchise tax, as a result of the Exchange's remittance of premium taxes in those states.
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Note 13. Capital Stock

Class A and B common stock
We have two classes of common stock: Class A, which has a dividend preference, and Class B, which has voting power and a
conversion right. Each share of Class A common stock outstanding at the time of the declaration of any dividend upon shares
of Class B common stock shall be entitled to a dividend payable at the same time, at the same record date, and in an amount at
least equal to 2/3 of 1.0% of any dividend declared on each share of Class B common stock. We may declare and pay a
dividend in respect to Class A common stock without any requirement that any dividend be declared and paid in respect to
Class B common stock. Sole shareholder voting power is vested in Class B common stock except insofar as any applicable law
shall permit Class A common shareholders to vote as a class in regards to any changes in the rights, preferences, and privileges
attaching to Class A common stock. Holders of Class B shares may, at their option, convert their shares into Class A shares at
the rate of 2,400 Class A shares per Class B share. There were no shares of Class B common stock converted into Class A
common stock in 2024, 2023 or 2022.

Stock repurchases
Our Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program effective January 1, 1999 allowing the repurchase of our
outstanding Class A nonvoting common stock. In 2011, our Board of Directors approved a continuation of the current stock
repurchase program for a total of $150 million, with no time limitation. Treasury shares are recorded in the Consolidated
Statements of Financial Position at total cost based upon trade date. There were no shares repurchased under this program
during 2024, 2023 or 2022. We had approximately $17.8 million of repurchase authority remaining under this program at
December 31, 2024, based upon trade date.

We made stock repurchases in 2024, 2023, and 2022 outside of our publicly announced share repurchase program related to
stock-based awards. See Note 11, "Incentive and Deferred Compensation Plans" for additional information.
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Note 14. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Changes in accumulated other comprehensive income ("AOCI") (loss) by component, including amounts reclassified to other
comprehensive income ("OCI") (loss) and the related line item in the Consolidated Statements of Operations where net income
is presented, are as follows for the year ended December 31:

(in thousands) 2024 2023 2022

Before Tax
Income

Tax Net Before Tax
Income

Tax Net Before Tax
Income

Tax Net
Investment securities:
AOCI (loss), beginning of
year $ (31,402) $ (6,595) $ (24,807) $ (66,571) $ (13,980) $ (52,591) $ 7,722 $ 1,621 $ 6,101

OCI (loss) before
reclassifications 6,557 1,377 5,180 26,021 5,464 20,557 (89,010) (18,692) (70,318)
Realized investment losses 1,620 340 1,280 6,719 1,411 5,308 14,050 2,951 11,099
Impairment losses 783 164 619 2,429 510 1,919 667 140 527

OCI (loss) 8,960 1,881 7,079 35,169 7,385 27,784 (74,293) (15,601) (58,692)
AOCI (loss), end of year $ (22,442) $ (4,714) $ (17,728) $ (31,402) $ (6,595) $ (24,807) $ (66,571) $ (13,980) $ (52,591)

Pension and other postretirement plans:
AOCI (loss), beginning of
year $ 14,439 $ 3,032 $ 11,407 $ 57,186 $ 12,009 $ 45,177 $ (39,734) $ (8,345) $ (31,389)

OCI (loss) before
reclassifications (45,655) (9,588) (36,067) (28,862) (6,061) (22,801) 88,148 18,511 69,637
Amortization of prior
service costs (1) 1,611 338 1,273 1,446 304 1,142 1,443 303 1,140
Amortization of net
actuarial (gain) loss (1) (6,859) (1,440) (5,419) (15,331) (3,220) (12,111) 7,329 1,540 5,789
Settlement gain (1) (1,338) (281) (1,057) — — — — — —

OCI (loss) (52,241) (10,971) (41,270) (42,747) (8,977) (33,770) 96,920 20,354 76,566
AOCI (loss), end of year $ (37,802) $ (7,939) $ (29,863) $ 14,439 $ 3,032 $ 11,407 $ 57,186 $ 12,009 $ 45,177

Total
AOCI (loss), beginning of
year $ (16,963) $ (3,563) $ (13,400) $ (9,385) $ (1,971) $ (7,414) $ (32,012) $ (6,724) $ (25,288)

Investment securities 8,960 1,881 7,079 35,169 7,385 27,784 (74,293) (15,601) (58,692)
Pension and other
postretirement plans (52,241) (10,971) (41,270) (42,747) (8,977) (33,770) 96,920 20,354 76,566

OCI (loss) (43,281) (9,090) (34,191) (7,578) (1,592) (5,986) 22,627 4,753 17,874
AOCI (loss), end of year $ (60,244) $ (12,653) $ (47,591) $ (16,963) $ (3,563) $ (13,400) $ (9,385) $ (1,971) $ (7,414)

(1) These components of AOCI (loss) are included in the computation of net periodic pension (income) cost. See Note 10, "Postretirement Benefits", for
additional information.
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Note 15. Related Party

Management fee
A management fee is retained for services we provide under the subscriber's agreement with subscribers at the Exchange. The
fee is a percentage of direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange. This percentage rate is determined at
least annually by our Board of Directors but cannot exceed 25%. The management fee rate charged the Exchange was 25% in
2024, 2023 and 2022. The Board of Directors elected to maintain the fee at 25% beginning January 1, 2025.

There is no provision in the subscriber's agreement for termination of our appointment as attorney-in-fact by the subscribers at
the Exchange and the appointment is not affected by a policyholder's disability or incapacity.

Insurance holding company system
Most states have enacted legislation that regulates insurance holding company systems, defined as two or more affiliated
persons, one or more of which is an insurer. The Exchange has the following wholly owned property and casualty insurance
subsidiaries: Erie Insurance Company, Erie Insurance Company of New York, Erie Insurance Property & Casualty Company
and Flagship City Insurance Company, and a wholly owned life insurance company, Erie Family Life Insurance Company.
Indemnity and the Exchange, and its wholly owned subsidiaries, meet the definition of an insurance holding company system.

Transactions within a holding company system affecting the member insurers of the holding company system must be fair and
reasonable and any charges or fees for services performed must be reasonable. Approval by the applicable insurance
commissioner is required prior to the consummation of certain transactions affecting the members within a holding company
system.

Shared facilities
The Exchange and its insurance subsidiaries have a service agreement with Indemnity to use space in Indemnity-owned
properties. The amount charged is based on rental rates of like property in Erie, Pennsylvania and the square footage occupied.
Income earned from the Exchange and its insurance subsidiaries for the use of space totaled $2.9 million, $2.6 million and
$2.2 million in 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively. Operating expenses for Indemnity-owned properties under this service
agreement include utilities, cleaning, repairs, real estate taxes, property insurance, and leasehold improvements. These
expenses totaled $21.9 million, $20.0 million, and $19.5 million in 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively. The Exchange and its
insurance subsidiaries reimbursed us for operating expenses of shared facilities used to perform administrative services, which
are allocated based upon square footage occupied. Reimbursements related to the use of this space totaled $5.9 million,
$5.2 million, and $4.1 million in 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively.

Other loans receivable
In 2023, we issued two senior secured loans totaling $13.6 million to fund a real estate development project supporting
revitalization efforts in our community. Ownership in the project consists of related party investors, including affiliate entities
and two Indemnity directors, as well as other unrelated investors. The loans, net of current expected credit loss allowances
totaling $8.0 million and $7.3 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, are reported in "Other assets, net" in our
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position, with changes in credit loss allowances reported in "Net impairment losses
recognized in earnings" in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The first loan issued for $4.6 million accrues paid-in-kind interest at a fixed rate of 5% and matures December 15, 2027, with
both principal and accrued interest due at maturity. The second loan issued for $9.0 million accrues paid-in-kind interest at a
fixed rate of 5% and matures December 15, 2033, with both principal and accrued interest due at maturity.
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Note 16. Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments could potentially expose us to concentrations of credit risk, including our unsecured receivables from the
Exchange. The majority of our revenue and receivables are from the Exchange and its affiliates. See also Note 1, "Nature of
Operations". Net management fee amounts and other reimbursements due from the Exchange and its affiliates were $707.1
million and $625.3 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, which includes a current expected credit loss
allowance of $0.7 million and $0.6 million in 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Note 17. Commitments and Contingencies

We have an agreement with a bank for an agent loan participation program. The maximum amount of loans to be funded
through this program is $150 million. We have committed to fund a minimum of 30% of each loan executed through this
program. As of December 31, 2024, outstanding loans executed under this agreement totaled $110.3 million, of which our
portion of the loans is $41.5 million. Additionally, we have agreed to guarantee a portion of the funding provided by the other
participants in the program in the event of default. As of December 31, 2024, our maximum potential amount of future
payments on the guaranteed portion is $13.2 million. All loan payments under the participation program are current as of
December 31, 2024.

We also have contingent obligations for guarantees related to certain real estate development projects supporting revitalization
efforts in our community. As of December 31, 2024, our maximum potential obligation related to the guarantees is
$10.5 million.

We are involved in litigation arising in the ordinary course of conducting business. In accordance with current accounting
standards for loss contingencies and based upon information currently known to us, we establish reserves for litigation when it
is probable that a loss associated with a claim or proceeding has been incurred and the amount of the loss or range of loss can
be reasonably estimated. When no amount within the range of loss is a better estimate than any other amount, we accrue the
minimum amount of the estimable loss. To the extent that such litigation against us may have an exposure to a loss in excess of
the amount we have accrued, we believe that such excess would not be material to our consolidated financial condition, results
of operations, or cash flows. Legal fees are expensed as incurred. We believe that our accruals for legal proceedings are
appropriate and, individually and in the aggregate, are not expected to be material to our consolidated financial condition,
results of operations, or cash flows.

We review all litigation on an ongoing basis when making accrual and disclosure decisions. For certain legal proceedings, we
cannot reasonably estimate losses or a range of loss, if any, particularly for proceedings that are in their early stages of
development or where the plaintiffs seek indeterminate damages. Various factors, including, but not limited to, the outcome of
potentially lengthy discovery and the resolution of important factual questions, may need to be determined before probability
can be established or before a loss or range of loss can be reasonably estimated. If the loss contingency in question is not both
probable and reasonably estimable, we do not establish an accrual and the matter will continue to be monitored for any
developments that would make the loss contingency both probable and reasonably estimable. In the event that a legal
proceeding results in a substantial judgment against, or settlement by, us, there can be no assurance that any resulting liability or
financial commitment would not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations, or
cash flows.
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Note 18. Supplementary Data on Cash Flows

A reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating activities as presented in the Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows is as follows for the years ended December 31:
(in thousands) 2024 2023 2022

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 600,314 $ 446,061 $298,569
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 56,530 47,415 46,166
Deferred income tax expense (benefit) 4,026 (1,002) 9,468
Lease amortization expense 7,377 6,177 5,554
Losses (gains) and impairment losses on investments 895 15,604 27,953
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 3,874 1,607 172
Net investment (income) loss (874) 13,772 12,916

Increase (decrease) in deferred compensation 2,677 6,143 (1,463)
Increase in receivables from affiliates (81,722) (100,401) (45,814)
Increase in accrued investment income (1,611) (1,157) (1,998)
Increase in pension asset (34,516) (101,250) —
Increase in pension liability — — 15,647
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets (2,996) 7,729 (25,843)
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses (7,517) 7,237 18,993
Increase in commissions payable 54,600 53,681 29,282
Increase (decrease) in accrued agent incentive compensation 7,381 (27,089) (25,271)
Increase in contract liability 2,811 6,678 1,821

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 611,249 $ 381,205 $366,152

Note 19. Subsequent Events

No items were identified in this period subsequent to the financial statement date that required adjustment or additional
disclosure, other than the disclosure made in Note 10, "Postretirement Benefits" regarding the January 2025 pension
contribution.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time
periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and
communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow for
timely decisions regarding required disclosures.

As required by the Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 13a-15(e), we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision
and with the participation of management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the
effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2024. Based upon the
foregoing, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were
effective.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There has been no change in our internal controls over financial reporting during our most recent fiscal quarter that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect our internal controls over financial reporting. Our process for
evaluating controls and procedures is continuous and encompasses constant improvement of the design and effectiveness of
established controls and procedures.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting of Erie Indemnity
Company, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Under the supervision and with the participation of our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the
effectiveness of the Erie Indemnity Company's internal control over financial reporting based upon the framework in the
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued in 2013 by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. Based upon our evaluation under the framework in the Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued in 2013,
management has concluded that Erie Indemnity Company's internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2024.

/s/ Timothy G. NeCastro /s/ Julie M. Pelkowski /s/ Jorie L. Novacek
Timothy G. NeCastro Julie M. Pelkowski Jorie L. Novacek
President and Executive Vice President Senior Vice President
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer and Controller
February 27, 2025 February 27, 2025 February 27, 2025

Our independent auditor, Ernst & Young LLP, a registered public accounting firm, has issued an attestation report on our
internal control over financial reporting. This report appears on the following page.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

There was no additional information in the fourth quarter of 2024 that has not already been filed in a Form 8-K.

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

Not applicable.

75



Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Erie Indemnity Company

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Erie Indemnity Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, Erie Indemnity Company (the Company) maintained, in all
material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the consolidated statements of financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes and our report dated February 27, 2025 expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report
on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Indianapolis, Indiana
February 27, 2025

76



PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information with respect to our outside directors, audit committee and audit committee financial experts,
Section 16(a) beneficial ownership reporting compliance, and insider trading policy is incorporated herein by reference to the
information statement on Schedule 14C to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission no later than 120 days after
December 31, 2024.

We have adopted a Code of Conduct that applies to all of our outside directors, officers and employees. We have previously
filed a copy of the Code of Conduct as Exhibit 14.1 to the Registrant's Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on October 26, 2023. In addition to this, we have adopted a Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers that also
applies to our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Accounting Officer and any other person performing
similar functions. We have previously filed a copy of the Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers as Exhibit 14.4 to the
Registrant's Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 1, 2016. Our Code of Conduct and Code of
Ethics for Senior Financial Officers are also available on our website at www.erieinsurance.com.

Executive Officers of the Registrant

Name
Age as of

12/31/2024 Principal Occupation and Positions for Past Five Years

President & Chief Executive Officer:
Timothy G. NeCastro 64 President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company since August

2016; Director, Erie Family Life Insurance Company ("EFL"), Erie
Insurance Company ("EIC"), Flagship City Insurance Company
("Flagship"), Erie Insurance Company of New York ("ENY") and
Erie Insurance Property & Casualty Company ("EPC").

Executive Vice Presidents:
Brian W. Bolash 59 Executive Vice President, Secretary and General Counsel since

January 2022; Senior Vice President, Secretary and General Counsel,
October 2018 through December 2021; Director, EFL, EIC,
Flagship, ENY and EPC.

Sean D. Dugan 56 Executive Vice President, Human Resources and Corporate Services
since January 2023; Senior Vice President, Human Resources,
March 2020 through December 2022; Corporate Human Resources
Officer, October 2018 through March 2020; Director, EFL, EIC,
Flagship, ENY and EPC.

Julie M. Pelkowski 55 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since May
2023; Senior Vice President, Enterprise Office, March 2022 through
April 2023; Senior Vice President and Controller, August 2016
through February 2022; Director, EFL, EIC, Flagship, ENY and
EPC.

Douglas E. Smith 50 Executive Vice President, Sales & Products since November 2016.

Parthasarathy Srinivasa 53 Executive Vice President and Chief Information Officer since
joining the Company in April 2022. Prior to joining the Company:
Senior Vice President and Chief Data and Insurance Information
Officer Verisk Analytics, 2019 through April 2022; Chief
Information and Operations Officer Safe Auto Insurance (now
Allstate Corporation), 2016 through 2019.

Appointed Executive Officers: (1)

Cody W. Cook 43 Senior Vice President, Claims since October 2020; Senior Vice
President, Personal Products, April 2017 through October 2020.

Sarah J. Shine 46 Senior Vice President, Experience & Customer Service since May
2024; Senior Vice President, Commercial Products, August 2017
through April 2024.

(1) As of December 31, 2024, the Company announced appointments of Mr. Cook and Ms. Shine for Executive Vice President roles, but the appointments
were not yet effective. Effective January 1, 2025, Mr. Cook became Executive Vice President, Claims and Ms. Shine became Executive Vice President,
Experience & Customer Service.
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item with respect to executive compensation is incorporated by reference to the information
statement on Schedule 14C to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission no later than 120 days after December 31,
2024.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information with respect to security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management and securities authorized for
issuance under equity compensation plans, is incorporated by reference to the information statement on Schedule 14C to be
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission no later than 120 days after December 31, 2024.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information with respect to certain relationships with our outside directors is incorporated by reference to the information
statement on Schedule 14C to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission no later than 120 days after December 31,
2024.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information statement on Schedule 14C to be filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission no later than 120 days after December 31, 2024.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this report:

1. Financial Statements
Included in Part II, Item 8. "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" contained in this report.

Erie Indemnity Company:
• Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on the Effectiveness of Internal Control over

Financial Reporting

• Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on the Financial Statements

• Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022

• Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the three years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and
2022

• Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as of December 31, 2024 and 2023

• Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity for the three years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and
2022

• Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the three years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022

• Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Financial Statement Schedules
All schedules are not required, not applicable, or the information is included in the consolidated financial statements or
notes thereto.

Page
3. Exhibit Index 80

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

February 27, 2025 ERIE INDEMNITY COMPANY
(Registrant)

By: /s/ Timothy G. NeCastro
Timothy G. NeCastro, President and CEO

(Principal Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the date indicated.

February 27, 2025 /s/ Timothy G. NeCastro
Timothy G. NeCastro, President and CEO

(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Julie M. Pelkowski
Julie M. Pelkowski, Executive Vice President and CFO

(Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ Jorie L. Novacek
Jorie L. Novacek, Senior Vice President and Controller

(Principal Accounting Officer)

Board of Directors:

/s/ J. Ralph Borneman, Jr.
J. Ralph Borneman, Jr. C. Scott Hartz

/s/ Eugene C. Connell /s/ Brian A. Hudson, Sr.
Eugene C. Connell Brian A. Hudson, Sr.

/s/ Salvatore Correnti /s/ George R. Lucore
Salvatore Correnti George R. Lucore

/s/ LuAnn Datesh /s/ Thomas W. Palmer
LuAnn Datesh Thomas W. Palmer

/s/ Jonathan Hirt Hagen
Jonathan Hirt Hagen Elizabeth Hirt Vorsheck

Thomas B. Hagen, Chairman
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“ IN THIS CHANGING WORLD, 
THE AGE OF AN INSTITUTION 
IS SOMETHING TO BOAST OF.  
GREAT AGE IS IN ITSELF 
EVIDENCE OF CERTAIN VIRTUES. 
FOR AN INSTITUTION TO LIVE LONG 
IT MUST OF NECESSITY 
SERVE SOME USEFUL PURPOSE.”

 WRITTEN BY H.O. HIRT ON APRIL 20, 1930,  
THE COMPANY’S FIFTH ANNIVERSARY.
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